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As of November 27, 2013, 4,861,590 shares of the registrant’s common stock were outstanding.
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Forward-Looking Information

 
This report may contain forward-looking statements.  Such statements can be identified by the use of terminology such as “anticipate,”
“believe,” “could,” “estimate,” “expect,” “forecast,” “intend,” “may,” “plan,” “possible,” “project,” “should,” “will” and similar words or
expressions. These forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, statements regarding our anticipated revenue, expenses,
profits and capital needs.   Forward-looking statements are based on our current expectations, estimates and forecasts of future events and
results and involve a number of risks and uncertainties that could cause actual results to differ materially including, among other things, the
following: failure of facts to conform to management estimates and assumptions; economic conditions, including the recent recession and
economic uncertainties; our ability to maintain an effective system of internal controls over financial reporting; potential losses from trading in
securities; our ability to retain key personnel and relationships with suppliers; the willingness of Community Bank or other lenders to extend
financing commitments and the availability of capital resources; and other risks identified from time to time in our reports and other
documents filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”), and in public announcements.   It is not possible to foresee or
identify all factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those anticipated.   As such, investors should not consider any of
such factors to be an exhaustive statement of all risks or uncertainties.
 
No forward-looking statements can be guaranteed and actual results may vary materially.  We undertake no obligation to update any forward-
looking statement except as required by law, but investors are advised to consult any further disclosures by us in our filings with the SEC,
especially on Forms 10-K, 10-Q and 8-K, in which we discuss in more detail various important factors that could cause actual results to differ
from expected or historical results.
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PART I

 
Item 1.  Business
 
EACO Corporation (“EACO”) is a holding company, the primary asset of which is its wholly-owned subsidiary, Bisco
Industries, Inc. (“Bisco”).  Bisco is a distributor of electronic components and fasteners with 45 sales offices and six
distribution centers located throughout the United States and Canada. Bisco supplies parts used in the manufacture
of products in a broad range of industries, including the aerospace, circuit board, communication, computer,
fabrication, instrumentation, industrial equipment and marine industries.
 
Organization and Merger with Bisco Industries, Inc.
 
From its inception through June 2005, EACO operated restaurants in the State of Florida.  On June 29, 2005, EACO sold
all of its operating restaurants.  From June 2005 until the acquisition of Bisco, EACO’s operations principally consisted
of managing five real estate properties held for leasing located in Florida and California.   On March 24, 2010, EACO
completed the acquisition of Bisco, a company under the common control of Glen Ceiley, EACO’s Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer and majority shareholder.
 
EACO was incorporated in Florida in September 1985.   Bisco commenced operations in Illinois in 1973 and was
incorporated in 1974. Bisco’s principal executive offices are located at 1500 N. Lakeview Avenue, Anaheim, California
92807, which also serves as the principal executive offices of EACO.   EACO’s website address is
www.eacocorp.com and Bisco’s website address is www.biscoind.com. The inclusion of these website addresses in
this annual report does not include or incorporate by reference into this annual report any information on or
accessible through the websites.
 
EACO, Bisco and Bisco’s wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, Bisco Industries Limited, are collectively referred to
herein as the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our.”
 
Operations
 
Products and Services
 
Bisco currently stocks over 87,000 items from more than 260 manufacturers, and is an authorized distributor for
over 120 of these manufacturers.   Bisco’s products include electronic components such as spacers and standoffs,
card guides and ejectors, component holders and fuses, circuit board connectors, and cable components, as well as
a large variety of fasteners and hardware. The breadth of Bisco’s products and extensive inventory provide a one-
stop shopping experience for many customers.
 
Bisco also provides customized services and solutions for a wide range of production needs, including special
packaging, bin stocking, kitting and assembly, bar coding, electronic requisitioning, and integrated supply programs,
among others. Bisco works with its customers to design and develop systems to meet their specific needs.
 
Divisions
 

Bisco Industries
 
As “Bisco Industries,” Bisco sells the full spectrum of products that it offers to all markets, but primarily sells to
original equipment manufacturers (“OEMs”). While historically, the substantial majority of Bisco’s revenues have been
derived from the Bisco division, Bisco has also established additional divisions that specialize in specific industries
and products.  Bisco believes that the focus by industry and/or product enhances Bisco’s ability to provide superior
service and devise tailored solutions for its customers.
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National-Precision

 
The National-Precision division primarily sells electronic hardware and commercial fasteners to OEMs in the
aerospace, fabrication and industrial equipment industries. National-Precision seeks to be the leading global
distributor of mil-spec and commercial fasteners, hardware and distribution services used in production.
 

Fast-Cor
 

The Fast-Cor division was established to be a distributor’s source for a broad range of components and fasteners.
Fast-Cor has access to the entire inventory of products that Bisco offers but primarily focuses on selling to other
distributors, not manufacturers.
 
Customers and Sales  

 
Bisco’s customers operate in a wide variety of industries and range from large, global companies to small local
businesses. Bisco strives to provide exceptional service to all customers, including smaller businesses, and
continues to focus on growing its share of that market.   As of August 31, 2013, Bisco had more than  11,700 active
customers; however, no single customer accounted for more than 10% of Bisco’s revenues for the year ended
August 31, 2013. For the fiscal years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, Bisco’s top 20 customers represented in the
aggregate approximately 11% and 12%, respectively, of Bisco’s distribution sales. 
 
Bisco generally sells its products through its sales representatives in its 45 sales offices located in the United States
and Canada. Customers can also place orders through Bisco’s website. Bisco currently maintains six distribution
centers located in Anaheim and San Jose, California; Dallas, Texas; Chicago, Illinois; Boston, Massachusetts and
Toronto, Canada. Each of Bisco’s selling facilities and distribution centers are linked to Bisco’s central computer
system, which provides Bisco’s salespersons with online, real-time data regarding inventory levels throughout Bisco
and facilitates control of purchasing, shipping and billing. Bisco generally ships products to customers from one of its
six distribution centers, based on the geographic proximity and the availability of the ordered products.
 
Bisco sells its products primarily in the United States and Canada. Bisco’s international sales represented 7% of its
distribution sales for each of the fiscal years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. Sales to customers in
Canada accounted for approximately 56% and 52% of such international sales in each of those years, respectively.
 
Suppliers
 
As of August 31, 2013, Bisco offered the products of over  260 manufacturers and is an authorized distributor for
more than 120 manufacturers. The authorized distributor agreements with most manufacturers are typically
cancelable by either party at any time or on short notice. While Bisco doesn’t manufacture its products, it does
provide kitting and packaging services for certain of its customers. Although Bisco sells more products of certain
brands, Bisco believes that most of the products it sells are available from other sources at competitive prices. No
single supplier accounted for more than 10% of Bisco’s purchases in fiscal 2013.
 
Real Estate Held for Leasing
 
At August 31, 2013, EACO owned a restaurant property located in Orange Park, Florida (the “Orange Park Property”)
and an income producing real estate property held for investment in Sylmar, California (the “Sylmar Property”).   In
January 2013, the Company sold its restaurant property located in Deland, Florida (the “Deland Property”) for
$1,100,000.  In April 2013, the Company sold its restaurant property located in Brooksville, Florida (the “Brooksville
Property”) for $1,730,000.  Subsequent to year end, the Company sold the Orange Park Property for $1,138,500 in
October 2013.
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Employees
 
As of August 31, 2013, the Company had 424 employees, all of which were full time and of which 328 were in sales
and marketing and 96 were in management, administration and finance.
 
Item 1A.  Risk Factors
 
Our business is subject to a number of risks, some of which are discussed below. Other risks are presented elsewhere
in this report and in our other filings with the SEC, including our subsequent reports on Forms 10-Q and 8-K.   If any
of the risks actually occur, our business, financial condition, or results of operations could be seriously harmed. In that
event, the market price for shares of our common stock may decline, and you could lose all or part of your
investment.
 
Changes and uncertainties in the economy have harmed and could continue to harm our operating
results.
 
As a result of the economic downturn and continuing economic uncertainties, our operating results, and the economic
strength of our customers and suppliers, are increasingly difficult to predict. Our Distribution Operations sales are
affected by many factors, including, among others, general economic conditions, interest rates, inflation, liquidity in
the credit markets, unemployment trends, geopolitical events, and other factors. Although we sell our products to
customers in a broad range of industries, the significant weakening of economic conditions on a global scale has
caused some of our customers to experience a slowdown that has had adverse effects on our sales and operating
results. Changes and uncertainties in the economy also increase the risk of uncollectible accounts receivable. The
pricing we receive from suppliers may also be impacted by general economic conditions. Continued and future
changes and uncertainties in the economic climate in the United States and elsewhere could have a similar negative
impact on the rate and amounts of purchases by our current and potential customers, create price inflation for our
products, or otherwise have a negative impact on our expenses, gross margins and revenues, and could hinder our
growth.
 
If we fail to maintain an effective system of internal controls over financial reporting or experience
additional material weaknesses in our system of internal controls, we may not be able to report our
financial results accurately or timely or detect fraud, which could have a material adverse effect on
the market price of our common stock and our business.
 
We have from time to time had material weaknesses in our internal controls over financial reporting due to
deficiencies in the process related to the preparation of our financial statements, segregation of duties, sufficient
control in the area of financial reporting oversight and review, and appropriate personnel to ensure the complete
and proper application of accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America (“GAAP”) as it
relates to certain routine accounting transactions. Although we believe we have addressed these material
weaknesses, we may experience material weaknesses in the future and may fail to maintain a system of internal
controls over financial reporting that complies with the reporting requirements applicable to public companies in the
United States. Our failure to address any deficiencies or weaknesses in our internal control over financial reporting
or to properly maintain an effective system of internal control over financial reporting could impact our ability to
prevent fraud or to issue our financial statements in a timely manner that presents fairly (in accordance with GAAP)
our financial condition and results of operations. The existence of any such deficiencies and/or weaknesses, even if
cured, may also lead to the loss of investor confidence in the reliability of our financial statements, could harm our
business and negatively impact the trading price of our common stock. Such deficiencies or material weaknesses
may also subject us to lawsuits, investigations and other penalties.
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We have incurred significant losses in the past from trading in securities, and we may incur such
losses in the future, which may also cause us to be in violation of covenants under our loan
agreements.
 
Bisco has historically funded its operations from cash generated from its operations and/or by trading in marketable
domestic equity securities. Bisco’s investment strategy includes taking both long and short positions, as well as
utilizing options to maximize return. This strategy can lead, and has led, to significant losses based on market
conditions and trends.  We may incur losses in future periods from such trading activities, which could materially and
adversely affect our liquidity and financial condition.
 
In addition, unanticipated losses from our trading activities may cause Bisco to be in violation of certain covenants
under its loan agreements with Community Bank. As of August 31, 2013 and 2012, Bisco had outstanding $6,479,000
and $7,450,000, respectively, under its revolving credit agreement, which loan is secured by substantially all of
Bisco’s assets and is guaranteed by Mr. Ceiley, our Chairman and CEO. The agreement contains covenants which
require that, on a quarterly basis, Bisco’s losses from trading in securities not exceed its pre-tax operating income.
We cannot assure you that unanticipated losses from our trading activities will not cause us to violate the covenant in
the future or that the bank will grant a waiver for any such default or that it will not exercise its remedies, which could
include the acceleration of the obligation’s maturity date and foreclosure on Bisco’s assets, with respect to any such
noncompliance, which could have a material adverse effect on our business and operations.
 
We rely heavily on our internal information systems, which, if not properly functioning, could
materially and adversely affect our business.
 
Our information systems have been in place for many years, and are subject to system failures as well as problems
caused by human error, which could have a material adverse effect on our business. Many of our systems consist of
a number of legacy or internally developed applications, which can be more difficult to upgrade to commercially
available software. It may be time consuming and costly for us to retrieve data that is necessary for management to
evaluate our systems of control and information flow. In the future, management may decide to convert our
information systems to a single enterprise solution. Such a conversion, while it would enhance the accessibility and
reliability of our data, could be expensive and would not be without risk of data loss, delay or business interruption.
Maintaining and operating these systems requires continuous investments. Failure of any of these internal information
systems or material difficulties in upgrading these information systems could have material adverse effects on our
business and our timely compliance with our reporting obligations.
 
We may not be able to attract and retain key personnel.
 
Our future performance will depend to a significant extent upon the efforts and abilities of certain key management
and other personnel, including Glen Ceiley, our Chairman and CEO, as well as other executive officers and senior
management. The loss of service of one or more of our key management members could have a material adverse
effect on our business.
 
We do not have long-term supply agreements or guaranteed price or delivery arrangements with the
majority of our suppliers.
 
In most cases, we have no guaranteed price or delivery arrangements with our suppliers. Consequently, we may
experience inventory shortages on certain products. Furthermore, our industry occasionally experiences significant
product supply shortages and customer order backlogs due to the inability of certain manufacturers to supply
products as needed. We cannot assure you that suppliers will maintain an adequate supply of products to fulfill our
orders on a timely basis, at a recoverable cost, or at all, or that we will be able to obtain particular products on
favorable terms or at all. Additionally, we cannot assure you that product lines currently offered by suppliers will
continue to be available to us. A decline in the supply or continued availability of the products of our suppliers, or a
significant increase in the price of those products, could reduce our sales and negatively affect our operating
results.
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Our supply agreements are generally terminable at the suppliers’ discretion.
 
Substantially all of the agreements we have with our suppliers, including our authorized distributor agreements, are
terminable with little or no notice and without any penalty. Suppliers that currently sell their products through us could
decide to sell, or increase their sales of, their products directly or through other distributors or channels. Any
termination, interruption or adverse modification of our relationship with a key supplier or a significant number of
other suppliers would likely adversely affect our operating income, cash flow and future prospects.
 
The competitive pressures we face could have a material adverse effect on our business.
 
The market for our products and services is very competitive.   We compete for customers with other distributors, as
well as with many of our suppliers. A failure to maintain and enhance our competitive position could adversely affect
our business and prospects. Furthermore, our efforts to compete in the marketplace could cause deterioration of
gross profit margins and, thus, overall profitability. Some of our competitors may have greater financial, personnel,
capacity and other resources or a more extensive customer base than we do.
 
Our strategy of expanding into new geographic areas could be costly.
 
One of our primary growth strategies for our Distribution Operations segment is to grow our business through the
opening of sales offices in new geographic markets. Based on our analysis of demographics in the United States,
Canada and Mexico, we currently estimate there is potential market opportunity in North America to support
additional sales offices. We cannot guarantee that our estimates are accurate or that we will open enough offices to
capitalize on the full market opportunity or that any new offices will be successful.   In addition, a particular local
market’s ability to support a sales office may change because of a change due to competition, or local economic
conditions.
 
We may be unable to meet our goals regarding new office openings.
 
Our growth, in part, is primarily dependent on our ability to attract new customers. Historically, the most effective
way to attract new customers has been opening new sales offices. Our current business strategy focuses on
opening a specified number of new sales offices each year, and quickly growing each new sales office. Although we
have opened two new offices during the year ended August 31, 2013, we may not be able to continue to open or
grow new offices at our projected rates or hire the qualified sales personnel necessary to make such new offices
successful.  Failure to do so could negatively impact our long-term growth and market share.
 
Opening sales offices in new markets presents increased risks that may prevent us from being
profitable in these new locations, and/or may adversely affect our operating results.
 
Our new sales offices do not typically achieve operating results comparable to our existing offices until after several
years of operation. The added expenses relating to payroll, occupancy and transportation costs can impact our
ability to leverage earnings. In addition, offices in new geographic areas face additional challenges to achieving
profitability. In new markets, we have less familiarity with local customer preferences and customers in these
markets are less familiar with our name and capabilities. Entry into new markets may also bring us into competition
with new, unfamiliar competitors. These challenges associated with opening new offices in new markets may have an
adverse effect on our business and operating results.
 
We may not be able to identify new products and products lines, or obtain new product on favorable
terms and prices or at all.
 
Our success depends in part on our ability to develop product expertise and identify future products and product
lines that complement existing products and product lines and that respond to our customers’ needs. We may not be
able to compete effectively unless our product selection keeps up with trends in the markets in which we compete.
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Our ability to successfully attract and retain qualified sales personnel is uncertain.
 
Our success depends in large part on our ability to attract, motivate and retain a sufficient number of qualified sales
employees, who understand and appreciate our strategy and culture and are able to adequately represent us to our
customers. Qualified individuals of the requisite caliber and number needed to fill these positions may be in short
supply in some areas, and the turnover rate in the industry is high. If we are unable to hire and retain personnel
capable of consistently providing a high level of customer service, as demonstrated by their enthusiasm for our
culture and product knowledge, our sales could be materially adversely affected. Additionally, competition for
qualified employees could require us to pay higher wages to attract a sufficient number of employees. An inability to
recruit and retain a sufficient number of qualified individuals in the future may also delay the planned openings of
new offices. Any such delays, material increases in existing employee turnover rates, or increases in labor costs,
could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition or operating results.
 
We generally do not have long-term sales contracts with our customers.
 
Most of our sales are made on a purchase order basis, rather than through long-term sales contracts. A variety of
conditions, both specific to each customer and generally affecting each customer’s industry, may cause customers
to reduce, cancel or delay orders that were either previously made or anticipated, go bankrupt or fail, or default on
their payments. Significant or numerous cancellations, reductions, delays in orders by customers, losses of
customers, and/or customer defaults on payment could materially adversely affect our business.
 
Increases in the costs of energy, shipping and raw materials used in our products could impact our
cost of goods and distribution and occupancy expenses, which would result in lower operating
margins.
 
Costs of raw materials used in our products and energy costs have been rising during the last several years, which
has resulted in increased production costs for our suppliers. These suppliers typically look to pass their increased
costs along to us through price increases. The shipping costs for our distribution operation have risen as well and
may continue to rise. While we typically try to pass increased supplier prices and shipping costs through to our
customers or to modify our activities to mitigate the impact, we may not be successful. Failure to fully pass these
increased prices and costs through to our customers or to modify our activities to mitigate the impact would have an
adverse effect on our operating margins.
 
The Company’s Chairman and CEO holds almost all of our voting stock and can control the election of
directors and significant corporate actions.
 
Glen Ceiley, our Chairman and CEO, owns approximately 99% of our outstanding voting stock. Mr. Ceiley is able to
exert significant influence over the outcome of almost all corporate matters, including significant corporate
transactions requiring a shareholder vote, such as a merger or a sale of the Company or our assets. This
concentration of ownership and influence in management and board decision-making could also harm the price of
our common stock by, among other things, discouraging a potential acquirer from seeking to acquire shares of our
common stock (whether by making a tender offer or otherwise) or otherwise attempting to obtain control of the
Company.
 
Sales of our common stock by Glen Ceiley could cause the price of our common stock to decline.
 
There is currently no established trading market for our common stock, and the volume of any sales is generally low.
As of August 31, 2013, the number of shares held by non-affiliates of Mr. Ceiley or Bisco is less than 65,000 shares. If
Mr. Ceiley sells or seeks to sell a substantial number of his shares of our common stock in the future, the market
price of our common stock could decline. The perception among investors that these sales may occur could produce
the same effect.
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Inclement weather and other disruptions to the transportation network could impact our distribution
system.
 
Our ability to provide efficient shipment of products to our customers is an integral component of our overall
business strategy. Disruptions at distribution centers or shipping ports may affect our ability to both maintain core
products in inventory and deliver products to our customers on a timely basis, which may in turn adversely affect our
results of operations. In addition, severe weather conditions could adversely impact demand for our products in
particularly hard hit regions.
 
Our advertising and marketing efforts may be costly and may not achieve desired results.
 
We incur substantial expense in connection with our advertising and marketing efforts. Postage represents a
significant advertising expense for us because we generally mail fliers to current and potential customers through
the U.S. Postal Service. Any future increases in postal rates will increase our mailing expenses and could have a
material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results of operations.
 
We may not have adequate or cost-effective liquidity or capital resources.
 
Our ability to satisfy our cash needs depends on our ability to generate cash from operations and to access   the
capital markets, both of which are subject to general economic, financial, competitive, legislative, regulatory and
other factors that are beyond our control. We may need to satisfy our cash needs through external financing.
However, external financing may not be available on acceptable terms or at all.
 
Item 1B.  Unresolved Staff Comments
 
None.
 
Item 2.  Properties
 
We have 45 sales offices and six distribution centers located throughout the United States and in Canada.   Our
corporate headquarters and one of our primary distribution centers are located in Anaheim, California in
approximately 40,000 square feet of office and warehouse space.   We lease all of our properties, consisting of
office and warehouse space, under leases generally having a term of three years. For additional information
regarding our obligations under property leases, see Note 3 of the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements,
included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report.
 
We also own and lease the following properties:
 

Locations  Description
   
Orange Park, FL(1)  Restaurant land and building.  Leased to restaurant operator at August 31,

2013.
Sylmar, CA(2)  Two properties leased to industrial tenants.

 
(1) Property was subject to mortgage securing promissory note issued to GE Capital Franchise Finance Corporation
(“GE Capital”).  In October 2013, we sold the Orange Park Property for $1,138,500 and paid off the mortgage.
(2) Property subject to mortgage securing promissory note issued to Community Bank.
 
Item 3.  Legal Proceedings
 
From time to time, the Company may be named in claims arising in the ordinary course of business. Currently, we are
not a party to any legal proceedings that, in the opinion of our management, would reasonably be expected to have
a material adverse effect on our business or financial condition.
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Item 4.  Mine Safety Disclosures
 
Not applicable.
 

PART II
 
Item 5.  Market for Registrant’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters and Issuer Purchases of
Equity Securities
 
Market Information and Holders
 
The Company's common stock is quoted on the OTCQB operated by the OTC Markets Group Inc., and previously on
the OTC Bulletin Board, under the trading symbol "EACO"; however, there is no established public trading market for
the Company’s common stock.  As of November 1, 2013, there were 1,131 shareholders of record of the Company’s
common stock, which excludes individuals holding shares in street names. The closing sale price of the Company's
common stock on October 15, 2013, the most recent date on which a sale of our shares occurred, was   $3.48 per
share.
 
The quarterly high and low sales information of the Company's common stock as quoted on such over-the-counter
markets are set forth below.  

 

 
As of August 31, 2013, the Company had no options outstanding under any equity compensation plans.   The
Company did not grant or issue any unregistered shares during the year ended August 31, 2013.  The Company did
not repurchase any of its own common stock during the year ended August 31, 2013.
 
Dividend Policy
 
The Company has never paid cash dividends on its common stock and does not expect to pay any cash dividends
on its common stock in the foreseeable future.   The Company presently intends to retain all available funds for
operations and expansion of the business.
 
Item 6. Selected Financial Data
 
The Company is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as
amended (the “Exchange Act”) and is not required to provide the information required under this item.
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  High  Low  
        
Year Ended August 31, 2012        
Quarter ended November 30, 2011  $ 2.00  $ 0.25  
Quarter ended February 28, 2012   2.20   1.85  
Quarter ended May 31, 2012   2.01   2.00  
Quarter ended August 31, 2012   2.95   2.30  
        
Year Ended August 31, 2013        
Quarter ended November 30, 2012   2.95   2.35  
Quarter ended February 28, 2013   2.56   2.34  
Quarter ended May 31, 2013   2.89   2.50  
Quarter ended August 31, 2013   3.56   2.89  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
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Item 7.  Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results Of Operations
 
Overview
 
From the inception of the Company through June 2005, EACO’s business consisted of operating restaurants in the
State of Florida. On June 29, 2005, EACO sold all of its operating restaurants and other assets used in the restaurant
operations. All the remaining activity from the restaurant operations is presented as discontinued operations in the
accompanying consolidated financial statements. From June 2005 until the acquisition of Bisco in March 2010, our
operations principally consisted of managing five real estate properties held for leasing in Florida and California.
After the acquisition of Bisco and prior to the fiscal year ended August 31, 2013 (“fiscal 2013”), the Company had two
reportable business segments: the Distribution segment, which consisted of the operations of Bisco and its
subsidiary, and the Real Estate Rental segment, which consisted of managing the rental properties in Florida and
California. For fiscal 2013, due to the sale by the Company of several of its rental properties, the Real Estate Rental
segment represented less than 1% of the Company’s revenues. Accordingly, the Company no longer reports its
financial results under two separate segments. The applicable financial results of the Real Estate Rental segment
have been consolidated with the financial results of the Distribution segment for all periods presented in this report.
 
Critical Accounting Policies
 
Long-Lived Assets
 
Long-lived assets (principally real estate, equipment and leasehold improvements) are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.  For purposes of the impairment review, real estate properties are reviewed on an asset-by-asset
basis.  Recoverability of real estate property assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of each
operating property and related assets to future net cash flows expected to be generated by such assets.  For
measuring recoverability of operating assets, long-lived assets are grouped with other assets to the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
The Company’s shipping terms are FOB shipping point. As such, management generally recognizes distribution
operations revenue at the time of product shipment. Revenue is considered to be realized or realizable and earned
when there is persuasive evidence of a sales arrangement in the form of an executed contract or purchase order,
the product has been shipped (and installed when applicable), the sales price is fixed or determinable, and
collectability is reasonably assured.
 
Impairment of Long Lived Assets
 
The Company’s policy is to review long-lived assets for impairment whenever events or changes in circumstances
indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.  For the purpose of the impairment review,
assets are tested on an individual basis.  The recoverability of the assets is measured by a comparison of the
carrying value of each asset to the future net undiscounted cash flows expected to be generated by such assets.  If
such assets are considered impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
carrying value of the assets exceeds their estimated fair value. During the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012,
the Company did not record an impairment charge on its rental property assets.
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Liabilities of Discontinued Operations
 
Prior to June 2005, EACO self-insured workers’ compensation claims losses up to certain limits.  The liability for
workers’ compensation represents an estimate of the present value of the ultimate cost of uninsured losses which
are unpaid as of the balance sheet dates.  The estimate is frequently reviewed and adjustments to the Company’s
estimated claim liability, if any, are reflected in discontinued operations.  At each fiscal year end, the Company
obtains an actuarial report which estimates its overall exposure based on historical claims and an evaluation of
future claims.  An actuarial evaluation was obtained by the Company as of August 31, 2013 and 2012. The Company
pursues recovery of certain claims from an insurance carrier.  Recoveries, if any, are recognized when realization is
reasonably assured.
 
Deferred Tax Assets
 
A valuation allowance is provided for deferred tax assets if it is more likely than not that these items will either
expire before the Company is able to realize their benefit, or when future deductibility is uncertain.  The Company
records net deferred tax assets to the extent management believes these assets will more likely than not be
realized.  In making such determination, the Company considers all available positive and negative evidence,
including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income (if any), tax planning
strategies and recent financial performance.  Forming a conclusion that a valuation allowance is not required is
difficult when there is negative evidence such as cumulative losses and/or significant decreases in operations.  As a
result of the Company’s disposal of significant business operations in June 2005, management concluded that a
valuation allowance should be recorded against certain federal and state tax credits.  The utilization of these credits
requires sufficient taxable income after consideration of net operating loss utilization.
 
Results of Operations
 
Comparison of the Fiscal Years Ended August 31, 2013 and 2012
 
Revenues and Gross Margin(dollars in thousands)
 

 
Revenues consist primarily of sales of component parts and fasteners, but also include, to a lesser extent, kitting
charges and special order fees, as well as freight charged to customers. The increase in revenues in fiscal 2013
compared to the year ended August 31, 2012 (“fiscal 2012”) was largely due to increased unit sales, resulting
primarily from increases in the salesperson headcount and the number of Sales Focus Teams (“SFT”). The Company
uses SFTs to focus on specific markets management has identified and believes that such focus contributes to
increases in sales. The Company also increased the number of offices during the year, adding two new sales offices
in Tennessee and Ohio, which also generally leads to increases in sales.
 
Selling, General and Administrative Expense (dollars in thousands)
 

 
Selling, general and administrative expense (“SG&A”) consists primarily of payroll and related expenses for the

sales and administrative staff, professional fees (including accounting, legal and technology costs and expenses),
and sales and marketing costs for the Company. SG&A expense in fiscal 2013 increased from fiscal 2012 due largely
to increased headcount in sales employees and to a lesser extent to the opening of two new offices. As a
percentage of distribution sales, SG&A increased as the Company increased the size of its sales staff with new
hires, because those new hires generally do not contribute as much revenue during their first twelve months of
employment as veteran sales staff.
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  Fiscal Year Ended August 31,   $  %  
  2013   2012   Change  Change  
                
Revenues  $ 120,432   $ 114,634   $ 5,798   5.1 %
Cost of revenues   86,600    82,664    (3,936)  (4.8)%
Gross profit  $ 33,832   $ 31,970   $ 1,862     
Gross margin   28.1 %   27.9 %     0.2 %

  Fiscal Year Ended August 31,      %  
  2013   2012   $ Change  Change  
               
Selling, general and administrative expense  $ 30,132   $ 27,648   $ 2,484  9.0 %
Percent of sales   25.0 %   24.1 %    0.9 %

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
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Other Income (Expense), Net (dollars in thousands)
 

 
Other income (expense) includes income or losses on investments in short-term marketable equity securities of
other publicly-held domestic corporations. The Company’s investment strategy consists of both long and short
positions, as well as utilizing options to improve return. During fiscal 2012, the Company recognized $494,000 in net
realized and unrealized gains, which gains were primarily due to long positions the Company was holding during a
time of a general market increase. The Company experienced net realized and unrealized gains from trading
securities of $15,000 during fiscal 2013, due mainly to holding short positions during the year at a time of a general
market increase.
 
For fiscal 2013, the other income (expense) also included the gain realized from the sale of the Brooksville Property
and the Deland Property in January 2013 and April 2013, respectively, resulting in a total gain of $730,000.
 
In addition, the Company saw a decrease in its interest expense in fiscal 2013 compared to fiscal 2012 due to the
pay off of the Brooksville mortgage as part of the Brooksville Property sale and a decrease in the amounts
outstanding under the Company’s line of credit due to the cash generated in operations during fiscal 2013.
 
Income Tax Provision (dollars in thousands)
 

 
The provision for income taxes decreased by $370,000 in fiscal 2013 as compared to fiscal 2012, which was
primarily due to the Company’s income from operations being $622,000 lower in fiscal 2013 than in fiscal 2012. The
Company’s gain on the sale of the Brooksville Property and Deland Property will be offset against the Company’s
capital loss carry-forwards, resulting in a lower effective tax rate in fiscal 2013 than in fiscal 2012.
 
Liquidity and Capital Resources
 
The Company has historically been funded from positive cash flow from its operations. In addition, the Company has
a revolving credit agreement with Community Bank, which currently provides for borrowings of up to $10.0 million
and bears interest at either the 30, 60 or 90 day LIBOR (the 90 day LIBOR at August 31, 2013 and 2012 was 0.26%
and 0.44%, respectively) plus 1.75% or the bank’s reference rate (3.25% at August 31, 2013 and 2012). Borrowings
are secured by substantially all assets of the Company and are guaranteed by the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer and Chairman of the Board, Glen F. Ceiley. The credit agreement, as amended in March 2013, expires in March
2015. The amount outstanding under this line of credit as of August 31, 2013 and 2012 was $6,479,000 and
$7,450,000, respectively. Availability under the line of credit was $3,521,000 and $2,550,000 at August 31, 2013 and
2012, respectively. The Company also had a term loan with Community Bank that was due and paid in full in March
2013. The loan accrued interest at the bank’s reference rate and was secured by substantially all assets of the
Company and guaranteed by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board, Glen F. Ceiley. The
balance due under the term loan was $0 and $299,000 at August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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  Fiscal Year Ended August 31,   $  %  
Other income (expense):  2013   2012   Change  Change  
Realized gain on sales of marketable trading securities  $ 10   $ 287   $ (277)  (96.5)%
Unrealized gain on marketable trading securities   5    207    (202)  (97.6) 
Gain on sale of assets   730    —    730   100.0  
Interest expense, net   (584)   (717)   133   18.5  
Other income (expense), net  $ 161   $ (223)  $ 384     
Other income (expense), net as a percent of sales   0.1 %   (0.2)%     0.3 %

  Fiscal Year Ended August 31,   $  %  
  2013   2012   Change  Change  

                
Income tax provision  $ 1,309   $ 1,679   $ (370)  (22.0)%
Effective tax rate   33.9 %   41.0 %     (7.1)%

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
The Company had one mortgage of $362,000 related to its Orange Park Property with GE Capital at August 31, 2013,
which was paid off in October 2013 in connection with the sale of the Orange Park Property.
 
Cash Flows from Operating Activities
 
During the year ended August 31, 2013, the Company generated $680,000 in net cash from its operating activities.
This was due mainly to income before depreciation in fiscal 2013. This was offset in part by increases in inventory as
a result of the Company’s increase in sales in fiscal 2013 as compared to fiscal 2012.
 
During the year ended August 31, 2012, the Company generated $2,889,000 in net cash from its operating activities.
This was due mainly to net income in fiscal 2012 and an increase in accounts payable in fiscal 2012 resulting from
extending credit terms and checks held at the end of the period and from the use of the Company’s deferred tax
asset. These were offset in part by increases in inventory and accounts receivable as a result of the Company’s
increase in sales in fiscal 2012.
 
Cash Flows from Investing Activities
 
Net cash flow provided by investing activities was $891,000 for the year ended August 31, 2013. This was primarily
due to the Company’s disposition of the Brooksville Property and Deland Property in fiscal 2013, resulting in net cash
of $579,000 and $650,000, respectively, plus $350,000 of the sale price of the Deland Property paid with a
promissory note. This increase was offset in part by the Company’s purchase of property and equipment, which
consisted primarily of computer equipment and leasehold improvements, and the Company’s purchase of a number
of securities at the end of fiscal 2013.
 
Net cash flow provided by investing activities was $700,000 for the year ended August 31, 2012. This was primarily
due to the Company’s disposition of trading securities near the end of fiscal 2012. This was offset by the Company’s
purchase of property and equipment, which consisted primarily of computer equipment and leasehold improvements.
 
Cash Flows from Financing Activities
 
Cash used in financing activities for the year ended August 31, 2013 was $2,974,000 mainly due to the Company’s
net payments during the year on its revolving credit facility. Additionally, the Company repaid the mortgage related to
the Brooksville Property as part of the sale of that property in fiscal 2013.
 
Cash used in financing activities for the year ended August 31, 2012 was $2,313,000 mainly due to the Company’s net
payments during the year on its revolving credit facility and mortgages related to its real estate holdings.
 
Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements
 
The Company has no off-balance sheet arrangements that are reasonably likely to have a current or future effect on
the financial position, revenues, results of operations, liquidity or capital expenditures.
 
Contractual Financial Obligations
 
In addition to using cash flow from operations, the Company finances its operations through borrowings from
banks.  These financial obligations are recorded in accordance with accounting rules applicable to the underlying
transactions, with the result that debt agreements and obligations under capital leases are recorded as liabilities in
the accompanying balance sheets while obligations under operating leases are disclosed in the Notes to the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk
 
The Company is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act and is not required to
provide the information required under this item.
 
Item 8.  Financial Statements And Supplementary Data
 
The financial statements required by Regulation S-X are included in Part IV, Item 15 of this report.
 
Item 9.  Changes In and Disagreements With Accountants on Accounting and Financial Disclosure
 
None.
 
Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
 
(a)        Evaluation of disclosure controls and procedures.  As required by Rule 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) under
the Exchange Act, as of the end of the period covered by this report the Company carried out an evaluation of the
effectiveness of the design and operation of the Company’s disclosure controls and procedures. This evaluation was
carried out under the supervision and with the participation of the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, who also
serves as the Company’s principal financial officer. Based upon that evaluation, the Company’s Chief Executive
Officer has concluded that the Company’s controls and procedures were effective as of August 31, 2013.
 
(b)       Management’s annual report on internal control over financial reporting.  Management is
responsible for establishing and maintaining adequate internal control over financial reporting, as defined in Rules
13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f) under the Exchange Act. The Company’s internal control over financial reporting is intended
to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial reporting and the preparation of financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles.
 
The Company’s management, with the participation of its Chief Executive Officer, assessed the effectiveness of the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting as of August 31, 2013. In making this assessment, management
used the criteria set forth by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO) in its
report entitled “Internal Control-Integrated Framework.” Based on that assessment under such criteria, management
concluded that the Company’s internal control over financial reporting was effective as of August 31, 2013.
 
Due to its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect all misstatements.
Projections of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become
inadequate because of changes in conditions, and/or that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures
may deteriorate. All internal control systems, no matter how well designed, have inherent limitations. Therefore, even
those systems determined to be effective can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation and presentation.
 
The Company is a smaller reporting company as defined by Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. As such, this annual
report does not include an attestation report of our independent registered public accounting firm regarding internal
control over financial reporting.
 
(c)       Changes in internal control over financial reporting.  There was no change in our internal control over
financial reporting that occurred during the fourth quarter of the year ended August 31, 2013 that has materially
affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting.
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Item 9B.  Other Information
 
Effective August 7, 2013, the Company entered into a Purchase Agreement to sell the Orange Park Property to
WINLEE Property, Inc.  The agreement was amended on August 24, 2013 and September 26, 2013 and, as amended,
provides for the sale of the Orange Park Property for a price of $1,138,500, subject to certain financing, inspection
and other contingencies. The transaction closed on October 17, 2013, and the Company paid off the mortgage of
$362,000 held by GE Capital and paid commissions to the Company’s broker of $82,500 from the net proceeds.
 

PART III
 
Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Governance
 
Set forth below is certain information, as of November 1, 2013, regarding our directors and executive officers,
including information regarding the experience, qualifications, attributes or skills of each director that led the Board
of Directors to conclude that the person should serve on the Board.
 
Directors and Executive Officers
 
Glen F. Ceiley currently serves as Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer of the Company.  Stephen
Catanzaro, Jay Conzen and William L. Means also currently serve as directors of the Company. Each director serves
a one-year term, or until such director’s successor has been elected and qualified. Each officer holds office at the
discretion of the Company’s Board, or until the officer’s successor has been elected and qualified.
 
Glen F. Ceiley, 67, has served as EACO’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board since 1999. Mr. Ceiley
is also the Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Bisco, and has held those positions since he
founded Bisco in 1973. He also served as President of Bisco prior to June 2010. In addition, Mr. Ceiley is a former
director of Data I/O Corporation, a publicly-held company that provides programming systems for electronic device
manufacturers. Mr. Ceiley has served as a director of the Company since 1998. As the founder of Bisco with over 39
years of experience in that industry, Mr. Ceiley is uniquely qualified to provide insights into and guidance on the
industry and growth and development of the Company.
 
Stephen Catanzaro, 60, has served as the Chief Financial Officer of Allied Business Schools, Inc., a company that
provides home study courses and distance education, since April 2004. Prior to that, Mr. Catanzaro was the Chief
Financial Officer of V&M Restoration, Inc., a building restoration company, from September 2002 to February 2004,
and the Chief Financial Officer of Bisco. Mr. Catanzaro has served as a director of the Company since 1999. Mr.
Catanzaro offers to the Board valuable business and strategic insights obtained through his work in a variety of
industries, as well as experience as a certified public accountant which is invaluable to his service in the Audit
Committee.
 
Jay Conzen, 67, has served as the President of Old Fashioned Kitchen, Inc., a national food distributor, since April
2003 and as a Director since 2011. Prior to that, from October 1992 to April 2003, Mr. Conzen was the principal of Jay
Conzen Investments, an investment advisor. Mr. Conzen also served as a consultant to EACO from August 1999 until
January 2001 and from October 2001 to April 2003. Mr. Conzen has served as a director of the Company since 1998.
Having served as an executive officer of several companies, Mr. Conzen offers to the Board a wealth of
management and leadership experience as well as an understanding of issues faced by businesses. He also served
as a certified public accountant for a number of years.
 
William L. Means, 70, served as the Vice President of Information Technology of Bisco from 2001 until his retirement
in June 2010. Prior to that, from 1997 to 2001, Mr. Means was Vice President of Corporate Development of Bisco. Mr.
Means has served as a director of the Company since July 1999. He holds an M.B.A. degree from San Jose State
University. Mr. Means provides extensive industry expertise to the Board, as well as a deep and broad understanding
of the Company and its operations resulting from his years of service as an officer of Bisco.
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Donald S. Wagner, 51, has served as the President of Bisco since June 2010 and as its Chief Operating Officer
since November 2007. Prior to his promotion to President, Mr. Wagner also held the title of Executive Vice President
of Bisco from November 2007. Mr. Wagner has worked at Bisco since 1994 in a number of other capacities, including
as Vice President of Product Management. Prior to joining Bisco, Mr. Wagner worked in the Defense division at
Rockwell International. He holds a B.A. degree in Communications from California State University, Fullerton.
 
Michael Bains, 44, has served as the Controller of EACO since March 2010 and as the Controller of Bisco since
December 2004. Prior to joining Bisco, Mr. Bains worked as the Controller of several service companies and as an
accountant in a number of public accounting firms. He is a Certified Public Accountant and holds a B.S. degree in
Accounting from Loyola Marymount University.
 
Zach Ceiley, 33, has served as the Vice President of Sales and Marketing of Bisco since September 2012. Prior to
such promotion, Mr. Ceiley was the Northern Regional Manager of Bisco from September 2010. Since he joined Bisco
in February 2003, Mr. Ceiley has served the Company in a number of other capacities in the sales department,
including as Cell Manager and Area Manager. Mr. Ceiley has a B.S. degree in Communication from the University of
Colorado.
Zach Ceiley, the Vice President of Sales and Marketing of Bisco, is the son of Glen Ceiley, EACO’s Chairman of the
Board, Chief Executive Officer and majority shareholder and Bisco’s Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the
Board.
 
Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership Reporting Compliance
 
Section 16(a) of the Exchange Act requires certain officers of the Company and its directors, and persons who
beneficially own more than ten percent of any registered class of the Company’s equity securities, to file reports of
ownership in such securities and changes in ownership in such securities with the SEC. Specific due dates for these
reports have been established, and we are required to report any failure to file by such dates. For the year ended
August 31, 2013, Form 4 filings for Mr. Ceiley for the following sales of shares held in the Bisco Industries, Inc. Profit
Sharing and Savings Plan were not filed within two business days of such sales: (i) sale of 1,250 shares on
November 12, 2012 and (ii) sale of 401 shares on February 14, 2013.
 
Based solely on a review of the reports and written representations provided to the Company by the above
referenced persons, the Company believes that, with respect to the year ended August 31, 2013, except as indicated
in the foregoing sentence, all filing requirements applicable to its reporting officers, directors and greater than ten
percent beneficial owners were timely satisfied . 
 
Code of Ethical Conduct
 
The Company has adopted a code of ethics applicable to the Company’s senior executive and financial officers.  You
may receive, without charge, a copy of the Financial Code of Ethical Conduct by contacting our Corporate Secretary
at 1500 N. Lakeview Avenue, Anaheim, California 92807.
 
Audit Committee

 
The Audit Committee’s basic functions are to assist the Board in discharging its fiduciary responsibilities to the
shareholders and the investment community in the preservation of the integrity of the financial information published
by the Company, to maintain free and open means of communication between the Company’s directors, independent
auditors and financial management, and to ensure the independence of the independent auditors.  The Board has
adopted a written charter for the Audit Committee which is attached as Annex A to the Company’s Proxy Statement
for the 2013 Annual Meeting of Shareholders, as filed with the SEC on April 8, 2013.  The Audit Committee charter is
not available on the Company’s website.  Currently, the members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Catanzaro,
Conzen (Chairman) and Means. As indicated in Item 13 below, the Board has determined that both Messrs.
Catanzaro and Conzen are independent as defined by the NASDAQ Stock Market’s Marketplace Rules. The Board
has identified Mr. Conzen as the member of the Audit Committee who qualifies as an “audit committee financial
expert” under applicable SEC rules and regulations governing the composition of the Audit Committee.
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Item 11.  Executive Compensation
 
The Executive Compensation Committee (the “Committee”) is responsible for establishing the salary and annual
bonuses paid to executive officers of EACO and administering EACO’s equity incentive plans, if any, including
granting stock options to officers and employees of EACO. The Committee has not adopted a formal charter. The
current members of the Committee are Messrs. Glen Ceiley and William Means.
 
The officers of EACO are Mr. Ceiley, the Chief Executive Officer, and Mr. Michael Bains, the Controller. Due to the
nature of EACO’s operations and related financial results, no additional salary or other compensation for their
service as officers of EACO was determined to be necessary and no such compensation was provided to Mr. Ceiley
or Mr. Bains during fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012. However, both of them receive compensation from Bisco for their
services to Bisco.
 
All compensation for the named executive officers for fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 were paid by Bisco. The
compensation of named executive officers who serve as officers of Bisco are determined by Bisco’s Chairman of
the Board, Glen Ceiley. Bisco currently does not pay bonuses or other incentive compensation to the named
executive officers.
 
Summary Compensation
 
The following table sets forth information regarding compensation earned from the Company (including from Bisco,
our wholly-owned subsidiary) during fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012 by (i) our Chief Executive Officer, (ii) our Controller
and (iii) two other most highly compensated executive officers who were employed by the Company (including
Bisco) as of August 31, 2013 and whose total compensation exceeded $100,000 during that year. The officers listed
below are collectively referred to as the “named executive officers” in this report.

 

 
(1) Zachary Ceiley was promoted to the position of Vice President of Sales and Marketing of Bisco in September

2012 and was not a named executive officer prior to such promotion. Accordingly, only compensation information
with respect to fiscal 2013 is provided.
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Name and Principal       All Other     
Position  Fiscal Year  Salary  Compensation  Total  
             
Glen F. Ceiley,  2013  $ 334,783  $ —  $ 334,783  

Chief Executive Officer and  2012   334,783   —   334,783  
Chairman of the Board of EACO and Bisco             

Donald Wagner,  2013   216,202   —   216,202  
President of Bisco  2012   209,431   —   209,431  

Zachary Ceiley, Vice President  2013   142,422   —   142,422  
of Sales and Marketing of Bisco (1)             

Michael Bains, Controller of EACO and Bisco  2013   153,948   —   153,948  
  2012   155,348   —   155,348  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
Outstanding Equity Awards at Fiscal Year-End
 
The Company did not grant any equity awards during fiscal 2013 to any named executive officer and no outstanding
equity awards were held by the named executive officers at August 31, 2013.
 
Director Compensation
 
The Company pays $10,000 per year in cash to each director not employed by EACO or its subsidiary as
compensation for his services. In addition, directors who do not receive a salary from EACO or its subsidiary receive
a fee of $500 for each Board meeting attended. No fees are awarded to directors for attendance at meetings of the
Audit Committee or the Executive Compensation Committee of the Board.
 
The following table sets forth the compensation of certain Company directors for the year ended August 31, 2013.
(See the above “Summary Compensation” for information regarding Mr. Ceiley).
 

 
 (1) Consists of fees paid to Mr. Means for IT consulting services..
 
Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management and Related Stockholder

Matters
 
Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners and Management
   
The table below presents certain information regarding beneficial ownership of the Company’s common stock (the
Company’s only voting security) as of November 1, 2013 (i) by each shareholder known to the Company to own,
more than five percent (5%) of the outstanding common stock, (ii) by each named executive officer and director of
the Company, and (iii) by all directors and executive officers of the Company as a group. Under the rules of the SEC,
the determinations of “beneficial ownership” of the Company’s common stock are based upon Rule 13d-3 under the
Exchange Act. Under Rule 13d-3, shares will be deemed to be “beneficially owned” when a person has, either solely
or with others, the power to vote or to direct the voting of shares and/or the power to dispose, or to direct the
disposition of shares, or where a person has the right to acquire any such power within 60 days after the date such
beneficial ownership is determined. Shares of the Company’s common stock that a beneficial owner has the right to
acquire within 60 days are deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of
such owner but are not deemed outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of any other
person.
 

 
* Less than 1%
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  Fees Earned or  All Other     
Director  Paid in Cash  Compensation  Total  
Stephen Catanzaro  $ 12,000  $ —  $ 12,000  
Jay Conzen   12,000   —   12,000  
William Means   12,000   2,600 (1)  14,600 

  Shares of    
Name and Address of  Common Stock  Percent of  
Beneficial Owner (1)  Beneficially Owned  Class(2)  
      
Stephen Catanzaro  765  *  
Glen F. Ceiley(3)  4,830,560  98.6 %
Jay Conzen  —  —  
William L. Means  322  *  
Donald Wagner  —  —  
Zachary Ceiley  140  *  
Michael Bains  —  —  
All executive officers and directors as a group (7 persons)(3)  4,831,787  98.6 %

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
(1) The address for each person named in the table is c/o Bisco Industries, Inc., 1500 North Lakeview Avenue,

Anaheim, CA 92807.
  
(2) Based on 4,861,590 shares outstanding as of November 1, 2013.
 
(3) Includes (i) 4,775,895 shares held directly by Mr. Ceiley; (ii) 6,000 shares held by Mr. Ceiley’s wife;

(iii) 6,398 shares held by the Bisco Industries Profit Sharing and Savings Plan (the “Bisco Plan”); (iv) 2,267 shares
held in his IRA; and (v) 40,000 shares issuable upon conversion of the 36,000 shares of Series A Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock (not including any dividends accrued but not yet paid) held by Mr. Ceiley. Mr. Ceiley
has the sole power to vote and dispose of the shares of common stock he owns individually and the shares
owned by the Bisco Plan. Mr. Ceiley is the Chief Executive Officer and the sole director of Bisco. Mr. Ceiley
disclaims beneficial ownership of the shares held by the Bisco Plan except to the extent of his pecuniary interest
therein.

 
Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions and Director Independence
 
Certain Relationships and Related Transactions
 
Since September 1, 2011, except as described below or under Item 11 (Executive Compensation), there has not
been, nor is there any proposed transaction, where we (or any of our subsidiaries) were or will be a party in which
the amount involved exceeded or will exceed the lesser of $120,000 or one percent of the average of the
Company’s total assets at year end for the last two fiscal years and in which any director, director nominee,
executive officer, holder of more than 5% of any class of our voting securities, or any member of the immediate
family of any of the foregoing persons had or will have a direct or indirect material interest.
 
The Company leases three buildings under operating lease agreements from its CEO and majority shareholder, Glen
Ceiley. During the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company paid approximately $592,000 and $548,000,
respectively, in rent with respect to these leases.
 
Director Independence
 
The Company’s Board consists of the following directors: Stephen Catanzaro, Glen Ceiley, Jay Conzen and William L.
Means. The Board has determined that three of its four directors, Stephen Catanzaro, Jay Conzen and William L.
Means, are independent as defined by the NASDAQ Stock Market’s Marketplace Rules.  In addition to such rules, the
Board considered transactions and relationships between each director (and his immediate family) and the
Company to determine whether any such relationships or transactions were inconsistent with a determination that
the director is independent.  As a result, the Board determined that Mr. Ceiley is not independent, as he is an
employee of Bisco and member of Bisco’s steering committee.  Bisco’s steering committee handles the day to day
operations of the Company, and Mr. Ceiley has been intimately involved with decision-making that directly affects the
financial statements of the Company.
 
Currently, the members of the Audit Committee are Messrs. Catanzaro, Conzen (Chairman) and Means.
 
Item 14.  Principal Accounting Fees and Services
 
Audit Committee Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures
 
The Audit Committee is required to pre-approve all auditing services and permissible non-audit services, including
related fees and terms, to be performed for the Company by its independent auditor, subject to the de minimus
exceptions for non-audit services described under the Exchange Act, which are approved by the Audit Committee
prior to the completion of the audit. The Audit Committee also considers whether the provision by its independent
accounting firm of any non-audit related services is compatible with maintaining the independence of such firm. For
fiscal 2013 and fiscal 2012, the Audit Committee pre-approved all services performed for the Company by the
auditor.
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Audit Fees
 
The aggregate fees billed by Squar, Milner, Peterson, Miranda & Williamson, LLP (“Squar Milner”), the Company’s
independent accounting firm for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 for professional services rendered for
the audit of such financial statements and for the reviews of the unaudited financial statements included in the
Company’s quarterly reports on Form 10-Q for the quarters ended during the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012
were $170,000 and $165,000, respectively.
 
Audit-Related Fees
 
The Company was not billed any audit-related fees by Squar Milner for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012.
 
Tax Fees
 
The Company was not billed any fees by Squar Milner for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 for professional
services rendered for tax compliance, tax advice or tax planning.
 
All Other Fees
 
The Company was not billed any fees by Squar Milner for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 for products
and services provided to the Company, other than for the services described above.
   

PART IV
 
Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules
 
(a)  The financial statements listed below and commencing on the pages indicated are incorporated herein by
reference and filed as part of this report on Form 10-K.
 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
    
Consolidated Balance sheets as of August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-2
    
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-3
    
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-4
    
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-5
    
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-6
    
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements F-7
    
Schedule II – Valuation and Qualifying Accounts  
 
(b) The exhibits listed in the accompanying “Exhibit Index” immediately following the financial statements are filed
herewith or incorporated by reference as indicated.

 
 
21

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
 

SIGNATURES
 
Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly
caused this report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
 
 EACO Corporation
  
November 29, 2013 /s/ Glen Ceiley
 By: Glen Ceiley
 Its: Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer
 (principal executive officer and

principal financial officer)
   
Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed by the following
persons on behalf of the Registrant in the capacities and on the date indicated.
   

Signature  Title  Date
     

/s/ Glen F. Ceiley  Chairman of the Board and Chief Executive Officer  11/29/13
Glen F. Ceiley  (principal executive officer and

principal financial officer)
  

     
/s/ Michael Bains  Controller (principal accounting officer)  11/29/13

Michael Bains     
     

/s/ Steve Catanzaro  Director  11/29/13
Steve Catanzaro     

     
/s/ Jay Conzen  Director  11/29/13

Jay Conzen     
     

/s/ William Means  Director  11/29/13
William Means     
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INDEX TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

 
Report of Independent Registered Public Accounting Firm F-1
Consolidated Balance Sheets as of August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-2
Consolidated Statements of Operations for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-3
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 F-4
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

 
The Board of Directors and Shareholders
EACO Corporation
Anaheim, California
 
We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries (the
“Company”) as of August 31, 2013 and 2012 and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive
income, shareholders' equity, and cash flows for the years then ended. These financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company's management.  Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial
statements based on our audits.
 
We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board
(United States).  Those standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the financial statements are free of material misstatement.  The Company is not required to have, nor were
we engaged to perform, an audit of its internal control over financial reporting.  Our audits included consideration of
internal control over financial reporting as a basis for designing audit procedures that were appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Company’s internal
control over financial reporting.  Accordingly, we express no such opinion.  An audit also includes examining, on a
test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements, assessing the accounting
principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall financial statement
presentation.  We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.
 
In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
financial position of EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries as of August 31, 2013 and 2012 and the results of their
operations and their cash flows for the years then ended, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting
principles.
 
/s/ Squar, Milner, Peterson, Miranda and Williamson, LLP
 
Newport Beach, California
November 29, 2013
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EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Balance Sheets
(in thousands, except share and per share information)

 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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  August 31,  August 31,  
  2013  2012  
ASSETS        
Current Assets:        

Cash and cash equivalents  $ 1,507  $ 2,568  
Trade accounts receivable, net   14,438   13,972  
Inventory, net   14,272   12,189  
Marketable securities, trading   1,395   197  
Prepaid expenses and other current assets   598   464  
Assets held for sale   460   1,860  
Deferred tax asset, current   21   290  

Total current assets   32,691   31,540  
        
Non-current Assets:        

Restricted cash   548   548  
Real estate properties held for leasing, net   7,283   7,914  
Equipment and leasehold improvements, net   1,396   1,106  
Deferred tax asset   1,712   2,111  
Other assets, principally deferred charges, net of
    accumulated amortization   850   1,110  

Total assets  $ 44,480  $ 44,329  
        
LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS’ EQUITY        
        
Current Liabilities:        

Trade accounts payable  $ 9,315  $ 9,519  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   2,880   2,482  
Liabilities of discontinued operations – short-term   146   146  
Liabilities of assets held for sale   362   1,575  
Current portion of long-term debt   172   463  

Total current liabilities   12,875   14,815  
        
Non-current Liabilities:        

Liabilities of discontinued operations – long-term   2,410   2,567  
Deposit liability   87   147  
Long-term debt   11,397   12,537  

Total liabilities   26,769   29,436  
        
Shareholders’ Equity:        
Convertible preferred stock, $0.01 par value per share;
    authorized 10,000,000 shares; 36,000 shares outstanding
    at August 31, 2013 and 2012 (liquidation value $900)

 
 1

 
 1

 

Common stock, $0.01 par value per share; authorized
    8,000,000 shares; 4,861,590 shares outstanding at August
    31, 2013 and 2012

 
 49

 
 49

 

Additional paid-in capital   12,378   12,378  
Accumulated other comprehensive income   820   478  
Retained earnings   4,463   1,987  
Total shareholders’ equity   17,711   14,893  

Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity  $ 44,480  $ 44,329  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

(in thousands, except per share amounts)
 

 
 See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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  Year Ended  Year Ended August  
  August 31, 2013  31, 2012  
Revenues  $ 120,432  $ 114,634  
Cost of revenues   86,600   82,664  
Gross margin   33,832   31,970  
        
Operating expenses:        

Selling, general and administrative expenses   30,132   27,648  
Total operating expenses   30,132   27,648  
Income from operations   3,700   4,322  
        
Other non-operating income (expense):        

Income on sale of trading securities   10   287  
Unrealized gain on trading securities   5   207  
Gain on sale of assets   730   –  
Interest expense, net   (584)  (717) 

        
Income before income taxes   3,861   4,099  
Provision for income taxes   1,309   1,679  
Net income   2,552   2,420  
        
Cumulative preferred stock dividend   (76)  (76) 
        
Net income available to common shareholders  $ 2,476  $ 2,344  
        
Basic and diluted net income per share:  $ 0.51  $ 0.48  
        
Basic and diluted weighted average common shares outstanding   4,861,590   4,861,590  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Income
(in thousands)

   

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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  Year Ended  Year Ended  
  August 31, 2013  August 31, 2012  
Net income  $ 2,552  $ 2,420  
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax:        

Foreign translation gain (loss)   342   (76) 
        
Total comprehensive income  $ 2,894  $ 2,344  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity (Deficit)
For the Years Ended August 31, 2013 and 2012

(in thousands, except share information)
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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 Convertible

Preferred Stock  Common Stock  
Additional

Paid-in  

Accumulated
Other

Comprehensive  
Accumulated

Earnings  
Total

Shareholder
 

  Shares  Amount  Shares  Amount  Capital  Income  (Deficit)  Equity  
Balance, August 31, 2011  36,000   1  4,861,590   49   12,378   554   (376)  12,606  
                        
Preferred dividends                   (57)  (57) 
Net income                   2,420   2,420  
Comprehensive income:                        

Foreign translation loss                (76)     (76) 
Comprehensive income                      2,344  

Balance, August 31, 2012  36,000  $ 1  4,861,590  $ 49  $ 12,378  $ 478  $ 1,987  $ 14,893  
                        
Preferred dividends                   (76)  (76) 
Net income                   2,552   2,552  
Comprehensive income:                        

Foreign translation gain                342      342  
Comprehensive income                      2,894  

Balance, August 31, 2013  36,000  $ 1  4,861,590  $ 49  $ 12,378  $ 820  $ 4,463  $ 17,711  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
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EACO Corporation and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

(in thousands)
 

 
See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

 
 

F-6

  Year Ended  Year Ended  
  August 31,  August 31,  
  2013  2012  
        
Operating activities:        
Net income  $ 2,552  $ 2,420  
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided
    by (used in) operating activities:        

Depreciation and amortization   616   807  
Bad debt expense   137   200  
Change in inventory reserve   (48)  204  
Gain on sale of assets   (730)  —  
Net gain on trading securities   (15)  (494) 

(Increase) decrease in:        
Trade accounts receivable   (602)  (1,824) 
Inventory   (2,035)  (1,004) 
Prepaid expenses and other assets   (93)  (124) 
Deferred tax asset   667   1,284  

Increase (decrease) in:        
Trade accounts payable   50   1,405  
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities   398   157  
Deposit liability   (60)  —  
Liabilities of discontinued operations   (157)  (142) 

Net cash provided by operating activities   680   2,889  
        
Investing activities:        

Purchase of property and equipment   (756)  (573) 
(Purchase) sale of trading securities   (1,183)  1,189  
Proceeds from sale of assets   2,830   —  
Change in restricted cash   —   84  

Net cash provided by investing activities   891   700  
        
Financing activities:        

Net payments on revolving credit facility   (971)  (1,050) 
Bank overdraft   (254)  (427) 
Payment of preferred dividend   (76)  (57) 
Payments on long-term debt   (1,673)  (779) 

Net cash used in financing activities   (2,974)  (2,313) 
Effect of foreign currency exchange rate changes
    on cash and cash equivalents   342   (76) 

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equivalents   (1,061)  1,200  
        

Cash and cash equivalents - beginning of period   2,568   1,368  
Cash and cash equivalents - end of period  $ 1,507  $ 2,568  

        
Supplemental disclosures of cash flow information:        

Cash paid for interest  $ 815  $ 742  
Cash paid for taxes  $ 276  $ 451  

Supplemental disclosures of noncash investing and financing activities:        
Note receivable issued in connection with sale of real estate properties  $ 350  $ —  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
EACO CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
August 31, 2013 and 2012

 
Note 1.  Organization and Basis of Presentation
 
EACO Corporation (“EACO”) is a holding company, the primary asset of which is its wholly-owned subsidiary, Bisco
Industries, Inc. (“Bisco”). Bisco is a distributor of electronic components and fasteners with 45 sales offices and six
distribution centers located throughout the United States and Canada. Bisco supplies parts used in the manufacture
of products in a broad range of industries, including the aerospace, circuit board, communication, computer,
fabrication, instrumentation, industrial equipment and marine industries.
 
Organization and Merger with Bisco Industries, Inc.
 
EACO was incorporated in the State of Florida in September 1985. From the inception of EACO through June 2005,
EACO’s business consisted of operating restaurants in the State of Florida.  On June 29, 2005, EACO sold all of its
operating restaurants (the “Asset Sale”) including sixteen restaurant businesses, premises, equipment and other
assets used in restaurant operations.   The only remaining activity of the restaurant operations relates to the
workers’ compensation claim liability, which is presented as liabilities of discontinued operations on the Company’s
balance sheets. After the Asset Sale and prior to the acquisition of Bisco (described below), EACO’s operations
principally consisted of managing five real estate properties held for leasing located in Florida and California. On
March 24, 2010, EACO completed the acquisition of Bisco Industries, Inc. (“Bisco”), a company under the common
control of EACO’s majority shareholder (Glen Ceiley).
 
Use of Estimates
 
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States of America (“GAAP”) requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the reporting periods.  These estimates
include allowance for doubtful trade accounts receivable, slow moving and obsolete inventory reserves,
recoverability of the carrying value and estimated useful lives of long-lived assets, workers’ compensation liability
and the valuation allowance against deferred tax assets.  Actual results could differ from those estimates.
 
Principles of Consolidation  
   
The consolidated financial statements for all periods presented include the accounts of EACO, its wholly-owned
subsidiary, Bisco Industries, Inc., and Bisco’s wholly-owned Canadian subsidiary, Bisco Industries Limited (which are
collectively referred to herein as the “Company”, “we”, “us” and “our”). All significant intercompany transactions and
balances have been eliminated in consolidation.  

Note 2.  Significant Accounting Policies
 
Cash and Cash Equivalents
 
The Company considers all highly liquid investments with an original maturity of three months or less when
purchased to be cash equivalents.
 
Restricted Cash
 
The State of Florida Division of Workers’ Compensation (the “Division”) requires self-insured companies to pledge
collateral in favor of the Division in an amount sufficient to cover the projected outstanding liability. In compliance with
this requirement, the Company pledged three irrevocable letters of credit totaling $ 2,855,000 as of August 31, 2012.
In November 2012, the Division lowered the required collateral required by the Company to $ 2,713,000. These letters
are secured by certificates of deposits, totaling $548,000 at August 31, 2013 and 2012, and the Sylmar Property.
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Trade Accounts Receivable
 
Trade accounts receivable are carried at original invoice amount, less an estimate for an allowance for doubtful
accounts. Management determines the allowance for doubtful accounts by identifying probable credit losses in the
Company’s accounts receivable and reviewing historical data to estimate the collectability on items not yet
specifically identified as problem accounts. Trade accounts receivable are written off when deemed uncollectible.
Recoveries of trade accounts receivable previously written off are recorded when received. A trade account
receivable is considered past due if any portion of the receivable balance is outstanding for more than 30 days. The
Company does not charge interest on past due balances. The allowance for doubtful accounts was $ 183,000 and
$273,000 at August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
 
Inventories
 
Inventories consist primarily of electronic fasteners and components, and are stated at the lower of cost or
estimated market value. Cost is determined using the average cost method. Inventories are presented net of a
reserve for slow moving or obsolete items of $924,000 and $972,000 at August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The
reserve is based upon management’s review of inventories on-hand over their expected future utilization and length
of time held by the Company.
 
Real Estate Properties Held for Leasing
 
Real estate properties held for leasing are stated at cost, net of accumulated depreciation. Maintenance, repairs
and betterments which do not enhance the value or increase the life of the assets are expensed as incurred.
Depreciation is provided for financial reporting purposes principally on the straight-line method over the following
estimated useful lives: buildings and improvements - 25 years; land improvements - 25 years; and equipment – 3 to 8
years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the estimated useful life of the asset or remaining lease term,
whichever is less.
 
The Company classifies real estate properties as assets held for sale when the following conditions are present: a)
management, having the authority to approve the action, commits to a plan to sell the asset, b) the asset is available
for immediate sale in its present condition, c) an active program to complete the plan of sale has been initiated, d)
the sale of the asset is probable, e) the assets is being marketed for sale at a price that is reasonable in relation to
its current fair value and f) it is unlikely that significant changes to the plan will be made or the plan will be withdrawn.
 
Equipment and Leasehold Improvements
 
Equipment and leasehold improvements not used in conjunction with real estate properties are stated at cost net of
accumulated amortization. Depreciation on equipment is calculated on the straight-line method over the estimated
useful lives of the assets, ranging from five to seven years. Leasehold improvements are amortized over the
estimated useful life of the asset or the remaining lease term, whichever is less.
 
Maintenance and repairs are charged to expense as incurred. Renewals and improvements of a major nature are
capitalized. At the time of retirement or disposition of property and equipment, the cost and accumulated
depreciation or amortization are removed from the accounts and any gains or losses are reflected in earnings.
 
Long-Lived Assets
 
Long-lived assets (principally real estate, equipment and leasehold improvements) are reviewed for impairment
whenever events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be
recoverable.  For purposes of the impairment review, real estate properties are reviewed on an asset-by-asset
basis.  Recoverability of real estate property assets is measured by a comparison of the carrying amount of each
operating property and related assets to future net cash flows expected to be generated by such assets.  For
measuring recoverability of remaining assets, long-lived assets are grouped with other assets to the lowest level for
which identifiable cash flows are largely independent of the cash flows of other groups of assets and liabilities. If
assets are considered to be impaired, the impairment to be recognized is measured by the amount by which the
carrying amount of the assets exceeds their estimated fair values. 
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Marketable Securities, Trading
 
The Company invests in marketable trading securities which include long and short positions in equity securities.
Short positions represent securities sold, not yet purchased. Short sales result in obligations to purchase securities
at a later date.
 
These securities are stated at fair value, which is determined using the quoted closing or latest bid prices at each
reporting date. Realized gains and losses on investment transactions are determined by the average cost method
and are recognized as incurred in the statements of operations. Net unrealized gains and losses are reported in the
statements of operations and represent the change in the market value of investment holdings during the period. At
August 31, 2013 and 2012, marketable securities consisted of equity securities (including stock options) of publicly-
held domestic companies.
 
As of August 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company had no outstanding short sale positions.
 
The Company recognized unrealized gains on trading securities of $ 5,000 and $207,000 for the years ended August
31, 2013 and 2012, respectively. The Company recognized realized gains on trading securities of $ 10,000 and
$287,000 for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
 
Revenue Recognition
 
Management generally recognizes revenue at the time of product shipment, as the Company’s shipping terms are
FOB shipping point. Revenue is considered to be realized or realizable and earned when there is persuasive
evidence of a sales arrangement in the form of an executed contract or purchase order, the product has been
shipped, the sales price is fixed or determinable, and collectability is reasonably assured.
 
The Company leases its real estate properties to tenants under operating leases with terms exceeding one
year.  Some of these leases contain scheduled rent increases.  We record rent revenue for leases which contain
scheduled rent increases on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Revenues recognized in connection with
its real estate held for leasing were immaterial to the overall financial statements.
 
Income Taxes
 
Deferred taxes on income result from temporary differences between the reporting of income for financial statement
and tax reporting purposes. A valuation allowance related to a deferred tax asset is recorded when it is more likely
than not that some or all of the deferred tax asset will not be realized.
 
We provide tax contingencies, if any, for federal, state, local and international exposures relating to audit results, tax
planning initiatives and compliance responsibilities. The development of these reserves requires judgments about
tax issues, potential outcomes and timing. Although the outcome of these tax audits is uncertain, in management’s
opinion adequate provisions for income taxes have been made for potential liabilities emanating from these
reviews. If actual outcomes differ materially from these estimates, they could have a material impact on our results
of operations.
 
Freight and Shipping/Handling
 
Shipping and handling expenses are included in cost of goods sold, and were approximately $ 2,257,000 and
$2,157,000 for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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Leases
 
Certain of the Company’s leases for its sales offices and distribution centers provide for minimum annual payments
that adjust over the life of the lease. The aggregate minimum annual payments are expensed on the straight-line
basis over the minimum lease term. The Company recognizes a deferred rent liability for rent escalations when the
amount of straight-line rent exceeds the lease payments, and reduces the deferred rent liability when the lease
payments exceed the straight-line rent expense.
 
Earnings Per Common Share
 
Basic earnings per common share for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 were computed based on the
weighted average number of common shares outstanding. Diluted earnings per share for those periods have been
computed based on the weighted average number of common shares outstanding, giving effect to all potentially
dilutive common shares that were outstanding during the respective periods. Potentially dilutive common shares
represent 40,000 common shares issuable upon conversion of 36,000 shares of convertible preferred stock, which
were outstanding at August 31, 2013 and 2012. Such securities are excluded from the weighted average shares
outstanding used to calculate diluted earnings per common share for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 as
their inclusion would be anti-dilutive since the conversion price was greater than the average market price of the
Company’s common stock during these periods.
 
Foreign Currency Translation and Transactions
 
Assets and liabilities recorded in functional currencies other than the U.S. dollar (Canadian dollars for the Company’s
Canadian subsidiary) are translated into U.S. dollars at the period-end rate of exchange. Revenue and expenses are
translated at the weighted-average exchange rates for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012. The resulting
translation adjustments are charged or credited directly to accumulated other comprehensive income or loss. The
average exchange rates for the years ended August 31, 2013 and August 31, 2012 were $ 0.95 and $1.01,

respectively.
 
Concentrations
 
Financial instruments that subject the Company to credit risk include cash balances in excess of federal depository
insurance limits and accounts receivable. Cash accounts maintained by the Company at U.S. and Canadian financial
institutions are insured by the Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation and Canadian Deposit Insurance Corporation,
respectively. A significant portion of the Company’s cash was held by its Canadian subsidiary. The Company has not
experienced any losses in such accounts.
 
Net sales to customers outside the United States and related trade accounts receivable were approximately 7%
and 5% of total sales and trade accounts receivable, respectively, at August 31, 2013, and 7% and 4%, respectively,
at August 31, 2012. No single customer accounted for more than 10% of total revenues for either of the years ended
August 31, 2013 or 2012, respectively.
 
Total assets held outside the United States comprised 6% and 7% as of August 31, 2013 and 2012.
 
Estimated Fair Value of Financial Instruments and Certain Nonfinancial Assets and Liabilities
 
The Company’s financial instruments other than its marketable securities include cash and cash equivalents, trade
accounts receivable, prepaid expenses, security deposits, trade accounts payable, line of credit, accrued expenses
and long-term debt. Management believes that the fair value of these financial instruments approximate their
carrying amounts based on current market indicators, such as prevailing interest rates. The Company’s marketable
securities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis (see Note 14).
 
During the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company did not have any nonfinancial assets or liabilities
that were measured at estimated fair value on a recurring or nonrecurring basis.
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Reclassifications
 
The Company reclassified certain prior year financial statement components to conform to the current year
presentation. For the year ended August 31, 2013, the Company no longer reported the real estate held for leasing
segment separately, as the results were immaterial to the overall financial statement presentation.  

Note 3. Real Estate Properties Held for Leasing
 
Real estate properties held for leasing are as follows:
 

 
The two properties are located in Sylmar, California and consist of two industrial properties with 65,000 total square
feet. For the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, depreciation expense relating to these properties was
$173,000 and $311,000, respectively.
 
On January 2013, the Company sold its Deland Property for $ 1,100,000. The Company received $750,000 in cash and
a two year note receivable at 7% interest payable in 24 installments on the remaining $350,000.  The sale of this
property resulted in a net gain of approximately $490,000. The total outstanding balance of the note receivable at
August 31, 2013 of $267,000 has been included on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as other current
assets and other assets of $175,000 and $92,000, respectively. The associated land, buildings and improvements
and related liabilities were classified as assets held for sale and liabilities of assets held for sale on the
accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2012 .

 
In April 2013, the Company sold its Brooksville Property for $ 1,730,000. The sale of this property resulted in a net
gain of approximately $240,000. The associated land, buildings and improvements and related liabilities were
classified as assets held for sale and liabilities of assets held for sale on the accompanying consolidated balance
sheets as of August 31, 2012 .

 
In October 2013, the Company sold its Orange Park Property for $ 1,138,500. As such, the associated land, buildings
and improvements and related liabilities were reclassified as assets held for sale and liabilities of assets held for
sale, respectively, on the accompanying consolidated balance sheets as of August 31, 2013 and August 31, 2012.
 
Additionally, the gross profit from rental operations relating to the Deland, Brooksville and Orange Park properties
were classified as selling, general and administrative expenses in the accompanying consolidated statements of
operations, as such amounts were considered immaterial for separate presentation as discontinued operations.
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  August 31, 2013  August 31,
2012  

Land  $ 4,623,000  4,781,000  
Buildings & improvements   3,862,000  4,212,000  
Equipment   12,000  615,000  

Total   8,497,000  9,608,000  
Accumulated depreciation   (1,214,000) (1,694,000) 
Book value  $ 7,283,000  7,914,000  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
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The following table shows the future minimum rentals due under non-cancelable operating leases in effect at August
31, 2013:
 

Note 4.   Equipment and Leasehold Improvements
 
Equipment and leasehold improvements are summarized as follows:
 

 
For the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, depreciation expense was $ 443,000.

Note 5. Line of Credit
 
The Company has a revolving credit agreement with Community Bank, which currently provides for borrowings of up
to $10.0 million and bears interest at either the 30, 60 or 90 day London Inter-Bank Offered Rate (“LIBOR”) (the 90
day LIBOR at August 31, 2013 and 2012 was 0.26% and 0.43%, respectively) plus 1.75% and/or the bank’s reference
rate (3.25% at August 31, 2013 and 2012).  Borrowings are secured by substantially all assets of the Company and
are guaranteed by the Company’s Chief Executive Officer, Chairman of the Board and majority shareholder Glen F.
Ceiley. The agreement, as amended in March 2013, expires in March 2015. The amount outstanding under this line of
credit as of August 31, 2013 and 2012 was $ 6,479,000 and $7,450,000, respectively. Availability under the line of
credit was $3,521,000 and $2,550,000 at August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
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  Total  
Years ending August 31,     
2014  $ 639,000  
2015   367,000  
2016   378,000  
2017   389,000  
2018   401,000  
Thereafter   101,000  

  $ 2,275,000  

  August 31, 2013  August 31, 2012  
Machinery and equipment  $ 4,584,000  $ 4,293,000  
Furniture and equipment   793,000   687,000  
Vehicles   138,000   121,000  
Leasehold improvements   1,463,000   1,164,000  
   6,978,000   6,265,000  
Less accumulated depreciation and amortization   (5,582,000)  (5,159,000) 
        
  $ 1,396,000  $ 1,106,000  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
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Note 6.   Long-Term Debt
 
Long-term debt is summarized as follows:
 

 
The scheduled payments for the above loans are as follows at August 31, 2013:
 

 
Additionally, the Company had certain long–term debt relating to real estate held for sale, summarized as follows:
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  August 31,  August 31,  
  2013  2012  
        
Note payable to Community Bank, secured by the Company’s
    Sylmar property, monthly principal and interest payment totaling
    $39,700, interest at 6.0%, due December 2017

 
 5,035,000

 
 5,252,000

 

Line of credit payable to Community Bank   6,479,000   7,450,000  
Note payable to Community Bank, secured by all Company assets,
    monthly principal and interest payment totaling $43,083, interest at the
    prime rate (3.25% at August 31, 2012), due March 2013

 
 —

 
 298,000

 

Note payable to BMW Bank of North America, secured by automobile,
    monthly principal and interest payments totaling $901, interest at 0.9%,
    due June 2018

 
 55,000

 
 —

 

   11,569,000   13,000,000  
Less current portion   (172,000)  (463,000) 
  $ 11,397,000  $ 12,537,000  

  Year Ending August 31,  
2014  $ 172,000  
2015   6,668,000  
2016   201,000  
2017   213,000  
2018   4,315,000  

  $ 11,569,000  

  August 31,  August 31,  
  2013  2012  
        
Note payable to GE Capital Franchise Finance Corporation (“GE
    Capital”), secured by real estate, monthly principal and interest
    payments totaling $10,400, interest at thirty-day LIBOR rate +3.75%
    (minimum interest rate of 7.3%), due December 2016

 

$ 362,000

 

$ 462,000

 

Note payable to Zions Bank, secured by real estate, monthly principal and
    interest payment totaling $8,402, interest at 6.7%, paid off in full in
    January 2013.

 
$ -

 
$ 1,113,000
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The Company was in compliance with all related covenants at August 31, 2013.
 
On November 18, 2013, the Company renegotiated the note payable to Community Bank, secured by the Company’s
Sylmar property. Effective October 1, 2013 the Company’s interest rate on that loan was lowered to 3.75% from 6%.
The rate is fixed and will remain in force for the duration of the Company’s note which is due in March 2017.

Note 7.  Shareholders’ Equity
 
Earnings Per Common Share
 
The following is a reconciliation of the numerators and denominators used in the basic and diluted computations of
earnings per common share:
 

 
Preferred Stock
 
The Company's Board of Directors is authorized to establish the various rights and preferences for the Company's
preferred stock, including voting, conversion, dividend and liquidation rights and preferences, at the time shares of
preferred stock are issued. In September 2004, the Company sold 36,000 shares of its Series A Cumulative
Convertible Non-Voting Preferred Stock (the “Preferred Stock”) to the Company’s CEO, with an 8.5% dividend rate at
a price of $25 per share for a total cash purchase price of $900,000.  Holders of the Preferred Stock have the right
at any time to convert the Preferred Stock and accrued but unpaid dividends into shares of the Company’s common
stock at the conversion price of $22.50 per share.   In the event of a liquidation or dissolution of the Company,
holders of the Preferred Stock are entitled to be paid out of the assets of the Company available for distribution to
shareholders $25 per share plus all unpaid dividends  before any payments are made to the holders of common
stock.

Note 8. Profit Sharing Plan
 
The Company has a defined contribution 401(k) profit sharing plan for all eligible employees. Employees are eligible
to contribute to the 401(k) plan after six months of employment. Under this plan, employees may contribute up to
15% of their compensation. The Company has the discretion to match 50% of the employee contributions up to 4% of
employees’ compensation. The Company’s contributions are subject to a five-year vesting period beginning the
second year of service. The Company’s contribution expense was approximately $ 184,000 and $161,000 for the
years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, respectively.
 
 

F-14

  For the Year Ended  For the Year Ended  
  August 31, 2013  August 31, 2012  
(In thousands, except per share information)        
        
EPS– basic and diluted:        

Net income  $ 2,552  $ 2,420  
Less: undeclared cumulative preferred stock dividends   (76)  (76) 

Net income available to common shareholders for basic and diluted EPS
computation   2,476   2,344  

        
Weighted average common shares outstanding for basic and diluted EPS
computation   4,861,590   4,861,590  

        
Earnings per common share – basic and diluted  $ 0.51  $ 0.48  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
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Note 9. Discontinued Operations
 
When the Company was active in the restaurant business, the Company self-insured losses for workers’
compensation claims up to certain limits. The Company exited the restaurant business in 2005. The liability for
workers’ compensation represents an estimate of the present value of the ultimate cost of uninsured losses which
are unpaid as of the balance sheet dates. This liability is presented as liabilities of discontinued operations in the
accompanying balance sheets. The estimate is continually reviewed and adjustments to the Company’s estimated
claim liability, if any, are reflected in discontinued operations. On a periodic basis, the Company obtains an actuarial
report which estimates its overall exposure based on historical claims and an evaluation of future claims. An
actuarial evaluation was last obtained by the Company as of August 31, 2013. As of August 31, 2013 and 2012, the
estimated claim liability was $2,556,000 and $2,713,000, respectively. 

Note 10.  Income Taxes
 
The following summarizes the Company’s provision for income taxes on income from continuing operations:
 

 
Income taxes for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 differ from the amounts computed by applying the
federal statutory corporate rate of 34% to the pre-tax income from continuing operations. The differences are
reconciled as follows:
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  For the Year Ended
August 31, 2013  For the Year Ended

August 31, 2012  

Current:        
Federal  $ 467,000  $ 62,000  
State   269,000   363,000  
Foreign   (94,000)  —  
   642,000   425,000  
        
Deferred:        
Federal   1,113,000   1,237,000  
State   (446,000)  29,000  
Foreign   —   (12,000) 
   667,000   1,254,000  
  $ 1,309,000  $ 1,679,000  

  For the Year Ended  For the Year Ended  
  August 31, 2013  August 31, 2012  
Current:        
Expected income tax at statutory rate  $ 1,335,000  $ 1,393,000  
Increase (decrease) in taxes due to:        
State tax, net of federal benefit   197,000   194,000  
Permanent differences   24,000   22,000  
Change in deferred tax asset valuation allowance   (2,392,000)  (261,000) 
Other, net   2,145,000   331,000  
Income tax expense  $ 1,309,000  $ 1,679,000  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
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The components of deferred taxes at August 31, 2013 and 2012 are summarized below:
 

 
At August 31, 2013, the Company has state net operating loss carryforwards (“NOLs”) of approximately $ 4.25 million,
which will begin to expire in 2017. The Company also had federal and state capital loss carryforwards of
approximately $3.48 million which are deductible only to the extent the Company has future capital gains.
 
In accordance with Sections 382 and 383 of the Internal Revenue Code, the utilization of Federal NOLs and other tax
attributes may be subject to substantial limitations if certain ownership changes occur during a three-year testing
period (as defined). Management has determined that the merger with Bisco does not limit the Company’s utilization
of its NOLs or credit carryovers.
 
The Company records net deferred tax assets to the extent management believes these assets will more likely than
not be realized.  In making such determination, the Company considers all available positive and negative evidence,
including scheduled reversals of deferred tax liabilities, projected future taxable income (if any), tax planning
strategies and recent financial performance.
 
Management reviewed the positive and negative evidence available at August 31, 2013 and 2012 and determined
that the capital loss carryforwards, unrealized losses on investments and certain of EACO’s state NOLs did not meet
the more likely than not threshold required to be recognized. As such a valuation allowance was retained on these
deferred tax assets.
 
The Company applies Accounting Standards Codification 740, Tax Provisions (“ASC 740”) for the accounting for
uncertainty in income taxes recognized in a company’s financial statements. ASC 740 prescribes a recognition
threshold and measurement attribute for financial statement recognition and measurement of a tax position taken or
expected to be taken in the tax return. The Company did not recognize any additional liability for unrecognized tax
benefit as a result of the implementation. The Company has no liability for unrecognized tax benefit related to tax
positions for the years ended August 31, 2013 or 2012.
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  August 31,  August 31,  
  2013  2012  
        
Deferred tax assets:        
Net operating loss  $ 432,000  $ 1,584,000  
Capital losses   1,344,000   3,351,000  
Allowance for doubtful accounts   49,000   89,000  
Accrued expenses   186,000   190,000  
Accrued worker’s compensation   987,000   1,048,000  
Related party interest accrual   —   —  
Inventory reserve   618,000   602,000  
Unrealized losses (gain) on investment   (37,000)  (4,000) 
Excess of tax over book depreciation   562,000   305,000  
Other   267,000   263,000  
Total deferred tax assets   4,368,000   7,428,000  
Valuation allowance   (1,495,000)  (3,887,000) 
   2,873,000   3,541,000  
        
Deferred tax liabilities:        
Deferred gains   (1,140,000)  (1,140,000) 
Total deferred tax liabilities   (1,140,000)  (1,140,000) 
        
Net deferred tax assets  $ 1,733,000  $ 2,401,000  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
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The Company will recognize interest and penalty related to unrecognized tax benefits and penalties as income tax
expense. As of August 31, 2013, the Company has not recognized liabilities for penalty and interest as the Company
does not have any liability for unrecognized tax benefits.
 
The Company is subject to taxation in the U.S., Canada and various states. The Company’s tax years for 2009, 2010,
2011 and 2012 are subject to examination by the taxing authorities. With few exceptions, the Company is no longer
subject to U.S. federal, state, local or foreign examinations by taxing authorities for years before 2009 .

Note 11. Commitments and Contingencies
 
Legal Matters
 
From time to time, we may be subject to legal proceedings and claims which arise in the normal course of our
business. Any such matters and disputes could be costly and time consuming, subject us to damages or equitable
remedies, and divert our management and key personnel from our business operations. We currently are not a party
to any legal proceedings, the adverse outcome of which, in management’s opinion, individually or in the aggregate,
would have a material adverse effect on our consolidated results of operations, financial position or cash flows
 
Lease Obligations
 
The Company leases its facilities under operating lease agreements (three of which are with its majority
shareholder), which expire on various dates through September 2016 and require minimum rental payments ranging
from $1,000 to $32,000 per month. Certain of the leases contain options for renewal under varying terms.

 
Minimum future rental payments under operating leases are as follows:
 

 
Rental expense for all operating leases for the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012 was approximately
$1,758,000 and $1,628,000, respectively.

Note 12. Related Party Transactions
 
The Company leases three buildings under operating lease agreements from its CEO and majority stockholder.
During the years ended August 31, 2013 and 2012, the Company incurred approximately $ 592,000 and $548,000,

respectively, of expense related to these leases.

Note 13. Fair Value of Financial Instruments
 
Management estimates the fair value of its assets or liabilities measured at fair value based on the three levels of
the fair-value hierarchy are described as follows:
 
Level 1: Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and liabilities. For the Company, Level 1
inputs include price and marketable securities that are actively traded.
 
Level 2: Inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly. At this time, the Company holds no
Level 2 financial instruments.
 
Level 3: Unobservable inputs .
 
 

F-17

Years ending August 31:     
2014  $ 1,430,000  
2015   1,153,000  
2016   683,000  
2017   220,000  
2018   180,000  
Thereafter   15,000  
  $ 3,681,000  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
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The following table sets forth by level, within the fair value hierarchy, certain assets at estimated fair value as of
August 31, 2013 and 2012:
 

Note 14. Subsequent Events
 
Management has evaluated events subsequent to August 31, 2013, through the date that these consolidated financial
statements are being filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission, for transactions and other events which
may require adjustment of and/or disclosure in such financial statements.
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  Quoted Prices in    Significant     
  Active Markets for  Significant Other  Unobservable     
  Identical Assets  Observable Inputs  Inputs     
  (Level 1)  (Level 2)  (Level 3)  Total  
August 31, 2013            
Marketable securities  $ 1,395,000  -  -  $ 1,395,000  
            
August 31, 2012            
Marketable securities  $ 197,000  -  -  $ 197,000  

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
EXHIBIT INDEX

Number  Exhibit
3.1  Articles of Incorporation of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit 3.01 to the Company's

Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 33-1887, is incorporated herein by reference.)
3.2  Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit

3.03 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 33-1887, is incorporated
herein by reference.)

3.3  Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit
3.04 to the Company's Registration Statement on Form S-1, Registration No. 33-17620, is incorporated
herein by reference.)

3.4  Amended and Restated Bylaws of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit 4 to the Company's
registration statement on Form 8-A, filed with the SEC on March 19, 1997, is incorporated herein by
reference.)

3.5  Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit
3.08 to the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 31, 1998, is
incorporated herein by reference.)

3.6  Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit 3.08 to
the Company's Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 15, 2000, is incorporated
herein by reference.)

3.7  Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc. (Exhibit
3.09 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on March 29, 2004 is
incorporated herein by reference.)

3.8  Articles of Amendment to the Articles of Incorporation of Family Steak Houses of Florida, Inc., changing
the name of the corporation to EACO Corporation. (Exhibit 3.10 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on
Form 10-Q filed with the SEC on September 3, 2004, is incorporated herein by reference.)

3.9  Articles of Amendment Designating the Preferences of Series A Cumulative Convertible Preferred Stock
$0.10 Par Value of EACO Corporation (Exhibit 3.1 to the Company's current report on Form 8-K filed
with the SEC on September 8, 2004, is incorporated herein by reference.)

3.10  Certificate of Amendment to Amended and Restated Bylaws effective December 21, 2009 (Exhibit 3.10
to the Company’s transition report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December 23, 2009 is
incorporated herein by reference.)

3.11  Articles of Amendment to Articles of Amendment Designating the Preferences of Series A Cumulative
Convertible Preferred Stock, as filed with the Secretary of State of the State of Florida on December
22, 2009 (Exhibit 3.11 to the Company’s transition report on Form 10-K filed with the SEC on December
23, 2009 is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.1  Amended and Restated Mortgage, Assignment of Rents and Leases, Security Agreement and Fixture
Filing dated October 9, 2002 between the Company and GE Capital Franchise Corporation (Exhibit 10.1
to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2012, is
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.2  Form of Consolidated, Amended and Restated Promissory Note between the Company and GE Capital
Franchise Finance Corporation. (Exhibit 10.02 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q filed
with the SEC on November 14, 2002, Registration No. 33-1887, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.3  Loan Agreement dated October 9, 2002 between the Company and GE Capital Franchise Finance
Corporation (Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on
November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.4  Environmental Indemnity Agreement dated October 9, 2002 between the Company and GE Capital
Franchise Finance Corporation (Exhibit 10.4 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with
the SEC on November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.5  Administrative Services Agreement dated March 3, 2006 by and between EACO Corporation and Bisco
Industries, Inc. (Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Transition Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on
December 23, 2009, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.6  Business Loan Agreement dated March 28, 2008 by and between EACO Corporation and Zions First
National Bank (Exhibit 10.7 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on
November 29, 2011, is incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.7  Promissory Note dated March 28, 2008 in the principal amount of $1,216,354 executed by EACO in

favor of Zions First National Bank (Exhibit 10.8 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with
the SEC on November 29, 2011, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.8  Commercial Guaranty dated March 28, 2008 executed by Glen Ceiley in favor of Zions First National
Bank (Exhibit 10.9 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 29,
2011, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.9  Business Loan Agreement dated November 9, 2007 by and between EACO Corporation and
Community Bank (Exhibit 10.10 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on
November 29, 2011, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.10  Promissory Note dated November 9, 2007 in the principal amount of $5,875,000 executed by EACO in
favor of Community Bank (Exhibit 10.11 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on November 29, 2011, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.11  Commercial Guaranties dated November 9, 2007 executed in favor of Community Bank by each of
Glen F. Ceiley, Bisco Industries, Inc. and the Glen F. Ceiley and Barbara A. Ceiley Revocable Trust
(Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 29, 2011,
is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.12  Commercial Contract effective September 26, 2012, as amended through October 2, 2012, by and
between EACO Corporation and Ka Bun Chan, relating to the sale of the real property located in
Brooksville, Florida (Exhibit 10.12 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on
November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.13  Business Loan Agreement dated June 1, 2007 by and between Bisco Industries, Inc. and Community
Bank (Exhibit 10.13 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26,
2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.14  Promissory Note dated November 15, 2000 executed by Bisco Industries, Inc. in favor of Community
Bank (Exhibit 10.14 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26,
2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.15  Change in Terms Agreements by and between Bisco Industries, Inc. and Community Bank dated May 1,
2001; July 1, 2001; September 1, 2001; October 19, 2001; April 30, 2002; June 17, 2002; August 28, 2002;
September 16, 2002; October 28, 2002; January 24, 2003; March 27, 2003; June 1, 2003; October 1,
2003; December 1, 2003; February 1, 2004; May 1, 2004; June 23, 2004; August 1, 2004; February 1,
2005; April 1, 2005; April 1, 2006; March 28, 2007; June 1, 2007; July 13, 2007; March 27, 2008; May 15,
2008; March 3, 2009; March 23, 2010; April 16, 2010; October 1, 2010; January 3, 2011; March 1, 2011;
May 10, 2012; and September 18, 2012 (Exhibit 10.15 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K,
filed with the SEC on November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.16  Commercial Security Agreement dated August 1, 2004 by Bisco Industries, Inc. in favor of Community
Bank (Exhibit 10.16 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26,
2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.17  Commercial Security Agreement dated March 23, 2010 by Bisco Industries, Inc. in favor of Community
Bank (Exhibit 10.17 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26,
2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.18  Commercial Security Agreement dated March 23, 2010 by Bisco Industries, Inc. in favor of Community
Bank.

10.19  Promissory Note dated March 10, 2011 in the principal amount of $1,000,000 executed by Bisco
Industries, Inc. in favor of Community Bank (Exhibit 10.18 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-
K, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.20  Commercial Guaranty dated May 1, 2004 executed by Glen F. Ceiley in favor of Community Bank
(Exhibit 10.19 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2012,
is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.21  Commercial Guaranty dated May 15, 2008 executed by the Glen F. Ceiley and Barbara A. Ceiley
Revocable Trust in favor of Community Bank (Exhibit 10.20 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form
10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.22  Commercial Guaranty dated March 23, 2010 executed by EACO Corporation in favor of Community
Bank (Exhibit 10.21 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the SEC on November 26,
2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)
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10.23  Commercial Lease dated May 1, 2001, as amended through August 30, 2011, by and between Glen

Ceiley and Bisco Industries (Exhibit 10.22 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on November 26, 2012, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.24  Purchase Agreement effective January 10, 2013 by and between EACO Corporation and Chens Family
Investments, LLC or assigns, relating to the sale of the real property located in Deland, Florida (Exhibit
10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on April 15, 2013, is
incorporated herein by reference.)

10.25  Promissory Note dated January 25, 2013 executed by Hao & Han, LLC in favor of EACO Corporation
and the related Personal Guaranty Agreements by Rui Zhu Zheng and Min Chen, relating to the real
property located in Deland, Florida (Exhibit 10.2 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed
with the SEC on April 15, 2013, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.26  Mortgage and Security Agreement dated January 25, 2013 executed by Hao & Han, LLC in favor of
EACO Corporation, relating to te real property located in Deland Florida (Exhibit 10.3 to the Company’s
Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q, filed with the SEC on April 15, 2013, is incorporated herein by
reference.)

10.27  Change in Terms Agreement by and between Bisco Industries, Inc. and Community Bank dated March
26, 2013, relating to the line of credit (Exhibit 10.1 to the Company’s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q,
filed with the SEC on July 15, 2013, is incorporated herein by reference.)

10.28  Amendments, effective January 8, 2013, March 7, 2013 and March 12, 2013, to Commercial Contract
dated September 26, 2012 by and between EACO Corporation and Ka Bun Chan relating to the sale of
the real property located in Brooksville, Florida.

10.29  Purchase Agreement effective August 5, 2013, as amended through September 9, 2013, by and
between EACO Corporation and WINLEE Property, Inc., relating to the sale of the real property located
in Orange Park, Florida.

10.30  Change in Terms Agreement by and between EACO Corporation and Community Bank dated November
12, 2013, modifying the Promissory Note dated November 9, 2007 relating to the real property in
Sylmar, California.

10.31  Commercial Guaranty dated November 12, 2013 executed by Glen F. Ceiley in favor of Community
Bank.

10.32  Commercial Guaranty dated November 12, 2013 executed by the Glen F. Ceiley and Barbara A. Ceiley
Revocable Trust in favor of Community Bank in favor of Community Bank.

10.33  Commercial Guaranty dated November 12, 2013 executed by Bisco Industries, Inc. in favor of
Community Bank.

21.1  Subsidiaries of the Company (Exhibit 21.1 to the Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, filed with the
SEC on November 29, 2011, is incorporated herein by reference.)

31.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer and principal financial officer)
pursuant to Securities and Exchange Act Rules 13a-14(a) and 15d-14(a) as adopted pursuant to
Section 302 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

32.1  Certification of Chief Executive Officer (principal executive officer and principal financial officer)
pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101.INS  XBRL Instance Document
101.SCH  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document
101.CAL  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document
101.DEF  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document
101.LAB  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document
101.PRE  XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document
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References in the boxes above are for Lender's use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to any particular loan or item. Any item above containing “•••” has been omitted
due to text length limitations.

 
Borrower: BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC.  Lender: COMMUNITY BANK
 1500 NORTH LAKEVIEW AVENUE   ANAHEIM BRANCH
 ANAHEIM, CA 92807   1750 S. STATE COLLEGE BLVD.
    ANAHEIM, CA 92806
Grantor: EACO CORPORATION   (800) 788-9999
 1500 N. LAKEVIEW AVENUE    
 ANAHEIM, CA 92807    
 
 
THIS COMMERCIAL SECURITY AGREEMENT dated March 23, 2010, is made and executed among EACO CORPORATION ("Grantor");
BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC. ("Borrower”); and COMMUNITY BANK ("Lender”).
 
GRANT OF SECURITY INTEREST. For valuable consideration, Grantor grants to Lender a security interest in the Collateral to secure the
Indebtedness and agrees that Lender shall have the rights stated in this Agreement with respect to the Collateral, in addition to all other rights
which Lender may have by law.
 
COLLATERAL DESCRIPTION. The word "Collateral” as used in this Agreement means the following described property, whether now owned or
hereafter acquired, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and wherever located, in which Grantor is giving to Lender a security interest for the payment of
the Indebtedness and performance of all other obligations under the Note and this Agreement:
 

All Inventory, Chattel Paper, Accounts, Equipment, Instruments and General Intangibles; whether any of the foregoing is owned now or
acquired later; all accessions, attachments, accessories, tools, parts, supplies, replacements of and additions to any of the collateral described
herein, whether added now or later; all products and produce of any of the property; all accounts, general intangibles, instruments, rents,
monies, payments, and all other rights, arising out of a sale, lease, or other disposition of any of the property; all proceeds (including
insurance proceeds) from the sale, destruction, loss, or other disposition of any of the property, and sums due from a third party who has
damaged or destroyed the collateral or from that party's insurer, whether due to judgment, settlement or other process; all records and data
relating to any of the property, whether in the form of a writing, photograph, microfilm, microfiche, or electronic media, together with all of
debtor's right, title, and interest in and to all computer software required to utilize, create, maintain, and process any such records or data
on electronic media

 
In addition, the word "Collateral" also includes all the following, whether now owned or hereafter acquired, whether now existing or hereafter arising, and
wherever located:
 

(A)   All accessions, attachments, accessories, tools, parts, supplies, replacements of and additions to any of the collateral described herein, whether
added now or later.

 
(B)   All products and produce of any of the property described in this Collateral section.

 
(C)   All accounts, general intangibles, instruments, rents, monies, payments, and all other rights, arising out of a sale, lease, consignment or other
disposition of any of the property described in this Collateral section.

 
(D)   All proceeds (including insurance proceeds) from the sale, destruction, loss, or other disposition of any of the property described in this Collateral
section, and sums due from a third party who has damaged or destroyed the Collateral or from that party's insurer, whether due to judgment, settlement
or other process.

 
(E)   All records and data relating to any of the property described in this Collateral section, whether in the form of a writing, photograph, microfilm,
microfiche, or electronic media, together with all of Grantor's right, title, and interest in and to all computer software required to utilize, create, maintain,
and process any such records or data on electronic media.

 
BORROWER’S WAIVERS AND RESPONSIBILITIES. Except as otherwise required under this Agreement or by applicable law, (A) Borrower agrees
that Lender need not tell Borrower about any action or inaction Lender takes in connection with this Agreement; (B) Borrower assumes the responsibility for
being and keeping informed about the Collateral; and (C) Borrower waives any defenses that may arise because of any action or inaction of Lender, including
without limitation any failure of Lender to realize upon the Collateral or any delay by Lender in realizing upon the Collateral; and Borrower agrees to remain
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liable under the Note no matter what action Lender takes or fails to take under this Agreement.
 
GRANTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Grantor warrants that: (A) this Agreement is executed at Borrower's request and not at the
request of Lender; (B) Grantor has the full right, power and authority to enter into this Agreement and to pledge the Collateral to Lender; (C) Grantor has
established adequate means of obtaining from Borrower on a continuing basis information about Borrower's financial condition; and (D) Lender has made no
representation to Grantor about Borrower or Borrower's creditworthiness.
 
GRANTOR'S WAIVERS. Grantor waives all requirements of presentment, protest, demand, and notice of dishonor or non-payment to Borrower or
Grantor, or any other party to the Indebtedness or the Collateral. Lender may do any of the following with respect to any obligation of any Borrower, without
first obtaining the consent of Grantor: (A)  grant any extension of time for any payment, (B) grant any renewal, (C) permit any modification of payment terms
or other terms, or (D) exchange or release any Collateral or other security. No such act or failure to act shall affect Lender's rights against Grantor or the
Collateral.
 
RIGHT OF SETOFF. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Lender reserves a right of setoff in all Grantor's accounts with Lender (whether checking,
savings, or some other account). This includes all accounts Grantor holds jointly with someone else and all accounts Grantor may open in the future.
However, this does not include any IRA or Keogh accounts, or any trust accounts for which setoff would be prohibited by law. Grantor authorizes Lender, to
the extent permitted by applicable law, to charge or setoff all sums owing on the Indebtedness against any and all such accounts.
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GRANTOR'S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES WITH RESPECT TO THE COLLATERAL. With respect to the Collateral, Grantor
represents and promises to Lender that:
 

Perfection of Security Interest.  Grantor agrees to take whatever actions are requested by Lender to perfect and continue Lender's security interest in the
Collateral. Upon request of Lender, Grantor will deliver to Lender any and all of the documents evidencing or constituting the Collateral, and Grantor will
note Lender's interest upon any and all chattel paper and instruments if not delivered to Lender for possession by Lender. This is a continuing Security
Agreement and will continue in effect even though all or any part of the Indebtedness is paid in full and even though for a period of time
Borrower may not be indebted to Lender.
 
Notices to Lender. Grantor will promptly notify Lender in writing at Lender’s address shown above (or such other addresses as Lender may designate
from time to time) prior to any (1) change in Grantor's name; (2) change in Grantor's assumed business name(s); (3) change in the management of the
Corporation Grantor; (4) change in the authorized signer(s); (5) change in Grantor's principal office address; (6) change in Grantor's state of organization;
(7) conversion of Grantor to a new or different type of business entity; or (8) change in any other aspect of Grantor that directly or indirectly relates to any
agreements between Grantor and Lender. No change in Grantor's name or state of organization will take effect until after Lender has received notice.
 
No Violation. The execution and delivery of this Agreement will not violate any law or agreement governing Grantor or to which Grantor is a party, and its
certificate or articles of incorporation and bylaws do not prohibit any term or condition of this Agreement.
 
Enforceability of Collateral. To the extent the Collateral consists of accounts, chattel paper, or general intangibles, as defined by the Uniform
Commercial Code, the Collateral is enforceable in accordance with its terms, is genuine, and fully complies with all applicable laws and regulations
concerning form, content and manner of preparation and execution, and all persons appearing to be obligated on the Collateral have authority and capacity
to contract and are in fact obligated as they appear to be on the Collateral. At the time any account becomes subject to a security interest in favor of Lender,
the account shall be a good and valid account representing an undisputed, bona fide indebtedness incurred by the account debtor, for merchandise held
subject to delivery instructions or previously shipped or delivered pursuant to a contract of sale, or for services previously performed by Grantor with or
for the account debtor. So long as this Agreement remains in effect, Grantor shall not, without Lender's prior written consent, compromise, settle, adjust,
or extend payment under or with regard to any such Accounts. There shall be no setoffs or counterclaims against any of the Collateral, and no agreement
shall have been made under which any deductions or discounts may be claimed concerning the Collateral except those disclosed to Lender in writing.
 
Location of the Collateral. Except in the ordinary course of Grantor's business, Grantor agrees to keep the Collateral (or to the extent the Collateral
consists of intangible property such as accounts or general intangibles, the records concerning the Collateral) at Grantor's address shown above or at such
other locations as are acceptable to Lender. Upon Lender's request, Grantor will deliver to Lender in form satisfactory to Lender a schedule of real
properties and Collateral locations relating to Grantor's operations, including without limitation the following: (1) all real property Grantor owns or is
purchasing; (2) all real property Grantor is renting or leasing; (3) all storage facilities Grantor owns, rents, leases, or uses; and (4) all other properties
where Collateral is or may be located.
 
Removal of the Collateral. Except in the ordinary course of Grantor's business, including the sales of inventory, Grantor shall not remove the Collateral
from its existing location without Lender's prior written consent. To the extent that the Collateral consists of vehicles, or other titled property, Grantor shall
not take or permit any action which would require application for certificates of title for the vehicles outside the State of Florida, without Lender's prior
written consent. Grantor shall, whenever requested, advise Lender of the exact location of the Collateral.
 
Transactions Involving Collateral. Except for inventory sold or accounts collected in the ordinary course of Grantor's business, or as otherwise
provided for in this Agreement, Grantor shall not sell, offer to sell, or otherwise transfer or dispose of the Collateral. While Grantor is not in default under
this Agreement, Grantor may sell inventory, but only in the ordinary course of its business and only to buyers who qualify as a buyer in the ordinary
course of business. A sale in the ordinary course of Grantor's business does not include a transfer in partial or total satisfaction of a debt or any bulk sale.
Grantor shall not pledge, mortgage, encumber or otherwise permit the Collateral to be subject to any lien, security interest, encumbrance, or charge, other
than the security interest provided for in this Agreement, without the prior written consent of Lender. This includes security interests even if junior in right
to the security interests granted under this Agreement. Unless waived by Lender, all proceeds from any disposition of the Collateral (for whatever reason)
shall be held in trust for Lender and shall not be commingled with any other funds; provided however, this requirement shall not constitute consent by
Lender to any sale or other disposition. Upon receipt, Grantor shall immediately deliver any such proceeds to Lender.
 
Title. Grantor represents and warrants to Lender that Grantor holds good and marketable title to the Collateral, free and clear of all liens and
encumbrances except for the lien of this Agreement. No financing statement covering any of the Collateral is on file in any public office other than those
which reflect the security interest created by this Agreement or to which Lender has specifically consented. Grantor shall defend Lender's rights in the
Collateral against the claims and demands of all other persons.
 
Repairs and Maintenance. Grantor agrees to keep and maintain, and to cause others to keep and maintain, the Collateral in good order, repair and
condition at all times while this Agreement remains in effect. Grantor further agrees to pay when due all claims for work done on, or services rendered or
material furnished in connection with the Collateral so that no lien or encumbrance may ever attach to or be filed against the Collateral.
 
Inspection of Collateral. Lender and Lender's designated representatives and agents shall have the right at all reasonable times to examine and inspect the
Collateral wherever located.
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Taxes, Assessments and Liens. Grantor will pay when due all taxes, assessments and liens upon the Collateral, its use or operation, upon this
Agreement, upon any promissory note or notes evidencing the Indebtedness, or upon any of the other Related Documents. Grantor may withhold any such
payment or may elect to contest any lien if Grantor is in good faith conducting an appropriate proceeding to contest the obligation to pay and so long as
Lender's interest in the Collateral is not jeopardized in Lender's sole opinion. If the Collateral is subjected to a lien which is not discharged within fifteen
(15) days, Grantor shall deposit with Lender cash, a sufficient corporate surety bond or other security satisfactory to Lender in an amount adequate to
provide for the discharge of the lien plus any interest, costs, reasonable attorneys' fees or other charges that could accrue as a result of foreclosure or sale
of the Collateral. In any contest Grantor shall defend itself and Lender and shall satisfy any final adverse judgment before enforcement against the
Collateral. Grantor shall name Lender as an additional obligee under any surety bond furnished in the contest proceedings. Grantor further agrees to
furnish Lender with evidence that such taxes, assessments, and governmental and other charges have been paid in full and in a timely manner. Grantor
may withhold any such payment or may elect to contest any lien if Grantor is in good faith conducting an appropriate proceeding to contest the obligation
to pay and so long as Lender's interest in the Collateral is not jeopardized.

 
Compliance with Governmental Requirements. Grantor shall comply promptly with all laws, ordinances, rules and regulations of all governmental
authorities, now or hereafter in effect, applicable to the ownership, production, disposition, or use of the Collateral, including all laws or regulations
relating to the undue erosion of highly-erodible land or relating to the conversion of wetlands for the production of an agricultural product or commodity.
Grantor may contest in good faith any such law, ordinance or regulation and withhold compliance during any proceeding, including appropriate appeals,
so long as Lender's interest in the Collateral, in Lender's opinion, is not jeopardized.
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Hazardous Substances.  Grantor represents and warrants that the Collateral never has been, and never will be so long as this Agreement remains a lien
on the Collateral, used in violation of any Environmental Laws or for the generation, manufacture, storage, transportation, treatment, disposal, release or
threatened release of any Hazardous Substance. The representations and warranties contained herein are based on Grantor's due diligence in investigating
the Collateral for Hazardous Substances. Grantor hereby (1) releases and waives any future claims against Lender for indemnity or contribution in the
event Grantor becomes liable for cleanup or other costs under any Environmental Laws, and (2) agrees to indemnify, defend, and hold harmless Lender
against any and all claims and losses resulting from a breach of this provision of this Agreement. This obligation to indemnify and defend shall survive
the payment of the Indebtedness and the satisfaction of this Agreement.
 
Maintenance of Casualty Insurance. Grantor shall procure and maintain all risks insurance, including without limitation fire, theft and liability
coverage together with such other insurance as Lender may require with respect to the Collateral, in form, amounts, coverages and basis reasonably
acceptable to Lender and issued by a company or companies reasonably acceptable to Lender. Grantor, upon request of Lender, will deliver to Lender
from time to time the policies or certificates of insurance in form satisfactory to Lender, including stipulations that coverages will not be cancelled or
diminished without at least thirty (30) days' prior written notice to Lender and not including any disclaimer of the insurer’s liability for failure to give
such a notice. Each insurance policy also shall include an endorsement providing that coverage in favor of Lender will not be impaired in any way by any
act, omission or default of Grantor or any other person. In connection with all policies covering assets in which Lender holds or is offered a security
interest, Grantor will provide Lender with such loss payable or other endorsements as Lender may require. If Grantor at any time fails to obtain or
maintain any insurance as required under this Agreement, Lender may (but shall not be obligated to) obtain such insurance as Lender deems appropriate,
including if Lender so chooses "single interest insurance," which will cover only Lender's interest in the Collateral.
 
Application of Insurance Proceeds. Grantor shall promptly notify Lender of any loss or damage to the Collateral, whether or not such casualty or loss
is covered by insurance. Lender may make proof of loss if Grantor fails to do so within fifteen (15) days of the casualty. All proceeds of any insurance
on the Collateral, including accrued proceeds thereon, shall be held by Lender as part of the Collateral. If Lender consents to repair or replacement of the
damaged or destroyed Collateral, Lender shall, upon satisfactory proof of expenditure, pay or reimburse Grantor from the proceeds for the reasonable cost
of repair or restoration. If Lender does not consent to repair or replacement of the Collateral, Lender shall retain a sufficient amount of the proceeds to pay
all of the Indebtedness, and shall pay the balance to Grantor. Any proceeds which have not been disbursed within six (6) months after their receipt and
which Grantor has not committed to the repair or restoration of the Collateral shall be used to prepay the Indebtedness.
 
Insurance Reserves. Lender may require Grantor to maintain with Lender reserves for payment of insurance premiums, which reserves shall be created
by monthly payments from Grantor of a sum estimated by Lender to be sufficient to produce, at least fifteen (15) days before the premium due date,
amounts at least equal to the insurance premiums to be paid. If fifteen (15) days before payment is due, the reserve funds are insufficient, Grantor shall
upon demand pay any deficiency to Lender. The reserve funds shall be held by Lender as a general deposit and shall constitute a non-interest-bearing
account which Lender may satisfy by payment of the insurance premiums required to be paid by Grantor as they become due. Lender does not hold the
reserve funds in trust for Grantor, and Lender is not the agent of Grantor for payment of the insurance premiums required to be paid by Grantor. The
responsibility for the payment of premiums shall remain Grantor's sole responsibility.
 
Insurance Reports. Grantor, upon request of Lender, shall furnish to Lender reports on each existing policy of insurance showing such information as
Lender may reasonably request including the following: (1) the name of the insurer; (2) the risks insured; (3) the amount of the policy; (4) the property
insured; (5) the then current value on the basis of which insurance has been obtained and the manner of determining that value; and (6) the expiration
date of the policy. In addition, Grantor shall upon request by Lender (however not more often than annually) have an independent appraiser satisfactory to
Lender determine, as applicable, the cash value or replacement cost of the Collateral.
 
Financing Statements. Grantor authorizes Lender to file a UCC financing statement, or alternatively, a copy of this Agreement to perfect Lender s
security interest. At Lender's request, Grantor additionally agrees to sign all other documents that are necessary to perfect, protect, and continue Lender's
security interest in the Property. Grantor will pay all filing fees, title transfer fees, and other fees and costs involved unless prohibited by law or unless
Lender is required by law to pay such fees and costs. Grantor irrevocably appoints Lender to execute documents necessary to transfer title if there is a
default. Lender may file a copy of this Agreement as a financing statement. If Grantor changes Grantor's name or address, or the name or address of any
person granting a security interest under this Agreement changes, Grantor will promptly notify the Lender of such change.

 
GRANTOR’S RIGHT TO POSSESSION AND TO COLLECT ACCOUNTS. Until default and except as otherwise provided below with respect to
accounts, Grantor may have possession of the tangible personal property and beneficial use of all the Collateral and may use it in any lawful manner not
inconsistent with this Agreement or the Related Documents, provided that Grantor's right to possession and beneficial use shall not apply to any Collateral
where possession of the Collateral by Lender is required by law to perfect Lender's security interest in such Collateral. Until otherwise notified by Lender,
Grantor may collect any of the Collateral consisting of accounts. At any time and even though no Event of Default exists, Lender may exercise its rights to
collect the accounts and to notify account debtors to make payments directly to Lender for application to the Indebtedness. If Lender at any time has
possession of any Collateral, whether before or after an Event of Default, Lender shall be deemed to have exercised reasonable care in the custody and
preservation of the Collateral if Lender takes such action for that purpose as Grantor shall request or as Lender, in Lender's sole discretion, shall deem
appropriate under the circumstances, but failure to honor any request by Grantor shall not of itself be deemed to be a failure to exercise reasonable care. Lender
shall not be required to take any steps necessary to preserve any rights in the Collateral against prior parties, nor to protect, preserve or maintain any security
interest given to secure the Indebtedness.
 
LENDER'S EXPENDITURES. If any action or proceeding is commenced that would materially affect Lender's interest in the Collateral or if Grantor fails
to comply with any provision of this Agreement or any Related Documents, including but not limited to Grantor's failure to discharge or pay when due any
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amounts Grantor is required to discharge or pay under this Agreement or any Related Documents, Lender on Grantor’s behalf may (but shall not be obligated
to) take any action that Lender deems appropriate, including but not limited to discharging or paying all taxes, liens, security interests, encumbrances and
other claims, at any time levied or placed on the Collateral and paying all costs for insuring, maintaining and preserving the Collateral. All such expenditures
incurred or paid by Lender for such purposes will then bear interest at the rate charged under the Note from the date incurred or paid by Lender to the date of
repayment by Grantor. All such expenses will become a part of the Indebtedness and, at Lender’s option, will (A) be payable on demand; (B) be added to the
balance of the Note and be apportioned among and be payable with any installment payments to become due during either (1) the term of any applicable
insurance policy; or (2) the remaining term of the Note; or (C) be treated as a balloon payment which will be due and payable at the Note's maturity. The
Agreement also will secure payment of these amounts. Such right shall be in addition to all other rights and remedies to which Lender may be entitled upon
Default.
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DEFAULT. Each of the following shall constitute an Event of Default under this Agreement:
 

Payment Default. Borrower fails to make any payment when due under the Indebtedness.
 
Other Defaults. Borrower or Grantor fails to comply with or to perform any other term, obligation, covenant or condition contained in this Agreement or
in any of the Related Documents or to comply with or to perform any term, obligation, covenant or condition contained in any other agreement between
Lender and Borrower or Grantor.
 
Default in Favor of Third Parties. Borrower, any guarantor or Grantor defaults under any loan, extension of credit, security agreement, purchase or
sales agreement, or any other agreement, in favor of any other creditor or person that may materially affect any of Borrower's, any guarantor's or Grantor's
property or ability to perform their respective obligations under this Agreement or any of the Related Documents.
 
False Statements. Any warranty, representation or statement made or furnished to Lender by Borrower or Grantor or on Borrower's or Grantor's behalf
under this Agreement or the Related Documents is false or misleading in any material respect, either now or at the time made or furnished or becomes false
or misleading at any time thereafter.
 
Defective Collateralization. This Agreement or any of the Related Documents ceases to be in full force and effect (including failure of any collateral
document to create a valid and perfected security interest or lien) at any time and for any reason.
 
Insolvency. The dissolution or termination of Borrower's or Grantor's existence as a going business, the insolvency of Borrower or Grantor, the
appointment of a receiver for any part of Borrower's or Grantor's property, any assignment for the benefit of creditors, any type of creditor workout, or the
commencement of any proceeding under any bankruptcy or insolvency laws by or against Borrower or Grantor.
 
Creditor or Forfeiture Proceedings. Commencement of foreclosure or forfeiture proceedings, whether by judicial proceeding, self-help, repossession or
any other method, by any creditor of Borrower or Grantor or by any governmental agency against any collateral securing the Indebtedness. This includes
a garnishment of any of Borrower's or Grantor's accounts, including deposit accounts, with Lender. However, this Event of Default shall not apply if
there is a good faith dispute by Borrower or Grantor as to the validity or reasonableness of the claim which is the basis of the creditor or forfeiture
proceeding and if Borrower or Grantor gives Lender written notice of the creditor or forfeiture proceeding and deposits with Lender monies or a surety
bond for the creditor or forfeiture proceeding, in an amount determined by Lender, in its sole discretion, as being an adequate reserve or bond for the
dispute.
 
Events Affecting Guarantor. Any of the preceding events occurs with respect to any Guarantor of any of the Indebtedness or Guarantor dies or becomes
incompetent or revokes or disputes the validity of, or liability under, any Guaranty of the Indebtedness.
 
Adverse Change. A material adverse change occurs in Borrower's or Grantor's financial condition, or Lender believes the prospect of payment or
performance of the Indebtedness is impaired.
 
Insecurity. Lender in good faith believes itself insecure.
 
Cure Provisions. If any default, other than a default in payment is curable and if Grantor has not been given a notice of a breach of the same provision
of this Agreement within the preceding twelve (12) months, it may be cured if Grantor, after Lender sends written notice to Borrower demanding cure of
such default: (1) cures the default within fifteen (15) days; or (2) if the cure requires more than fifteen (15) days, immediately initiates steps which
Lender deems in Lender's sole discretion to be sufficient to cure the default and thereafter continues and completes all reasonable and necessary steps
sufficient to produce compliance as soon as reasonably practical.

 
RIGHTS AND REMEDIES ON DEFAULT. If an Event of Default occurs under this Agreement, at any time thereafter, Lender shall have all the rights of
a secured party under the Florida Uniform Commercial Code. In addition and without limitation, Lender may exercise any one or more of the following rights
and remedies:
 

Accelerate Indebtedness. Lender may declare the entire Indebtedness, including any prepayment penalty which Borrower would be required to pay,
immediately due and payable, without notice of any kind to Borrower or Grantor.
 
Assemble Collateral. Lender may require Grantor to deliver to Lender all or any portion of the Collateral and any and all certificates of title and other
documents relating to the Collateral. Lender may require Grantor to assemble the Collateral and make it available to Lender at a place to be designated by
Lender. Lender also shall have full power to enter upon the property of Grantor to take possession of and remove the Collateral. If the Collateral contains
other goods not covered by this Agreement at the time of repossession, Grantor agrees Lender may take such other goods, provided that Lender makes
reasonable efforts to return them to Grantor after repossession.
 
Sell the Collateral. Lender shall have full power to sell, lease, transfer, or otherwise deal with the Collateral or proceeds thereof in Lender's own name or
that of Grantor. Lender may sell the Collateral at public auction or private sale. Unless the Collateral threatens to decline speedily in value or is of a type
customarily sold on a recognized market, Lender will give Grantor, and other persons as required by law, reasonable notice of the time and place of any
public sale, or the time after which any private sale or any other disposition of the Collateral is to be made. However, no notice need be provided to any
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person who, after Event of Default occurs, enters into and authenticates an agreement waiving that person's right to notification of sale. The requirements
of reasonable notice shall be met if such notice is given at least ten (10) days before the time of the sale or disposition. All expenses relating to the
disposition of the Collateral, including without limitation the expenses of retaking, holding, insuring, preparing for sale and selling the Collateral, shall
become a part of the Indebtedness secured by this Agreement and shall be payable on demand, with interest at the Note rate from date of expenditure until
repaid.
 
Appoint Receiver. In the event of a suit being instituted to foreclose this Agreement, Lender shall be entitled to apply at any time pending such foreclosure
suit to the court having jurisdiction thereof for the appointment of a receiver of any or all of the Collateral, and of all rents, incomes, profits, issues and
revenues thereof, from whatsoever source. The parties agree that the court shall forthwith appoint such receiver with the usual powers and duties of
receivers in like cases. Such appointment shall be made by the court as a matter of strict right to Lender and without notice to Grantor, and without
reference to the adequacy or inadequacy of the value of the Collateral, or to Grantor's solvency or any other party defendant to such suit. Grantor hereby
specifically waives the right to object to the appointment of a receiver and agrees that such appointment shall be made as an admitted equity and as a
matter of absolute right to Lender, and consents to the appointment of any officer or employee of Lender as receiver. Lender shall have the right to have a
receiver appointed to take possession of all or any part of the Collateral, with the power to protect and preserve the Collateral, to operate the Collateral
preceding foreclosure or sale, and to collect the Rents from the Collateral and apply the proceeds, over and above the cost of the receivership, against the
Indebtedness. The receiver may serve without bond if permitted by law. Lender's right to the appointment of a receiver shall exist whether or not the
apparent value of the Collateral exceeds the Indebtedness by a substantial amount. Employment by Lender shall not disqualify a person from serving as a
receiver.
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Collect Revenues, Apply Accounts. Lender, either itself or through a receiver, may collect the payments, rents, income, and revenues from the
Collateral. Lender may at any time in Lender's discretion transfer any Collateral into Lender's own name or that of Lender's nominee and receive the
payments, rents, income, and revenues therefrom and hold the same as security for the Indebtedness or apply it to payment of the Indebtedness in such
order of preference as Lender may determine. Insofar as the Collateral consists of accounts, general intangibles, insurance policies, instruments, chattel
paper, choses in action, or similar property, Lender may demand, collect, receipt for, settle, compromise, adjust, sue for, foreclose, or realize on the
Collateral as Lender may determine, whether or not Indebtedness or Collateral is then due. For these purposes, Lender may, on behalf of and in the name
of Grantor, receive, open and dispose of mail addressed to Grantor; change any address to which mail and payments are to be sent; and endorse notes,
checks, drafts, money orders, documents of title, instruments and items pertaining to payment, shipment, or storage of any Collateral. To facilitate
collection, Lender may notify account debtors and obligors on any Collateral to make payments directly to Lender.
 
Obtain Deficiency. If Lender chooses to sell any or all of the Collateral, Lender may obtain a judgment against Borrower for any deficiency remaining on
the Indebtedness due to Lender after application of all amounts received from the exercise of the rights provided in this Agreement. Borrower shall be liable
for a deficiency even if the transaction described in this subsection is a sale of accounts or chattel paper.
 
Other Rights and Remedies. Lender shall have all the rights and remedies of a secured creditor under the provisions of the Uniform Commercial Code,
as may be amended from time to time. In addition, Lender shall have and may exercise any or all other rights and remedies it may have available at law,
in equity, or otherwise.
 
Election of Remedies. Except as may be prohibited by applicable law, all of Lender's rights and remedies, whether evidenced by this Agreement, the
Related Documents, or by any other writing, shall be cumulative and may be exercised singularly or concurrently. Election by Lender to pursue any
remedy shall not exclude pursuit of any other remedy, and an election to make expenditures or to take action to perform an obligation of Grantor under this
Agreement, after Grantor's failure to perform, shall not affect Lender's right to declare a default and exercise its remedies.

 
POWER OF ATTORNEY. Grantor hereby appoints Lender as its true and lawful attorney-in-fact, irrevocably, with full power of substitution to do the
following; (a) to demand, collect, receive, receipt for, sue and recover all sums of money or other property which may now or hereafter become due, owing or
payable from the Collateral; (b) to execute, sign and endorse any and all claims, instruments, receipts, checks, drafts or warrants issued in payment for the
Collateral; (c) to settle or compromise any and all claims arising under the Collateral, and, in the place and stead of Grantor, to execute and deliver its release
and settlement for the claim; and (d) to file any claim or claims or to take any action or institute or take part in any proceedings, either in its own name or in
the name of Grantor, or otherwise, which in the discretion of Lender may seem to be necessary or advisable. This power is given as security for the
indebtedness, and the authority hereby conferred is and shall be irrevocable and shall remain in full force and effect until renounced by Lender.
 
ADDITIONAL DEFINITION OF INDEBTEDNESS. The word "Indebtedness" includes all other obligations, debts and liabilities, plus interest thereon,
of Grantor, or any one or more of them, to Lender, as well as all claims by Lender against Grantor, or any one or more of them, whether existing now or later;
whether they are voluntary or involuntary, due or not due, direct o indirect, absolute or contingent, liquidated or unliquidated; whether Grantor may be liable
individually or jointly with others; whether Grantor may be obligated as guarantor, surety, accommodation party or otherwise; whether recovery upon such
indebtedness may be or hereafter may become barred by any statute of limitations; and whether such indebtedness may be or hereafter may become otherwise
unenforceable.
 
ADDITIONAL MAINTENANCE AND INSPECTION OF COLLATERAL-GRANTOR. Grantor shall immediately notify Lender of all cases
involving the return, rejection, repossession, loss or damage of or to any Collateral; of any request for credit or adjustment or of any other dispute arising with
respect to the Collateral; and generally of all happenings and events affecting the Collateral or the value or the amount of the Collateral.
 
NATURE OF GUARANTY. Guarantor's liability under this Guaranty shall be open and continuous for so long as this Guaranty remains in force.
Guarantor intends to guarantee at all times the performance and prompt payment when due, whether at maturity or earlier by reason of acceleration or
otherwise, of all indebtedness. Accordingly, no payments made upon the indebtedness will discharge or diminish the continuing liability of Guarantor in
connection with any remaining portions of the indebtedness or any of the indebtedness which subsequently arises or is thereafter incurred or contracted.
 
COLLATERAL SCHEDULES AND LOCATIONS. As often as Lender shall require, and insofar as the Collateral consists of accounts and general
intangibles, Grantor shall deliver to Lender schedules of such Collateral, including such information as Lender may require, including without limitation
names and addresses of account debtors and agings of accounts and general intangibles. Insofar as the Collateral consists of inventory and equipment,
Grantor shall deliver to Lender, as often as Lender shall require, such lists, descriptions, and designations of such Collateral as Lender may require to
identify the nature, extent, and location of such Collateral. Such information shall be submitted for Grantor and each of its subsidiaries or related companies.
 
MISCELLANEOUS PROVISIONS. The following miscellaneous provisions are a part of this Agreement:
 

Amendments. This Agreement, together with any Related Documents, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters
set forth in this Agreement. No alteration of or amendment to this Agreement shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party or parties
sought to be charged or bound by the alteration or amendment.
 
Arbitration. Borrower and Grantor and Lender agree that all disputes, claims and controversies between them whether individual, joint, or
class in nature, arising from this Agreement or otherwise, including without limitation contract and tort disputes, shall be arbitrated
pursuant to the Rules of the American Arbitration Association in effect at the time the claim is filed, upon request of either party. No act to
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take or dispose of any Collateral shall constitute a waiver of this arbitration agreement or be prohibited by this arbitration agreement.
This includes, without limitation, obtaining injunctive relief or a temporary restraining order; invoking a power of sale under any deed of
trust or mortgage; obtaining a writ of attachment or imposition of a receiver; or exercising any rights relating to personal property, including
taking or disposing of such property with or without judicial process pursuant to Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code. Any disputes,
claims, or controversies concerning the lawfulness or reasonableness of any act, or exercise of any right, concerning any Collateral, including
any claim to rescind, reform, or otherwise modify any agreement relating to the Collateral, shall also be arbitrated, provided however that
no arbitrator shall have the right or the power to enjoin or restrain any act of any party. Judgment upon any award rendered by any
arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction. Nothing in this Agreement shall preclude any party from seeking equitable relief
from a court of competent jurisdiction. The statute of limitations, estoppel, waiver, laches, and similar doctrines which would otherwise be
applicable in an action brought by a party shall be applicable In any arbitration proceeding, and the commencement of an arbitration
proceeding shall be deemed the commencement of an action for these purposes. The Federal Arbitration Act shall apply to the construction,
interpretation, and enforcement of this arbitration provision.
 
Attorneys' Fees; Expenses. Grantor agrees to pay upon demand all of Lender's costs and expenses, including Lender's reasonable attorneys' fees and
Lender's legal expenses, incurred in connection with the enforcement of this Agreement. Lender may hire or pay someone else to help enforce this
Agreement, and Grantor shall pay the costs and expenses of such enforcement. Costs and expenses include Lender's reasonable attorneys' fees and legal
expenses whether or not there is a lawsuit, including reasonable attorneys' fees and legal expenses for bankruptcy proceedings (including efforts to modify
or vacate any automatic stay or injunction), appeals, and any anticipated post-judgment collection services. Grantor also shall pay all court costs and
such additional fees as may be directed by the court.
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Agreement.
 
Grantor. The word "Grantor" means EACO CORPORATION.
 
Guarantor. The word "Guarantor" means any guarantor, surety, or accommodation party of any or all of the Indebtedness.
 
Guaranty. The word "Guaranty” means the guaranty from Guarantor to Lender, including without limitation a guaranty of all or part of the Note.
 
Hazardous Substances. The words "Hazardous Substances" mean materials that, because of their quantity, concentration or physical, chemical or
infectious characteristics, may cause or pose a present or potential hazard to human health or the environment when improperly used, treated, stored,
disposed of, generated, manufactured, transported or otherwise handled. The words "Hazardous Substances" are used in their very broadest sense and
include without limitation any and all hazardous or toxic substances, materials or waste as defined by or listed under the Environmental Laws. The term
"Hazardous Substances" also includes, without limitation, petroleum and petroleum by-products or any fraction thereof and asbestos.
 
Indebtedness. The word "Indebtedness" means the indebtedness evidenced by the Note or Related Documents, including all principal and interest
together with all other indebtedness and costs and expenses for which Borrower is responsible under this Agreement or under any of the Related
Documents.
 
Lender. The word "Lender” means COMMUNITY BANK, its successors and assigns.
 
Note. The word "Note" means the Note executed by BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC. in the principal amount of $8,000,000.00 dated November 15, 2000,
together with all renewals of, extensions of, modifications of, refinancings of, and substitutions for the note or credit agreement.
 
Property. The word "Property" means all of Grantor's right, title and interest in and to all the Property as described in the "Collateral Description" section
of this Agreement.
 
Related Documents. The words "Related Documents" mean all promissory notes, credit agreements, loan agreements, environmental agreements,
guaranties, security agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, security deeds, collateral mortgages, and all other instruments, agreements and documents,
whether now or hereafter existing, executed in connection with the Indebtedness.

 
BORROWER AND GRANTOR HAVE READ AND UNDERSTOOD ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS COMMERCIAL SECURITY
AGREEMENT AND AGREE TO ITS TERMS. THIS AGREEMENT IS DATED MARCH 23, 2010.
 
GRANTOR:
 
EACO CORPORATION  
   
By: /s/ GLEN F. CEILEY  
 GLEN F. CEILEY, Authorized Officer of EACO  
 CORPORATION  
 
BORROWER:
 
BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC.  
   
By: /s/ GLEN F. CEILEY  
 GLEN F. CEILEY, Chairman and CEO of BISCO  
 INDUSTRIES, INC.  
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Exhibit 10.28

 
Extension Addendum to Contract
 
 
The following date and/or time period(s) of the Residential Sale and Purchase Contract, Residential Contract for Sale and Purchase, Vacant Land Contract, or
C o m m e r c i a l  C o n t r a c t  d a t e d          S e p  2 6 ,  2 0 1 2              b e t w e e n                                              EACO
Corporation                                                                         (“Seller”) and Ka Bun Chan (“Buyer”) concerning the Properly located at 13235 Cortez Blvd.,
Brooksville, FL 34613 is hereby extended. (check whichever apply)
 

Closing Date. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the Closing Date until           on or before 3/15/13                  
 
¨ Financing Period. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the Commitment Period, Loan Commitment Date. Financing Period, or Loan Approval Date for an

additional _______________ days or until _____________________.
 
¨ Inspection Period. Seller a n d  Buyer agree to extend the Inspection Period for  an addi t ional  _____________ days or until

__________________________________________.
 
¨ Title Cure Period. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the Curative Period or Cure Period for an additional _____________ days or until

__________________________________________.
 
¨ Short Sale Approval Deadline. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the Approval Deadline for an additional _____________ days or until

__________________________________________.
 
¨ Feasibility Study Period. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the Feasibility Study Period for an additional _____________ days or until

__________________________________________.
 
¨ D u e  Diligence Period. Seller a n d  Buyer agree to extend the Due Diligence Period f o r  a n  additional _____________ days or until

__________________________________________.
 
This extension will be on the same terms and conditions as stated in the original contract except:
 
Monthly rent will increase to $19,255 plus $2,005 in CAM charges for a total of $21,260 monthly for the months of January, February and half of March
2013.                                                                                                                               
 
All other non-conflicting terms  of the contract remain in full force and effect.
 
/s/ Michael Bains   1/8/13  /s/ Ka Bun Chan  1/4/13 
Seller  Date  Buyer  Date
       
Seller  Date  Buyer  Date
 

 
EA-2 Rev. 1/12           © 2012 Florida Realtors®           All Rights Reserved
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Addendum to Contract
FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®

 
Addendum No. 4  to the Contract dated September 26, 2012  between
 

EACO Corporation  (Seller)
 
and Ka Bun Chan  (Buyer)
 
concerning the property described as:
 
13235 Cortez Blvd., Brooksville, FL 34613
 
(the “Contract”). Buyer and Seller make the following terms and conditions part of the Contract:
 
Buyer and Seller agree to reduce the purchase price to $1,730,000.
 
Buyer and Seller agree to extend the closing date to on or before April 15, 2013,  but not prior to April 5, 2013.
 
Carlino Commercial Group, Inc. agrees to reduce their commission from $54,750 to $10,750.
 
Date:  Broker: Jeff Carlino
     
Date: 03/06/13  Buyer: /s/ Ka Bun Chan
     
Date: 3/7/13  Seller: /s/ Michael Bains
     
Date:   Seller:  
 
This form is available for use by the entire real estate industry and is not intended to identify the user as a Realtor. Realtor is a registered
collective membership mark that may be used only by real estate licensees who are members of the National Association of Realtors and who
subscribe to its Code of Ethics.
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FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE

 
THIS FIRST AMENDMENT TO LEASE (the “First Amendment”) is made and entered into this 7th day of      March                      , 2013 by EACO

CORPORATION (’‘Landlord”), a Florida corporation, and INTERNATIONAL BUFFET (“Tenant”).
 

RECITALS:
 

A. Landlord and Tenant previously entered into that certain Lease (the “Lease”) with an effective date of January 9, 2008 for the lease of that certain
Premises located at 13235 Cortez Boulevard, Brooksville, Florida.

 
B. Landlord and Tenant agree that conditions have occurred such, that the parties desire to modify the Lease as more specifically set forth herein.
 
NOW, THEREFORE, for and in consideration of the premises and other good and valuable consideration, the receipt of which is hereby acknowledged

by the parties hereto, Landlord and Tenant hereby covenant and agree as follows:
 
1.          The recitals set forth above are true and accurate and are incorporated herein by this reference. Capitalized terms not otherwise defined herein

shall have the same meaning as in the Lease.
 
2.          The parties acknowledge and agree that Tenant paid a Security Deposit in the amount of Thirty-Three Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($33,000.00)

to Landlord in accordance with Paragraph 5 of the Lease. Tenant hereby authorizes Landlord to retain such Security Deposit and waives any and all rights to
the return of such Security Deposit .

 
3.          Tenant hereby agrees that it will pay Landlord the sum of Eighteen Thousand and 00/100 Dollars ($18,000.00) on or before April 1, 2013, which

sum shall be paid in addition to Tenant’s monthly Rent payment for that month.
 
4.          The parties acknowledge and agree that in the event Tenant fails to purchase the Premises from Landlord pursuant to that certain Commercial

Contract dated September 26, 2012 between Landlord as seller and Tenant as purchaser, as amended, the provisions set forth in Paragraphs 2 and 3 of this
First Amendment shall be void.

 
5.          This First Amendment may be executed in separate counterparts, each of which when taken together shall constitute one and the same

instrument. This First Amendment may be executed and delivered by facsimile or electronic mail, and execution delivery by facsimile or electronic mail shall
be deemed binding upon the parties so executing and delivering. Except as specifically modified by this First Amendment, all of the terms and conditions of
the Lease shall remain in full force and effect. In the event of a conflict between any term or provision of the Lease and this First Amendment, the terms and
provisions of this First Amendment shall control.
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, Landlord and Tenant have executed this First Amendment as of the date first above written in a manner 50 as to be binding.

 
Signed, scaled and delivered in the presence of:  LANDORD:
   
  EACO CORPORATION, a Florida

Corporation.
/s/ Marta L. Araujo  By: /s/ Michael Bains
  Print: MICHAEL BAINS
MARTA L. ARAUJO  Title: Controller
Print Name   
   
/s/ Antonio Gonzalez   
   
ANTONIO GONZALEZ   
Print Name   
 
Signed, sealed and delivered in the  TENANT:
presence of;   
  INTERNATIONAL BUFFET
    
/s/ Yiping Wang  By: /s/ Ka Bun Chan
  Print: KA BUN CHAN
YIPING WANG  Title: OWNER
Print Name   
   
   
   
   
Print Name   
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Addendum to Contract
FLORIDA ASSOCIATION OF REALTORS®

 
Addendum No. 5  to the Contract dated 09/26/2012  between
 

EACO Corporation  (Seller)
 
and Ka Bun Chan  (Buyer)
 
concerning the property described as:
 

13235 Cortez Blvd. Brooksville, FL 34613
 
(the “Contract”). Buyer and Seller make the following terms and conditions part of the Contract:
 
The Buyer and the Seller agree to change the buyer to International East Buffet Inc.
 
Date: 3/12/13  Buyer: /s/ Ka Bun Chan
     
Date: 3/12/13  Buyer: /s/ Michael Bains
     
Date:   Seller:  
     
Date:   Seller:  
 
This form is available for use by the entire real estate industry and is not intended to identify the user as a Realtor. Realtor is a registered
collective membership mark that may be used only by real estate licensees who are members of the National Association of Realtors and who
subscribe to its Code of Ethics.
 
The copyright laws of the United States (17 U.S. Code) forbid the unauthorized reproduction of blank forms by any means including facsimile or
computerized forms.
 
ACSP-2a Rev. 6/94 ©1994 Florida Association of Realtors® All Rights Reserved
    
    
 

 

 

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 
Exhibit 10.29

 

Marcus & Millichap
Real Estate Investment Services

PURCHASE AGREEMENT
 

THIS DOCUMENT IS MORE THAN A RECEIPT FOR MONEY. IT IS INTENDED TO BE A LEGALLY BINDING AGREEMENT. READ IT
CAREFULLY.
 
Marcus & Millichap Real Estate Investment Services of Florida, Inc. (“Agent”), is agent for the Seller. This Real Estate Contract is entered into by and
between EACO Corporation (hereinafter referred to as “Seller”) and WINLEE Property, Inc. (hereafter referred to as “Buyer”). Within one (1) business day of
the Effective Date, Buyer shall deposit with Gary Silberman, PA located at 2665 S. Bayshore Dr. Ste 725 Coconut Grove, F1 33133 (Escrow Agent), U.S.,
cash, cashier’s check or wire transfer funds in the amount of Fifty Thousand Dollars ($ 50,000) within 3 days of executed contract as Earnest Money Deposit
(hereinafter referred to as the “Deposit”). The Deposit is to be applied to the purchase price of that certain real property (referred to as the “Property”) located in
the City of Orange Park, County of Clay, State of Florida, and more particularly described as follows:
 
475 Blanding Blvd. Orange Park, Florida / Parcel #18-04-26-020264-122-00

 
TERMS AND CONDITIONS

 
Seller agrees to sell the Property, and Buyer agrees to purchase the Property, on the following terms and conditions:
 
1) PURCHASE PRICE: The purchase price for the Property is One Million One Hundred Fifty Six Thousand dollars ($ 1,156,000.00). The Purchase

Price, less the amount of the Deposit paid by Buyer, and subject to appropriate adjustments and prorations as hereinafter provided, shall be paid as
follows:

 
2) DOWN PAYMENT: A) Buyer shall make a cash down payment of                    dollars ($            ) no later than:
 
3) DEPOSIT: The Deposit $50,000 (Fifty Thousand Dollars)  (together with any additional deposit which may be made under Paragraph 9 hereof) shall be

held as earnest money and shall be applied as part payment of the Purchase Price at closing or as otherwise provided herein. It is agreed between all
parties hereto that Agent may hold the Deposit until Closing, or until this Agreement in terminated prior thereto because of the default of either party or by
voluntary agreement; and if any dispute should arise between Buyer and Seller as to the final disposition of said Deposit, Agent may institute a suit to
determine who is entitled to said Deposit, and the cost of said action, including reasonable attorney’s fees incurred by Agent shall be paid out of said
Deposit. If this Agreement is voided by Buyer for any reason permitted under this Agreement, Agent shall refund the Deposit to Buyer, and no party
hereto shall have any further rights to said Deposit.

 
4) TITLE: Seller shall cause an examination of title to the Property to be made, and a title insurance commitment to be issued by Gary Silberman, PA

located at 2665 S. Bayshore Dr. Ste 725 Coconut Grove, Fl 33133 (the “Title Company”) on the Property. At Buyer’s option and expense. Buyer may
cause an accurate survey to be made of the Property by a Florida registered land surveyor of Buyer’s choice. Within Ten (10) calendar days after the
Effective Date of this Agreement, Buyer shall deliver a copy of the title commitment to Seller, together with a copy of any survey Buyer shall have
prepared, accompanied by a letter to Seller in which Buyer shall either approve in writing the exceptions contained in said title commitment and survey,
or specify in writing any exceptions to which Buyer reasonably objects. If Buyer objects to any exceptions, Seller shall, within Five (5) calendar days
after receipt of Buyer’s objections, deliver to Buyer written notice that either (i) Seller will, at Seller’s expense, attempt to remove the exception(s) to which
Buyer has objected before the Closing Date or (ii) Seller is unwilling or unable to eliminate the exception(s). If Seller fails to so notify Buyer or is
unwilling or unable to remove any such exception by the Closing Date, Buyer may elect to terminate this Agreement and receive back the entire Deposit,
in which event Buyer and Seller shall have no further obligations under this Agreement; or, alternatively, Buyer may elect to purchase the Property
subject to such exception(s).
 
Seller shall convey by general warranty deed to Buyer (or such other person as Buyer may specify) marketable fee simple title subject only to the
exceptions approved by Buyer in accordance with this Agreement. Title shall be insurable by a standard ALTA Owner’s Policy (Form B-1987) of title
insurance issued by the Title Company with standard exceptions in the amount of the purchase price with premium paid by Buyer.
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5) CLOSING: Closing shall be held on or before September 15, 2013 (the “Closing Date”) at 2:pm, or at such other time as is reasonably agreeable to

Buyer and Seller with at least five (5) days notice prior to the Closing Date. If on the Closing Date insurance underwriting is suspended, Buyer may
postpone closing up to 5 days after the insurance suspension is lifted. At the Closing, Seller shall execute and deliver to Buyer a general warranty deed
subject to those exceptions permitted by this Agreement, an owner’s affidavit, an I.R.C. Section 1445 non-foreign affidavit, an affidavit of seller’s
residence, and a construction lien affidavit, all in form satisfactory to the Title Company to remove from Buyer’s owner’s title policy any exception for
claims for labor and materials, unpaid federal and state taxes arising from the sale, and unpaid real estate broker’s commissions, and each party hereto
shall execute and deliver such other documents necessary or appropriate to effect and complete the Closing.
 
Rents, real property taxes, premiums on insurance acceptable to Buyer, interest on any debt being assumed or taken subject to by Buyer, and any other
ongoing expenses or costs of the continued operation of the Property shall be prorated as of the Closing Date. Security deposits, advance rentals, and the
amount of any future lease credits shall be credited to Buyer at Closing. The amount of any assessment not customarily paid with real property taxes
shall be (select one “X”) Seller paid.
 

6) FINANCING CONTINGENCIES:
***
6a. x NEW FIRST LOAN
  Buyer will be utilizing $750,000 from a 1030-Tax Exchang and obtaining financing for the balance of the purchase price.
6b. ¨ NEW SECOND LOAN
6c. ¨ SHORTFALL CLAUSE
6d. ¨ PURCHASE SUBJECT TO/ASSUMPTION OF FIRST
6e. ¨ PURCHASE SUBJECT TO/ASSUMPTION OF SECOND
6f. ¨ SELLER CARRIES BACK FIRST
6g. ¨ SELLER CARRIES BACK SECOND
6h. ¨ SELLER CARRIES BACK THIRD
6i. ¨ ALL INCLUSIVE PROMISSORY NOTE AND DEED OF TRUST
6j. ¨ NO FINANCING CONTINGENCY — ALL CASH
6k. ¨ OTHER FINANCING
 
This Contract is subject to financing by a third party loan. This Contract is conditioned on Buyer obtaining a written commitment within thirty-
five (35) calendar days after the execution of this Contract in the principal amount of $400,000.00 at an initial interest rate not to exceed prevailing
interest rate, for a term of 30 years. Discount and/or origination fee not to exceed 1% of the principal amount. Buyer will make application (5)
days after the execution of this Contract, and use reasonable diligence to obtain a loan commitment and, thereafter, to satisfy terms and
conditions of the commitment and close the loan. Buyer shall pay all loan expenses. If Buyer fails to obtain a commitment or fails to waive
Buyer’s rights under this subparagraph within the time for obtaining a commitment or after diligent effort fails to meet the terms and conditions
of the commitment, then either party thereafter, by written notice to the other, may cancel this Contract and Buyer shall be refunded the deposit.
 
7) PEST CONTROL CONTINGENCIES:
* * *
7a. ¨ Standard
7b. x NO PEST CONTROL CONTINGENCY - “AS IS”
7.1) NO PEST CONTROL CONTINGENCY - “AS IS”: Buyer has conducted Buyer’s own investigation with regard to possible infestation and/or

infection by wood-destroying pests or organisms and agrees to purchase the Property in its present condition. Buyer acknowledges that Buyer is not
relying upon any representations or warranties made by Seller or Agent regarding the presence or absence of such infestation or infection.

 
7c. ¨ OTHER PEST CONTROL:
 
8) INSPECTION CONTINGENCIES:
* * *
8a. x BOOKS AND RECORDS
8.1) BOOKS AND RECORDS: Seller agrees to provide Buyer with items A-E listed below within Three (3) calendar days following the Effective Date:
 A. Previous Phase 1 Environmental Report dated Nov. 1996
 B. Copy of current Title policy
 C. Alta Survey provided by First Financial Surveyors Inc.
 D. Copy of Tenant Lease and any building drawings available
 E. Copy of current insurance policy
 F. Tenant Estoppel Letter
 G. All Appraisals conducted for the property (if any)
 H. All Service and Maintenance contracts (if any)
 I. Zoning verification letter
 J. Any and all City/County correspondence regarding the property (if any)
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K. Income & Expense report for 2012 and 2013 year to date income and expense (if any)
 
Buyer shall have Thirty Five (35) calendar days following receipt thereof to review and approve in writing each of these items. If Buyer fails to approve
these items within the specified time, this Agreement shall be rendered null and void, Buyer’s entire deposit shall be returned, and Buyer and Seller shall
have no further obligations hereunder.
 

8b. x PHYSICAL INSPECTION
 

8.2) PHYSICAL INSPECTION: Buyer shall have Thirty Five (35) calendar days following the Effective Date to inspect the physical condition of the
Property, and to notify the Seller in writing that Buyer approves same. If Buyer fails to approve the physical condition of the Property within the
specified time, this Agreement shall be null and void, Buyer’s entire deposit shall be returned, and Buyer and Seller shall have no further obligations
hereunder. Buyer has the right to a fully refundable deposit if buyer submits to seller written notice of cancelation prior to the expiration of the physical
inspection period.

 
8c. ¨ STATE AND LOCAL LAWS
8d. ¨ TENANT FINANCIAL INFORMATION (Leased Properties)
8e. x NO INSPECTION CONTINGENCY - “AS IS”
8.3) NO INSPECTION CONTINGENCY - “AS IS”: This Agreement is not subject to any inspection contingencies. Buyer warrants that Buyer is

knowledgeable in real estate matters and has made all investigations and inspections which Buyer deems necessary and appropriate with regard to its
purchase of the Property. Buyer acknowledges and agrees that Buyer is not relying upon any representation or warranties made by Seller or Agent in
electing to waive inspection contingencies.

 
8f. x OTHER INSPECTION
 
8.4) OTHER INSPECTION: Seller to provide copies of Rent checks, previous Environmental inspection and previous survey. Buyer or Buyer’s attorney

shall examine and approve the Title within Ten (10) days of acceptance of the Purchase and Sale Agreement and unless otherwise notifies the Seller of
unacceptable matters the title shall be deemed accepted and approved by the buyer and/or it’s legal counsel.

 
9) DEPOSIT INCREASE: Upon removal of the inspection contingencies set forth in paragraph(s) n/a hereof, Buyer shall deposit with Broker in Escrow

sufficient funds to increase the Deposit to n/a dollars ($n/a). The entire Deposit shall be credited to the purchase price at Closing unless otherwise
provided herein.

 
10) DEPOSIT TRANSFER: Buyer’s Deposit shall remain in trust, if held by Agent, or in escrow if previously deposited in escrow, until removal of the

inspection contingencies set forth in paragraph(s) 8.2 hereof. Upon removal of said contingencies, Buyer’s Deposit shall be delivered to escrow by Agent
(if same has been held in trust by Agent); a grant deed duly executed by Seller, sufficient to convey title to Buyer, shall be delivered to escrow by Seller;
and Buyer and Seller shall execute escrow instructions directing the Escrow Holder to release immediately from escrow and deliver to Seller Buyer’s entire
Deposit (including increases, if any). Seller shall hold Buyer’s Deposit subject to the remaining terms and conditions of this Agreement. If the Property is
made unmarketable by Seller, or acts of God, the Deposit shall be returned to Buyer and deed shall be returned to Seller.

 
11) ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATE CONTINGENCY (Leased Properties):
***
11a. x Standard
 
11.1)Seller shall obtain and deliver to Buyer, within Three (3) calendar days after the last contingency set forth in paragraph(s) 8.1, 8.2, and 8.4 is removed,

estoppel letters or certificates from each lessee or tenant at the Property stating: a) the date of commencement and the scheduled date of termination of the
lease, b) the amount of advanced rentals or rent deposits paid to Seller, c) the amount of monthly (or other periodic) rent paid to Seller, d) that the lease is
in full force and effect and that there have been no modifications or amendments thereto, or, if there have been any modifications or amendments, an
explanation of same, e) square footage (if set forth in the lease), and f) that there is no default under the terms of the lease by lessor or lessee. Buyer may
only disapprove said certificates, and cancel the Agreement, if the certificates reflect a discrepancy materially affecting the economics of the transaction,
or a previously undisclosed material breach of one of the leases. Upon such disapproval, Buyer’s entire Deposit shall be returned, and the parties shall
have no further obligations hereunder.

 
11b. ¨ ESTOPPEL CERTIFICATES NOT APPLICABLE
 
12) LEASED PROPERTY PRORATIONS: Rents due and owing on the date of closing will be prorated as of the Closing Date, as of the Closing Date and

rent collected thereafter applied first to rental payments then owed the Buyer and their remainder paid to the Seller. All free rent due any tenant at the time
of closing for rental periods after the closing shall be a credit against the Purchase Price. Other income and expenses shall be prorated as follows: To Be
Determined.
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13) PERSONAL PROPERTY: Title to any personal property to be conveyed to Buyer in connection with the sale of the Property shall be conveyed to

Buyer by Bill of Sale on the Closing Date free and clear of all encumbrances (except those approved by Buyer as provided above). The price of these
items shall be included in the Purchase Price for the Property, and Buyer agrees to accept all such personal property in “as is” condition.

 
14) CONDITION OF PROPERTY: It is understood and agreed that the Property is being sold “as is”; that Buyer has, or will have prior to the Closing

Date, inspected the Property; and that neither Seller nor Agent makes any representation or warranty as to the physical condition or value of the Property
or its suitability for Buyer’s intended use.

 
 Buyer’s Initials     BM      Seller’s Initials     MB__ 
 
15) RISK OF LOSS: Risk of loss to the Property shall be borne by Seller until title has been conveyed to Buyer. In the event that the improvements on the

Property are destroyed or materially damaged between the Effective Date of this Agreement and the date title is conveyed to Buyer, Buyer shall have the
option of demanding and receiving back the entire Deposit and being released from all obligations hereunder, or alternatively, taking such improvements
as Seller can deliver. Upon Buyer’s physical inspection and approval of the Property, Seller shall maintain the Property through closing in the same
condition and repair as approved, reasonable wear and tear excepted.

 
16) POSSESSION: Possession of the Property shall be delivered to Buyer at closing subject to the existing tenants in possession.
 
17) LIQUIDATED DAMAGES: By placing their initials immediately below, Buyer and Seller agree that it would be impracticable or

extremely difficult to fix actual damages in the event of a default by Buyer, that the amount of Buyer’s Deposit hereunder (as same may be
increased by the terms hereof) is the parties’ reasonable estimate of Seller’s damages in the event of Buyer's default, and that upon
Buyer’s default in its purchase obligations under this agreement, not caused by any breach by Seller, Seller shall be released from its
obligations to sell the Property and shall retain Buyer’s Deposit (as same may be increased by the terms hereof) as liquidated and agreed
upon damages, which shall be Seller’s sole and exclusive remedy in law or at equity for Buyer’s default.
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18) SELLER EXCHANGE: Buyer agrees to cooperate should Seller elect to sell the Property as part of a like-kind exchange under IRC Section 1031.

Seller’s contemplated exchange shall not impose upon Buyer any additional liability or financial obligation, and Seller agrees to hold Buyer harmless
from any liability that might arise from such exchange. This Agreement is not subject to or contingent upon Seller’s ability to acquire a suitable exchange
property or effectuate an exchange. In the event any exchange contemplated by Seller should fail to occur, for whatever reason, the sale of the Property
shall nonetheless be consummated as provided herein.

 
19) BUYER EXCHANGE: Seller agrees to cooperate should Buyer elect to purchase the Property as part of a like-kind exchange under IRC Section 1031.

Buyer’s contemplated exchange shall not impose upon Seller any additional liability or financial obligation, and Buyer agrees to hold Seller harmless
from any liability that might arise from such exchange. This Agreement is not subject to or contingent upon Buyer’s ability to dispose of its exchange
property or effectuate an exchange. In the event any exchange contemplated by Buyer should fail to occur, for whatever reason, the sale of the Property
shall nonetheless be consummated as provided herein.

 
20) DISCLOSURE OF REAL ESTATE LICENSURE:
*** 
20a. ¨ License disclosure
20b. ¨ License disclosure
 
21) AUTHORIZATION: Buyer and Seller authorize Agent to disseminate sales information regarding this transaction, including the purchase price of the

Property.
 
22) AFFILIATED BROKERS/TRANSACTIONAL AGENCY: Broker/Agent is affiliated with other brokerage companies in other states. Broker/Agent

shall disseminate information about the Property to such affiliated brokers, inviting the submission of offers on the Property. Seller authorizes Agent and
any affiliated brokers/agents to represent any prospective purchaser in the acquisition of the Property, and to submit offers on behalf of such purchasers.
Seller & Buyer understand that this authorization may result in affiliated Brokers/Agents of Broker/Agent representing both Seller and Buyer. In the
event Broker/Agent is the listing agent of Seller with respect to the Property and another Broker/Agent of Broker/Agent procures a Buyer as the purchaser
of the Property, then in such event, Seller and Buyer agree that Broker/Agent shall become a transaction Broker/Agent with respect to the transaction, as
such term is defined by Florida law. Buyer & Seller hereby authorize and consent to such agency disclosure and agree to execute a confirmation of such
disclosed agency.
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23) OTHER BROKERS: Buyer and Seller agree that, in the event any broker other than Agent or a broker affiliated with Agent is involved in the

disposition of the Property, Agent shall have no liability to Buyer or Seller for the acts or omissions of such other broker, who shall not be deemed to be a
subagent of Agent.

 
24) LIMITATION OF LIABILITY: Except for Agent’s gross negligence or willful misconduct, Agent’s liability for any breach or negligence in its

performance of this Agreement shall be limited to the greater of $10,000 or the amount of compensation actually received by Agent in any transaction
hereunder.

 
25) SCOPE OF AGENT’S AUTHORITY AND RESPONSIBILITY: Agent shall have no authority to bind either Buyer or Seller to any modification or

amendment of this Agreement. Agent shall not be responsible for performing any due diligence or other investigation of the Property on behalf of either
Buyer or Seller, or for providing either party with professional advice with respect to any legal, tax, engineering, construction or hazardous materials
issues. Except for maintaining the confidentiality of any information regarding Buyer or Seller’s financial condition and any future negotiations regarding
the terms of this Purchase Agreement, Buyer and Seller agree that their relationship with Agent is at arm’s length and is neither confidential nor fiduciary
in nature.

 
26) BROKER DISCLAIMER: Buyer and Seller acknowledge that, except as otherwise expressly stated herein, Agent has not made any investigation,

determination, warranty or representation with respect to any of the following: (a) the financial condition or business prospects of any tenant, or such
tenant’s intent to continue or renew its tenancy in the Property; (b) the legality of the present or any possible future use of the Property under any federal,
state or local law; (c) pending or possible future action by any governmental entity or agency which may affect the Property (d) the physical condition of
the Property, including but not limited to, soil conditions, the structural integrity of the improvements, and the presence or absence of fungi or wood-
destroying organisms; (e) the accuracy or completeness of income and expense information and projections, of square footage figures, and of the texts of
leases, options, and other agreements affecting the Property; (f) the possibility that lease, options or other documents exist which affect or encumber the
Property and which have not been provided or disclosed by Seller; or (g) the presence or location of any hazardous materials on or about the Property,
including, but not limited to asbestos, PCB’s, or toxic, hazardous or contaminated substances, and underground storage tanks.
 
Buyer agrees that investigation and analysis of the foregoing matters is Buyer’s sole responsibility and that Buyer shall not hold Agent responsible
therefore. Buyer further agrees to reaffirm its acknowledgment of this disclaimer at closing and to confirm that it has relied upon no representations of
Agent in connection with its acquisition of the property.
 

 Buyer’s Initials      BM    Seller’s Initials    MB        
 
27) LEAD-BASED PAINT HAZARDS: Every purchaser of any interest in residential real property on which a residential dwelling was built prior to

1978 is notified that such property may present exposure to lead from lead- based paint that may place young children at risk of developing lead
poisoning. Lead poisoning in young children may produce permanent neurological damage, including learning disabilities, reduced intelligence quotient
behavioral problems, and impaired memory. Lead poisoning also poses a particular risk to pregnant women. The seller of any interest in residential real
property is required to provide the buyer with any information on lead-based paint hazards. A risk assessment or inspection for possible lead-based paint
hazards is recommended prior to purchase. (SELLER TO INITIAL ONE BELOW):
(_____) 1. Seller warrants that the Property was constructed after 1978.
(_____) 2. Seller is not sure when the Property was constructed and/or has reason to believe that lead-based paint hazards may be present (Attach
“LEAD-BASED PAINT DISCLOSURE ADDENDUM TO PURCHASE AGREEMENT”).
 

28) MOLD/ALLERGEN ADVISORY AND DISCLOSURE: Buyer is advised of the possible presence within properties of toxic (or otherwise illness-
causing) molds, fungi, spores, pollens and/or other botanical substances and/or allergens (e.g. dust, pet dander, insect material, etc.). These substances
may be either visible or invisible, may adhere to walls and other accessible and inaccessible surfaces, may be embedded in carpets or other fabrics, may
become airborne, and may be mistaken for other household substances and conditions. Exposure carries the potential of possible health consequences.
Agent strongly recommends that Buyer contact the State Department of Health Services for further information on this topic.
 
Buyer is advised to consider engaging the services of an environmental or industrial hygienist (or similar, qualified professional) to inspect and test for
the presence of harmful mold, fungi, and botanical allergens and substances as part of Buyer’s physical condition inspection of the Property, and Buyer
is further advised to obtain from such qualified professionals information regarding the level of health-related risk involved, if any, and the advisability
and feasibility of eradication and abatement, if any.
 
Buyer is expressly cautioned that Agent has no expertise in this area and is, therefore, incapable of conducting any level of inspection of the Property for
the possible presence of mold and botanical allergens. Buyer acknowledges that Agent has not made any investigation, determination, warranty or
representation with respect to the possible presence of mold or other botanical allergens, and Buyer agrees that the investigation and analysis of the
foregoing matters is Buyer’s sole responsibility and that Buyer shall not hold Agent responsible therefore.
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29) ARBITRATION OF DISPUTES: Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this Agreement, or the breach thereof, shall be settled by final

binding arbitration administered before a single arbitrator by the American Arbitration Association (AAA) under its Commercial Arbitration Rules, and
judgment on the award rendered by the arbitrator may be entered in any court having jurisdiction thereof. Unless the parties agree otherwise, the
arbitration shall be governed by the AAA’s Expedited Procedures. The parties also agree that the AAA’s Optional Rules for Emergency Measures of
Protection shall apply to the proceedings. The AAA’s fees and charges shall be paid equally by the parties as they become due, provided that the
prevailing party shall be awarded its costs and expenses associated with any dispute concerning this Agreement, including reasonable attorneys’ fees
from the non-prevailing party. If either party fails to pay its share of the AAA’s fess or expenses as they become due, and such failure is not cured within
five days of receiving written notice thereof from the other party or the AAA, such party shall be deemed to have defaulted and the arbitrator shall enter
final judgment in favor of the non-defaulting

 
30) SUCCESSORS & ASSIGNS: This Agreement and any addenda hereto shall be binding upon and inure to the benefit of the heirs, successors, agents,

representatives and assigns of the parties hereto.
 
31) ATTORNEYS’ FEES: In any litigation, arbitration or other legal proceeding which may arise between any of the parties hereto, including Agent, the

prevailing party shall be entitled to recover its costs and expenses, including costs and expenses of arbitration, court costs and expense and costs and
expenses incurred on appeal, and reasonable attorneys’ fees incurred in any disputes through arbitration and appeal of any final judgment in addition to
any other relief to which such party may be entitled.

 
32) TIME: Time is of the essence of this Agreement.
 
33) NOTICES: All notices required or permitted hereunder shall be given to the parties in writing (with a copy to Agent) at their respective addresses as set

forth below. Should the date upon which any act required to be performed by this Agreement fall on a Saturday, Sunday or holiday, the time for
performance shall be extended to the next business day.

 
34) ADDENDA: Any addendum attached hereto and either signed or initialed by the parties shall be deemed a part hereof. This Agreement, including

addenda, if any, expresses the entire agreement of the parties and supersedes any and all previous agreements between the parties with regard to the
Property. There are no other understandings, oral or written, which in any way alter or enlarge its terms, and there are no warranties or representations of
any nature whatsoever, either express or implied, except as set forth herein. Any future modification of this Agreement will be effective only if it is in
writing and signed by the party to be charged.

 
35) ACCEPTANCE AND EFFECTIVE DATE: Buyer’s signature hereon constitutes an offer to Seller to purchase the Property on the terms and

conditions set forth herein. Unless acceptance hereof is made by Seller’s execution of this Agreement and delivery of a fully executed copy to Buyer, either
in person or by mail at the address shown below, on or before 3: pm est August 5th 20 13, this offer shall be null and void, the Deposit shall be returned
to Buyer, and neither Seller nor Buyer shall have any further rights or obligations hereunder. Delivery shall be effective upon personal delivery to Buyer
or Buyer’s agent or, if by mail, on the next business day following the date of postmark. The “Effective Date” of this Agreement shall be the later of (a)
the date on which Seller executes this Agreement, or (b) the date of or written acceptance (by either Buyer or Seller) of the final counter-offer submitted by
the other party.

 
36) GOVERNING LAW: This Agreement shall be governed by and construed in accordance with the laws of the State Of Florida.
 
37) EMINENT DOMAIN: In the event that prior to the closing all or any portion of the Property is condemned, or condemnation proceedings have been

instituted by or on behalf of any public or quasi-public entity or for any public or quasi-public use or purpose, then, in the event that such
condemnation substantially and materially adversely affects the Property, Buyer shall have the option to: (i) terminate this Agreement and receive the
return of the deposit and all interest accrued thereon, or (ii) proceed with the closing and receive a credit against the Purchase Price of any award received
or to be received.

 
38) RADON: Radon is a naturally occurring radioactive gas that, when it has accumulated in a building in sufficient quantities, may present health risks to

persons who are exposed to it over time. Levels of radon that exceed federal and state guidelines have been found in buildings in Florida. Additional
information regarding radon and radon testing may be obtained from your county public health unit.

 
39) SEVERABILITY: In the event any term or provision of this Agreement shall be held illegal, unenforceable or inoperative as a matter of law, the

remaining terms and provisions of this Agreement shall not be affected thereby and shall remain in full force and effect.
 
40) OTHER TERMS AND CONDITIONS:
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A: Buyer’s Agent will share in listing agent’s commission of which two percent (2.0%) of the gross commission. All other terms and conditions herein.
 
B: Provided that the buyer or buyer’s attorney notifies the seller’s agent prior to the scheduled closing date in writing for said extension the 5-day extension

shall be granted otherwise the closing date will be as referenced herein above per Paragraph (5) including all other terms and conditions herein.
 
C: Prior to closing, the seller is hereby obligated to close out all building permits or expired permits, and to obtain all necessary approval and permits for

unpermitted work at the Property, at the sole cost and expense of the seller. Further, seller shall be responsible for all violations of governmental, building,
environmental, safety codes, restrictions or requirements, and seller shall cure all such violations prior to closing at the sole cost and expense of the seller.

 
 END of TERMS and CONDITIONS  
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THE PARTIES ARE ADVISED TO CONSULT THEIR RESPECTIVE ATTORNEYS WITH REGARD TO THE LEGAL EFFECT AND VALIDITY OF
THIS PURCHASE AGREEMENT.
 
The undersigned Buyer hereby offers and agrees to purchase the above described Property for the price and upon the terms and conditions herein stated.
 
This offer is made by Buyer to Seller on this 2nd day of August    ,  2013. The undersigned Buyer hereby acknowledges receipt of an executed copy of this
Agreement, including the Agency Disclosure contained in Paragraph 22, above.
 
BUYER:          /s/ Bing Yiu Mak  ADDRESS: 11480 S.W.103 ST, Miami FL 33176
 WINLEE Property, Inc.    
 By: Bing Yiu Mak    
     
DATE:   TELEPHONE: 305-595-4438
     
BUYER:   ADDRESS: * * *
 * * *   * * *
     
DATE: * * *  TELEPHONE: * * *
 

SELLER’S ACCEPTANCE AND AGREEMENT TO PAY COMMISSION
 
The undersigned Seller accepts the foregoing offer and agrees to sell the Property to Buyer for the price and on the terms and conditions stated herein. Seller
acknowledges receipt of an executed copy of this Agreement and authorizes Agent to deliver an executed copy to Buyer.
 
Seller reaffirms its agreement to pay to Agent a real estate brokerage commission pursuant to the terms of that certain Representation Agreement between Agent
and Seller which shall remain in full force and effect. Said commission is payable in full on the Closing Date and shall be paid in cash at closing. Closing
Attorney is directed to make such payment to Agent from Seller’s proceeds of sale. The provisions of this paragraph may not be amended or modified without
the written consent of Agent. Agent is made a party to this Agreement for the purpose of enforcing Agent’s rights arising hereunder.
 
Seller acknowledges and agrees that payment of said commission is not contingent upon the closing of the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, and
that, in the event completion of the sale is prevented by default of Seller, then Seller shall immediately be obligated to pay to Agent the entire commission. Seller
agrees that in the event completion of the sale is prevented by default of Buyer, then Seller shall be obligated to pay to Agent an amount equal to one half of any
damages or other monetary compensation (including liquidated damages) collected from Buyer by suit or otherwise as a consequence of Buyer’s default, if and
when such damages or other monetary compensation are collected; provided, however, that the total amount paid to Agent by Seller shall not in any case exceed
the brokerage commission hereinabove set forth. Seller acknowledges and agrees that the existence of any direct claim which Agent may have against Buyer in
the event of Buyer’s default shall not alter or in any way limit the obligations of Seller to Agent as set forth herein.
 
SELLER:         /s/ Michael Bains  ADDRESS: 1500 N. Lakeview Ave.
 EACO Corporation, Authorized Agent   ANAHEIM, CA 92807
     
DATE: 8/5/2013  TELEPHONE: 714-693-2901
     
SELLER:   ADDRESS:  
     
DATE:   TELEPHONE:  
 
Agent accepts and agrees to the foregoing.
 
AGENT: MARCUS & MILLICHAP REAL ESTATE INVESTMENT SERVICES OF FLORIDA, INC.
 
BY: /s/ John Rob Keeler  ADDRESS: 300 South Orange Ave. Ste 700
 John Rob Keeler   Orlando, Florida 32810
     
DATE:          July 16th 2013  TELEPHONE: 407-557-3871
 
PARTIES UNDERSTAND AND ACKNOWLEDGE THAT BROKER IS NOT QUALIFIED TO PROVIDE AND HAS NOT BEEN CONTRACTED
TO PROVIDE, LEGAL, FINANCIAL OR TAX ADVICE, AND THAT ANY SUCH ADVICE MUST BE OBTAINED FROM PARTIES’ ATTORNEY,
ACCOUNTANT OR TAX PROFESSIONAL.
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1st ADDENDUM TO PURCHASE AGREEMENT

 
This document is an addendum (“Addendum”) to the Purchase Agreement (“Agreement”) between EACO, Corporation (“Seller”) and WINLEE Property, Inc.
(“Buyer”) executed on the 5th day of August    , 2013 for that certain real property located at:
 
475 Blanding Blvd. Orange Park, Florida
Parcel #7004-00-00-0951
 
The provisions of this Addendum are hereby added to and incorporated in the Terms and Conditions in the aforementioned Agreement. Any provision of this
Addendum which is not numbered and fully completed shall have no force or effect.
 
The Buyer and Seller agree to modify the Purchase Agreement accordingly:
 

1. Seller agrees to reduce the sales price to: $1,138,500.00
 

ACCEPTANCE
 
The undersigned Buyer, Seller and Agent accept and agree to the foregoing.
 
BUYER:        /s/ Bing Yiu Mak  DATE: 8/24/2013
 WINLEE Property Inc.    
     
SELLER: /s/ Michael Bains  DATE:          8/26/2013
 EACO, Corporation    
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2nd ADDENDUM TO PURCHASE AGREEMENT

 
This document is an addendum (“Addendum”) to the Purchase Agreement (“Purchase Agreement”) between EACO, Corporation (“Seller”) and WINLEE
Property, Inc. (“Buyer”) executed on the 7th day of August, 2013 for that certain real property located at:
 
475 Blanding Blvd. Orange Park, Florida
Parcel #7004-00-00-0951
 
The provisions of this Addendum are hereby added to and incorporated in the Terms and Conditions in the aforementioned Agreement. Any provision of this
Addendum which is not numbered and fully completed shall have no force or effect.
 
The Buyer and Seller agree to modify the Purchase Agreement accordingly:
 
1. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the inspection and finance period to September 25th, 2013. In the event the Buyer timely cancels this

Agreement prior to the expiration of the inspection and finance period, all deposits paid under the Contract shall be deemed refundable, and
returned to Buyer.

 
2. Buyer agrees to increase the deposit to a total of $100,000 by 4:pm EST on September 9th, 2013.
 
3. Buyer agrees to furnish a written signed letter of loan approval from its lender by the end of business day on September 6th, 2013
 
4. Seller and Buyer agree to extend the closing date to September 30th, 2013.
 

ACCEPTANCE
 
The undersigned Buyer, Seller and Agent accept and agree to the foregoing.
 
BUYER: /s/ Bing Yiu Mak  DATE: 9-6-2013
 WINLEE Property, Inc.    
     
SELLER:          /s/ Michael Bains  DATE: 9/9/2013
 EACO, Corporation    
 
B.Y. MAK President  DATE: 9-6-2013  
WINLEE Property, Inc.     
     
SELLER:  DATE:   
     
EACO, Corporation     
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CHANGE IN TERMS AGREEMENT
 

Principal
$5,055,421.29

Loan Date
11-09-2007

Maturity
12-01-2017

Loan No
75101054

Call / Coll
CLS 52 / 810

Account
600714

Officer
230

Initials

References in the boxes above are for Lender's use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to any particular loan or item.
Any item above containing " * * * " has been omitted due to text length limitations

 
Borrower: EACO CORPORATION Lender: COMMUNITY BANK
 1500 N. LAKEVIEW AVENUE  REAL ESTATE GROUP
 ANAHEIM, CA 92807  790 EAST COLORADO BOULEVARD
   PASADENA, CA 91101
   (800) 788-9999
    
 
Principal Amount: $5,055,421.29 Date of Agreement: November 12, 2013
 
DESCRIPTION OF EXISTING INDEBTEDNESS.
 
A loan to Borrower evidenced by a Promissory Note dated November 9, 2007 ("Note")
 
DESCRIPTION OF COLLATERAL.
 
A lien on real property as described in a Deed of Trust, Assignment of Rents, Security Agreement and Fixture Filing dated November 9, 2007 and recorded on
November 29, 2007, in the Official Records of Los Angeles County as instrument No, 20072624124 ("Deed of Trust")
 
DESCRIPTION OF CHANGE IN TERMS.
 
EFFECTIVE AS OF OCTOBER 1, 2013 ("Effective Date"):
 
MODIFICATION OF NOTE. The Note is hereby modified and amended as follows:
 
1) The interest rate is hereby changed from a Fixed Rate of 6,00% to a Fixed Rate of 3.75%.

2) The paragraph entitled "PAYMENT" is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
 
PAYMENT. Borrower will pay this loan in 49 regular payments of $26,627.39 each and one irregular last payment estimated at $4,508.813.85. Borrower’s
first payment is due November 1, 2013, and all subsequent payments are due on the same day of each month after that. Borrower’s final payment will be due
on December 1, 2017, and will be for all principal and all accrued interest not yet paid.
 
3) The paragraph entitled "PREPAYMENT FEE; MINIMUM INTEREST CHARGE" is hereby deleted in its entirety end replaced with the following:
 
PREPAYMENT FEE; MINIMUM INTEREST CHARGE. Borrower agrees that all loan fees and other prepaid finance charges are earned fully as of the
date of the loan and will not be subject to refund upon early payment (whether voluntary or as a result of default, except as otherwise required by law. Upon
prepayment of this Note, Lender is entitled to the following prepayment fee: Three Percent (3.0%) of the principal balance prepaid, if such
prepayment occurs prior to the first anniversary date of the Effective Date of this Agreement; two percent (2.0%) of the principal balance
prepaid, if such prepayment occurs on or after the first anniversary date of the Effective Date of this Agreement and before the second
anniversary date of the Effective Date of this Agreement and one percent (1.0%) of the principal balance prepaid, if such prepayment occurs on
or after the second anniversary date of the Effective Date of this Agreement but prior to the third anniversary date of the Effective Date of this
Agreement. From and after the third anniversary date of the Effective Date of this Agreement, there will be no prepayment fee. Notwithstanding
anything to the contrary contained herein, no prepayment fee shall be due if the amount prepaid is less than $1,000 in excess of the amount of the
regularly scheduled payment then due under the Note.  Other than Borrower's obligation to pay any minimum interest charge and prepayment fee,
Borrower may pay all or a portion of the amount owed earlier than it is due. Early payments will not unless agreed to by Lender in writing relieve Borrower of
Borrower’s obligation to continue to make payments under the payment schedule. Rather early payments will reduce the principal balance due and may result
in Borrower's making fewer payments. Borrower agrees not to send Lender payments marked "paid in full", "without recourse", or similar language. If
Borrower sends such a payment, Lender may accept it without losing any of Lenders rights under this Note, and Borrower will remain obligated to pay any
further amount owed to Lender. Ali written communications concerning disputed amounts, including any check or other payment instrument that indicates
that the payment constitutes payment in full of the amount owed or that is tendered with other conditions or limitations or as full satisfaction of a disputed
amount must be mailed or delivered to: COMMUNITY BANK, 790 E. Colorado Blvd., Pasadena, CA 91101.
 
4) The paragraph entitled "INTEREST RATE REDUCTION" is hereby deleted in its entirety and replaced with the following:
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PRIMARY BANKING RELATIONSHIP. Borrower and Lender acknowledge and agree that Borrower now maintains or will maintain its primary banking
relationship, including its primary deposit account relationship (’'Primary Banking Relationship"), with Lender. In the event Borrower ceases to maintain its
Primary Banking Relationship with Lender (as determined by Lender in its sole discretion), the interest rate set forth in this Note shall be increased by one
percent (1.00%), at Lender’s option, following a five (5) day written notice to the Borrower. The payments due after such notice is given to Borrower shall be
recalculated in an amount, necessary to amortize the principal balance for the remaining term of the loan.
 
CONTINUING VALIDITY. Except as expressly changed by this Agreement, the terms of the original obligation or obligations, including all agreements
evidenced or securing the obligations), remain unchanged and in full force and effect. Consent by Lender to this Agreement does not waive Lender s right to
strict performance of the obligation(s) as changed, nor obligate Lender to make any future change in terms. Nothing in this Agreement will constitute a
satisfaction of the obligations). It is the intention of Lender to retain as liable parties all makers and endorsers of the original obligation is), including
accommodation parties, unless a party is expressly released by Lender in writing, Any maker or endorser, including accommodation makers, will not be
released by virtue of this Agreement. If any person who signed the original obligation does not sign this Agreement below, then all persons signing below
acknowledge that this Agreement is given conditionally based on the representation to Lender that the non-signing party consents to the changes and provisions
of this Agreement or otherwise will not be released by it . This waiver applies not only to any initial extension, modification or release, but also to all such
subsequent actions
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Loan No: 75101054
CHANGE IN TERMS AGREEMENT

(Continued) Page 2
   
 
PRIOR TO SIGNING THIS AGREEMENT, BORROWER READ AND UNDERSTOOD ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS AGREEMENT
BORROWER AGREES TO THE TERMS OF THE AGREEMENT.
 
BORROWER:
 
EACO COPORATION
 
By: /s/ GLEN F. CEILEY  
 GLEN F. CEILEY, CEO/SECRETARY of EACO CORPORATION 
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COMMUNITY BANK
      Partnership Banking

COMMERCIAL GUARANTY
 

Principal Loan Date Maturity Loan No Call / Coll Account Officer Initials
    CLS 52 / 810  230

References in the boxes above are for Lender’s use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to any particular loan or item.
Any item above containing “***” has been omitted due to text length limitations.

 
Borrower: EACO CORPORATION  Lender: COMMUNITY BANK
 1500 N. LAKEVIEW AVENUE   REAL ESTATE GROUP
 ANAHEIM,  CA 92807   790 EAST COLORADO BOULEVARD
    PASADENA, CA 91101
    (800) 788-9999
     
Guarantor: GLEN F. CEILEY    
 304 Evening Star Lane    
 Newport Beach, CA 92660    
     

 
CONTINUING GUARANTEE OF PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE. For good and valuable consideration, Guarantor absolutely and
unconditionally guarantees full and punctual payment and satisfaction of the Indebtedness of Borrower to Lender, and the performance and discharge of all
Borrower’s obligations under the Note and the Related Documents. This is a guaranty of payment and performance and not of collection, so Lender can
enforce this Guaranty against Guarantor even when Lender has not exhausted Lender’s remedies against anyone else obligated to pay the Indebtedness or
against any collateral securing the Indebtedness, this Guaranty or any other guaranty of the Indebtedness. Guarantor will make any payments to Lender or its
order, on demand, in legal tender of the United States of America, in same-day funds, without set-off or deduction or counterclaim, and will otherwise perform
Borrower’s obligations under the Note and Related Documents. Under this Guaranty, Guarantor’s liability is unlimited and Guarantor’s obligations are
continuing.

 
INDEBTEDNESS. The word “Indebtedness” as used in this Guaranty means all of the principal amount outstanding from time to time and at any one or
more times, accrued unpaid interest thereon and all collection costs and legal expenses related thereto permitted by law, attorneys’ fees, arising from any and all
debts, liabilities and obligations of every nature or form, now existing or hereafter arising or acquired, that Borrower individually or collectively or
interchangeably with others, owes or will owe Lender, “Indebtedness” includes, without limitation, loans, advances, debts, overdraft indebtedness, credit card
indebtedness, lease obligations, liabilities and obligations under any interest rate protection agreements or foreign currency exchange agreements or commodity
price protection agreements, other obligations, and liabilities of Borrower, and any present or future judgments against Borrower, future advances, loans or
transactions that renew, extend, modify, refinance, consolidate or substitute these debts, liabilities and obligations whether: voluntarily or involuntarily
incurred; due or to become due by their terms or acceleration; absolute or contingent; liquidated or unliquidated; determined or undetermined; direct or
indirect; primary or secondary in nature or arising from a guaranty or surety; secured or unsecured; joint or several or joint and several; evidenced by a
negotiable or non-negotiable instrument or writing; originated by Lender or another or others; barred or unenforceable against Borrower for any reason
whatsoever; for any transactions that may be voidable for any reason (such as infancy, insanity, ultra vires or otherwise); and originated then reduced or
extinguished and then afterwards increased or reinstated.

 
If Lender presently holds one or more guaranties, or hereafter receives additional guaranties from Guarantor, Lender’s rights under all guaranties shall be
cumulative. This Guaranty shall not (unless specifically provided below to the contrary) affect or invalidate any such other guaranties. Guarantor’s liability
will be Guarantor’s aggregate liability under the terms of this Guaranty and any such other unterminated guaranties.

 
CONTINUING GUARANTY. THIS IS A “CONTINUING GUARANTY” UNDER WHICH GUARANTOR AGREES TO GUARANTEE THE FULL
AND PUNCTUAL PAYMENT, PERFORMANCE AND SATISFACTION OF THE INDEBTEDNESS OF BORROWER TO LENDER, NOW
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING OR ACQUIRED, ON AN OPEN AND CONTINUING BASIS. ACCORDINGLY, ANY PAYMENTS MADE ON
THE INDEBTEDNESS WILL NOT DISCHARGE OR DIMINISH GUARANTOR’S OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITY UNDER THIS GUARANTY
FOR ANY REMAINING AND SUCCEEDING INDEBTEDNESS EVEN WHEN ALL OR PART OF THE OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS MAY
BE A ZERO BALANCE FROM TIME TO TIME.

 
DURATION OF GUARANTY. This Guaranty will take effect when received by Lender without the necessity of any acceptance by Lender, or any notice to
Guarantor or to Borrower, and will continue in full force until all the Indebtedness incurred or contracted before receipt by Lender of any notice of revocation
shall have been fully and finally paid and satisfied and all of Guarantor’s other obligations under this Guaranty shall have been performed in full. If
Guarantor elects to revoke this Guaranty, Guarantor may only do so in writing. Guarantor’s written notice of revocation must be mailed to Lender, by certified
mail, at Lender’s address listed above or such other place as Lender may designate in writing. Written revocation of this Guaranty will apply only to new
Indebtedness created after actual receipt by Lender of Guarantor’s written revocation. For this purpose and without limitation, the term “new Indebtedness”
does not include the Indebtedness which at the time of notice of revocation is contingent, unliquidated, undetermined or not due and which later becomes
absolute, liquidated, determined or due. For this purpose and without limitation, “new Indebtedness” does not include all or part of the Indebtedness that is:
incurred by Borrower prior to revocation; incurred under a commitment that became binding before revocation; any renewals, extensions, substitutions, and
modifications of the Indebtedness. This Guaranty shall bind Guarantor’s estate as to the Indebtedness created both before and after Guarantor’s death or
incapacity, regardless of Lender’s actual notice of Guarantor’s death. Subject to the foregoing, Guarantor’s executor or administrator or other legal
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representative may terminate this Guaranty in the same manner in which Guarantor might have terminated it and with the same effect. Release of any other
guarantor or termination of any other guaranty of the Indebtedness shall not affect the liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty. A revocation Lender receives
from any one or more Guarantors shall not affect the liability of any remaining Guarantors under this Guaranty. Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty
shall be in addition to any of Guarantor’s obligations, or any of them, under any other guaranties of the Indebtedness or any other person heretofore or hereafter
given to Lender unless such other guaranties are modified or revoked in writing; and this Guarantor shall not, unless provided in this Guaranty, affect,
invalidate, or supersede any such other guaranty. It is anticipated that fluctuations may occur in the aggregate amount of the Indebtedness covered
by this Guaranty, and Guarantor specifically acknowledges and agrees that reductions in the amount of the Indebtedness, even to zero dollars
($0.00), shall not constitute a termination of this Guaranty. This Guaranty is binding upon Guarantor and Guarantor’s heirs, successors and
assigns so long as any of the Indebtedness remains unpaid and even though the Indebtedness may from time to time be zero dollars ($0.00).
 
OBLIGATIONS OF MARRIED PERSONS. Any married person who signs this Guaranty hereby expressly agrees that recourse under this Guaranty may
be had against both his or her separate property and community property.
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GUARANTOR’S AUTHORIZATION TO LENDER.  Guarantor authorizes Lender, either before or after any revocation hereof, without notice or
demand and without lessening Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty, from time to time:  (A) prior to revocation as set forth above, to make one
or more additional secured or unsecured loans to Borrower, to lease equipment or other goods to Borrower, or otherwise to extend additional credit to Borrower;
(B) to alter, compromise, renew, extend, accelerate, or otherwise change one or more times the time for payment or other terms of the Indebtedness or any part
of the Indebtedness, including increases and decreases of the rate of interest on the Indebtedness; extensions may be repeated and may be for longer than the
original loan term; (C) to take and hold security for the payment of this Guaranty or the Indebtedness, and exchange, enforce, waive, subordinate, fail or
decide not to perfect, and release any such security, with or without the substitution of new collateral; (D) to release, substitute, agree not to sue, or deal with
any one or more of Borrower’s sureties, endorsers, or other guarantors on any terms or in any manner Lender may choose; (E) to determine how, when and
what application of payments and credits shall be made on the Indebtedness; (F) to apply such security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof,
including without limitation, any nonjudicial sale permitted by the terms of the controlling security agreement or deed of trust, as Lender in its discretion may
determine; (G) to sell, transfer, assign or grant participations in all or any part of the Indebtedness; and (H) to assign or transfer this Guaranty in whole or in
part.
 
GUARANTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Guarantor represents and warrants to Lender that (A) no representations or agreements
of any kind have been made to Guarantor which would limit or qualify in any way the terms of this Guaranty; (B) this Guaranty is executed at Borrower’s
request and not at the request of Lender; (C) Guarantor has full power, right and authority to enter into this Guaranty; (D) the provisions of this Guaranty do
not conflict with or result in a default under any agreement or other instrument binding upon Guarantor and do not result in a violation of any law, regulation,
court decree or order applicable to Guarantor; (E) Guarantor has not and will not, without the prior written consent of Lender, sell, lease, assign, encumber,
hypothecate, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of Guarantor’s assets, or any interest therein; (F) upon Lender’s request, Guarantor will
provide to Lender financial and credit information in form acceptable to Lender, and all such financial information which currently has been, and all future
financial information which will be provided to Lender is and will be true and correct in all material respects and fairly present Guarantor’s financial condition
as of the dates the financial information is provided; (G) no material adverse change has occurred in Guarantor’s financial condition since the date of the most
recent financial statements provided to Lender and no event has occurred which may materially adversely affect Guarantor’s financial condition; (H) no
litigation, claim, investigation, administrative proceeding or similar action (including those for unpaid taxes) against Guarantor is pending or threatened; (I)
Lender has made no representation to Guarantor as to the creditworthiness of Borrower; and (J) Guarantor has established adequate means of obtaining from
Borrower on a continuing basis information regarding Borrower’s financial condition. Guarantor agrees to keep adequately informed from such means of any
facts, events, or circumstances which might in any way affect Guarantor’s risks under this Guaranty, and Guarantor further agrees that, absent a request for
information, Lender shall have no obligation to disclose to Guarantor any information or documents acquired by Lender in the course of its relationship with
Borrower.
 
GUARANTOR’S WAIVERS. Except as prohibited by applicable law, Guarantor waives any right to require Lender to (A) make any presentment, protest,
demand, or notice of any kind, including notice of change of any terms of repayment of the Indebtedness, default by Borrower or any other guarantor or
surety, any action or nonaction taken by Borrower, Lender, or any other guarantor or surety of Borrower, or the creation of new or additional Indebtedness;
(B) proceed against any person, including Borrower, before proceeding against Guarantor; (C) proceed against any collateral for the Indebtedness, including
Borrower’s collateral, before proceeding against Guarantor; (D) apply any payments or proceeds received against the Indebtedness in any order; (E) give notice
of the terms, time, and place of any sale of the collateral pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code or any other law governing such sale; (F) disclose any
information about the Indebtedness, the Borrower, the collateral, or any other guarantor or surety, or about any action or nonaction of Lender; or (G) pursue
any remedy or course of action in Lender’s power whatsoever.
 
Guarantor also waives any and all rights or defenses arising by reason of (H) any disability or other defense of Borrower, any other guarantor or surety or any
other person; (I) the cessation from any cause whatsoever, other than payment in full, of the Indebtedness; (J) the application of proceeds of the Indebtedness
by Borrower for purposes other than the purposes understood and intended by Guarantor and Lender; (K) any act of omission or commission by Lender
which directly or indirectly results in or contributes to the discharge of Borrower or any other guarantor or surety, or the Indebtedness, or the loss or release of
any collateral by operation of law or otherwise; (L) any statute of limitations in any action under this Guaranty or on the Indebtedness; or (M) any
modification or change in terms of the Indebtedness, whatsoever, including without limitation, the renewal, extension, acceleration, or other change in the time
payment of the Indebtedness is due and any change in the interest rate, and including any such modification or change in terms after revocation of this
Guaranty on the Indebtedness incurred prior to such revocation.
 
Guarantor waives all rights of subrogation, reimbursement, indemnification, and contribution and any other rights and defenses that are or may become
available to Guarantor by reason of California Civil Code Sections 2787 to 2855, inclusive.
 
Guarantor waives all rights and any defenses arising out of an election of remedies by Lender even though that the election of remedies, such as a non-judicial
foreclosure with respect to security for a guaranteed obligation, has destroyed Guarantor’s rights of subrogation and reimbursement against Borrower by
operation of Section 580d of the California Code of Civil Procedure or otherwise.
 
Guarantor waives all rights and defenses that Guarantor may have because Borrower’s obligation is secured by real property. This means among other things:
(N) Lender may collect from Guarantor without first foreclosing on any real or personal property collateral pledged by Borrower. (O) If Lender forecloses on
any real property collateral pledged by Borrower: (1) the amount of Borrower’s obligation may be reduced only by the price for which the collateral is sold at
the foreclosure sale, even if the collateral is worth more than the sale price. (2) Lender may collect from Guarantor even if Lender, by foreclosing on the real
property collateral, has destroyed any right Guarantor may have to collect from Borrower. This is an unconditional and irrevocable waiver of any rights and
defenses Guarantor may have because Borrower’s obligation is secured by real property. These rights and defenses include, but are not limited to, any rights
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and defenses based upon Section 580a, 580b, 580d, or 726 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
 
Guarantor understands and agrees that the foregoing waivers are unconditional and irrevocable waivers of substantive rights and defenses to which Guarantor
might otherwise be entitled under state and federal law. The rights and defenses waived include, without limitation, those provided by California laws of
suretyship and guaranty, anti-deficiency laws, and the Uniform Commercial Code. Guarantor acknowledges that Guarantor has provided these waivers of
rights and defenses with the intention that they be fully relied upon by Lender. Guarantor further understands and agrees that this Guaranty is a separate and
independent contract between Guarantor and Lender, given for full and ample consideration, and is enforceable on its own terms. Until all of the Indebtedness
is paid in full, Guarantor waives any right to enforce any remedy Guarantor may have against the Borrower or any other guarantor, surety, or other person,
and further, Guarantor waives any right to participate in any collateral for the Indebtedness now or hereafter held by Lender.
 
Guarantor’s Understanding With Respect To Waivers. Guarantor warrants and agrees that each of the waivers set forth above is made with Guarantor’s
full knowledge of its significance and consequences and that, under the circumstances, the waivers are reasonable and not contrary to public policy or law. If
any such waiver is determined to be contrary to any applicable law or public policy, such waiver shall be effective only to the extent permitted by law or public
policy.
  
Subordination of Borrower’s Debts to Guarantor. Guarantor agrees that the Indebtedness, whether now existing or hereafter created, shall be superior to
any claim that Guarantor may now have or hereafter acquire against Borrower, whether or not Borrower becomes insolvent.
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Guarantor hereby expressly subordinates any claim Guarantor may have against Borrower, upon any account whatsoever, to any claim that Lender may now
or hereafter have against Borrower. In the event of insolvency and consequent liquidation of the assets of Borrower, through bankruptcy, by an assignment for
the benefit of creditors, by voluntary liquidation, or otherwise, the assets of Borrower applicable to the payment of the claims of both Lender and Guarantor
shall be paid to Lender and shall be first applied by Lender to the Indebtedness. Guarantor does hereby assign to Lender all claims which it may have or
acquire against Borrower or against any assignee or trustee in bankruptcy of Borrower; provided however, that such assignment shall be effective only for the
purpose of assuring to Lender full payment in legal tender of the Indebtedness. If Lender so requests, any notes or credit agreements now or hereafter
evidencing any debts or obligations of Borrower to Guarantor shall be marked with a legend that the same are subject to this Guaranty and shall be delivered to
Lender. Guarantor agrees, and Lender is hereby authorized, in the name of Guarantor, from time to time to file financing statements and continuation
statements and to execute documents and to take such other actions as Lender deems necessary or appropriate to perfect, preserve and enforce its rights under
this Guaranty.
 
Miscellaneous Provisions. The following miscellaneous provisions are a part of this Guaranty:
 
AMENDMENTS. This Guaranty, together with any Related Documents, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters
set forth in this Guaranty. No alteration of or amendment to this Guaranty shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party or parties sought to
be charged or bound by the alteration or amendment.
 
ARBITRATION. Guarantor and Lender agree that all disputes, claims and controversies between them whether individual, joint, or class in
nature, arising from this Guaranty or otherwise, including without limitation contract and tort disputes, shall be arbitrated pursuant to the
financial services rules of J.A.M.S or its successor in effect at the time the claim is filed, upon request of either party. No act to take or dispose of
any Collateral shall constitute a waiver of this arbitration agreement or be prohibited by this arbitration agreement. This includes, without
limitation, obtaining injunctive relief or a temporary restraining order; invoking a power of sale under any deed of trust or mortgage; obtaining a
writ of attachment or imposition of a receiver; or exercising any rights relating to personal property, including taking or disposing of such property
with or without judicial process pursuant Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code. Any disputes, claims, or controversies concerning the
lawfulness or reasonableness of any act, or exercise of any right, concerning any Collateral, including any claim to rescind, reform, or otherwise
modify any agreement relating to the Collateral, shall also be arbitrated, provided however that no arbitrator shall have the right or the power
to enjoin or restrain any act of any party. Borrower and Guarantor and Lender agree that in the event of an action for judicial foreclosure
pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 726, or any similar provision in any other state, the commencement of such an action will
not constitute a waiver of the right to arbitrate and the court shall refer to arbitration as much of such action, including counterclaims, as
lawfully may be referred to arbitration. Judgment upon any award rendered by any arbitrator may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction. Nothing in this Guaranty shall preclude any party from seeking equitable relief from a court of competent jurisdiction. The statute
of limitations, estoppel, waiver, laches, and similar doctrines which would otherwise be applicable in an action brought by a party shall be
applicable in any arbitration proceeding, and the commencement of an arbitration proceeding shall be deemed the commencement of an action for
these purposes. The Federal Arbitration Act shall apply to the construction, interpretation, and enforcement of this arbitration provision.
 
ATTORNEYS’ FEES; EXPENSES. Guarantor agrees to pay upon demand all of Lender’s costs and expenses, including Lender’s attorneys’ fees and
Lender’s legal expenses, incurred in connection with the enforcement of this Guaranty. Lender may hire or pay someone else to help enforce this Guaranty, and
Guarantor shall pay the costs and expenses of such enforcement. Costs and expenses include Lender’s attorneys’ fees and legal expenses whether or not there is
a lawsuit, including attorneys’ fees and legal expenses for bankruptcy proceedings (including efforts to modify or vacate any automatic stay or injunction),
appeals, and any anticipated post-judgment collection services. Guarantor also shall pay all court costs and such additional fees as may be directed by the
court.
 
CAPTION HEADINGS. Caption headings in this Guaranty are for convenience purposes only and are not to be used to interpret or define the provisions of
this Guaranty.
 
GOVERNING LAW. This Guaranty will be governed by federal law applicable to Lender and, to the extent not preempted by federal law, the
laws of the State of California without regard to its conflicts of law provisions.
 
CHOICE OF VENUE. If there is a lawsuit, Guarantor agrees upon Lender’s request to submit to the jurisdiction of the courts of LOS ANGELES County,
State of California.
 
INTEGRATION. Guarantor further agrees that Guarantor has read and fully understands the terms of this Guaranty; Guarantor has had the opportunity to
be advised by Guarantor’s attorney with respect to this Guaranty; the Guaranty fully reflects Guarantor’s intentions and parol evidence is not required to
interpret the terms of this Guaranty. Guarantor hereby indemnifies and holds Lender harmless from all losses, claims, damages, and costs (including
Lender’s attorneys’ fees) suffered or incurred by Lender as a result of any breach by Guarantor of the warranties, representations and agreements of this
paragraph.
 
INTERPRETATION. In all cases where there is more than one Borrower or Guarantor, then all words used in this Guaranty in the singular shall be deemed
to have been used in the plural where the context and construction so require; and where there is more than one Borrower named in this Guaranty or when this
Guaranty is executed by more than one Guarantor, the words “Borrower” and “Guarantor” respectively shall mean all and any one or more of them. The
words “Guarantor,” “Borrower,” and “Lender” include the heirs, successors, assigns, and transferees of each of them. If a court finds that any provision of
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this Guaranty is not valid or should not be enforced, that fact by itself will not mean that the rest of this Guaranty will not be valid or enforced. Therefore, a
court will enforce the rest of the provisions of this Guaranty even if a provision of this Guaranty may be found to be invalid or unenforceable. If any one or
more of Borrower or Guarantor are corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, or similar entities, it is not necessary for Lender to inquire into the
powers of Borrower or Guarantor or of the officers, directors, partners, managers, or other agents acting or purporting to act on their behalf, and any
indebtedness made or created in reliance upon the professed exercise of such powers shall be guaranteed under this Guaranty.
 
NOTICES. Any notice required to be given under this Guaranty shall be given in writing, and, except for revocation notices by Guarantor, shall be effective
when actually delivered, when actually received by telefacsimile (unless otherwise required by law), when deposited with a nationally recognized overnight
courier, or, if mailed, when deposited in the United States mail, as first class, certified or registered mail postage prepaid, directed to the addresses shown near
the beginning of this Guaranty. All revocation notices by Guarantor shall be in writing and shall be effective upon delivery to Lender as provided in the section
of this Guaranty entitled “DURATION OF GUARANTY.” Any party may change its address for notices under this Guaranty by giving formal written notice
to the other parties, specifying that the purpose of the notice is to change the party’s address. For notice purposes. Guarantor agrees to keep Lender informed at
all times of Guarantor’s current address. Unless otherwise provided or required by law, if there is more than one Guarantor, any notice given by Lender to any
Guarantor is deemed to be notice given to all Guarantors.
 
NO WAIVER BY LENDER. Lender shall not be deemed to have waived any rights under this Guaranty unless such waiver is given in writing and signed
by Lender. No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. A waiver by Lender of
a provision of this Guaranty shall not prejudice or constitute a waiver of Lender’s right otherwise to demand strict compliance with that provision or any other
provision of this Guaranty. No prior waiver by Lender, nor any course of dealing between Lender and Guarantor, shall constitute a waiver of any of Lender’s
rights or of any of Guarantor’s obligations as to any future transactions. Whenever the consent of Lender is required under this Guaranty, the granting of such
consent by Lender in any instance shall not constitute continuing consent to subsequent instances where such consent is required and in all cases such
consent may be granted or withheld in the sole discretion of Lender.
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SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. Subject to any limitations stated in this Guaranty on transfer of Guarantor’s interest, this Guaranty shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the parties, their successors and assigns.
 
WAIVE JURY. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Lender and Guarantor hereby waive the right to any jury trial in any action,
proceeding, or counterclaim brought by either Lender or Guarantor against the other.
 
NATURE OF GUARANTY. Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall be open and continuous for so long as this Guaranty remains in force.
Guarantor intends to guarantee at all times performance and prompt payment when due, whether at maturity or earlier by reason of acceleration or otherwise, of
all indebtedness. Accordingly, no payments made upon the indebtedness will discharge or diminish the continuing liability or Guarantor in connection with
any remaining portions of the indebtedness or any of the indebtedness which subsequently arises or is thereafter incurred or contracted.
 
PRIOR COMMERCIAL GUARANTY.  This Commercial Guaranty hereby supersedes and replaces that certain prior Commercial Guaranty dated
November 9, 2007, along with all modification(s) and amendment(s) thereto.
 
Definitions. The following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings when used in this Guaranty. Unless specifically stated to the
contrary, all references to dollar amounts shall mean amounts in lawful money of the United States of America. Words and terms used in the singular shall
include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, as the context may require. Words and terms not otherwise defined in this Guaranty shall have the
meanings attributed to such terms in the Uniform Commercial Code:
 
BORROWER. The word “Borrower” means EACO CORPORATION and includes all co-signers and co-makers signing the Note and all their successors
and assigns.
 
GUARANTOR. The word “Guarantor” means everyone signing this Guaranty, including without limitation GLEN F. CEILEY, and in each case, any
signer’s successors and assigns.
 
GUARANTY. The word “Guaranty” means this guaranty from Guarantor to Lender.
 
INDEBTEDNESS. The word “Indebtedness” means Borrower’s indebtedness to Lender as more particularly described in this Guaranty.
 
LENDER. The word “Lender” means COMMUNITY BANK, its successors and assigns.
 
NOTE. The word “Note” means and includes without limitation all of Borrower’s promissory notes and/or credit agreements evidencing Borrower’s loan
obligations in favor of Lender, together with all renewals of, extensions of, modifications of, refinancings of, consolidations of and substitutions for
promissory notes or credit agreement.
 
RELATED DOCUMENTS. The words “Related Documents” mean all promissory notes, credit agreements, loan agreements, environmental agreements,
guaranties, security agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, security deeds, collateral mortgages, and all other instruments, agreements and documents, whether
now or hereafter existing, executed in connection with the Indebtedness.
 
EACH UNDERSIGNED GUARANTOR ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS GUARANTY AND
AGREES TO ITS TERMS. IN ADDITION, EACH GUARANTOR UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS GUARANTY IS EFFECTIVE UPON
GUARANTOR’S EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS GUARANTY TO LENDER AND THAT THE GUARANTY WILL CONTINUE
UNTIL TERMINATED IN THE MANNER SET FORTH IN THE SECTION TITLED “DURATION OF GUARANTY”. NO FORMAL
ACCEPTANCE BY LENDER IS NECESSARY TO MAKE THIS GUARANTY EFFECTIVE. THIS GUARANTY IS DATED NOVEMBER
12, 2013.
 
GUARANTOR:
 
 /s/ GLEN F. CEILEY  
 GLEN F. CEILEY  
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CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT

 
STATE OF California     )  
      ) ss  
COUNTY OF   Orange     )  
    
    
  
On      November 12                      ,  2013 before me,                          Courtney Cresap, Notary Public                                 ,
 (here insert name and title of the officer)
 
personally appeared GLEN F. CEILEY, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is subscribed to the within
instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity(ies), and that by his signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or
the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.
  

 
  

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.   
   
Signature /s/ Courtney Cresap                                              (Seal)
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Principal Loan Date Maturity Loan No Call / Coll Account Officer Initials

    CLS 52 / 810  230
References in the boxes above are for Lender’s use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to any particular loan or item.

Any item above containing “***” has been omitted due to text length limitations.
 
Borrower: EACO CORPORATION  Lender: COMMUNITY BANK
 1500 N. LAKEVIEW AVENUE   REAL ESTATE GROUP
 ANAHEIM,  CA 92807   790 EAST COLORADO BOULEVARD
    PASADENA, CA 91101
    (800) 788-9999
     
Guarantor: GLEN F. CEILEY AND BARBARA A. CEILEY    
 REVOCABLE TRUST    
 304 EVENING STAR LANE    
 NEWPORT BEACH, CA 92660    
     
 
CONTINUING GUARANTEE OF PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE. For good and valuable consideration, Guarantor absolutely and
unconditionally guarantees full and punctual payment and satisfaction of the Indebtedness of Borrower to Lender, and the performance and discharge of all
Borrower’s obligations under the Note and the Related Documents. This is a guaranty of payment and performance and not of collection, so Lender can
enforce this Guaranty against Guarantor even when Lender has not exhausted Lender’s remedies against anyone else obligated to pay the Indebtedness or
against any collateral securing the Indebtedness, this Guaranty or any other guaranty of the Indebtedness. Guarantor will make any payments to Lender or its
order, on demand, in legal tender of the United States of America, in same-day funds, without set-off or deduction or counterclaim, and will otherwise perform
Borrower’s obligations under the Note and Related Documents. Under this Guaranty, Guarantor’s liability is unlimited and Guarantor’s obligations are
continuing.
 
INDEBTEDNESS. The word “Indebtedness” as used in this Guaranty means all of the principal amount outstanding from time to time and at any one or
more times, accrued unpaid interest thereon and all collection costs and legal expenses related thereto permitted by law, attorneys’ fees, arising from any and all
debts, liabilities and obligations of every nature or form, now existing or hereafter arising or acquired, that Borrower individually or collectively or
interchangeably with others, owes or will owe Lender. “Indebtedness” includes, without limitation, loans, advances, debts, overdraft indebtedness, credit card
indebtedness, lease obligations, liabilities and obligations under any interest rate protection agreements or foreign currency exchange agreements or commodity
price protection agreements, other obligations, and liabilities of Borrower, and any present or future judgments against Borrower, future advances, loans or
transactions that renew, extend, modify, refinance, consolidate or substitute these debts, liabilities and obligations whether: voluntarily or involuntarily
incurred; due or to become due by their terms or acceleration; absolute or contingent; liquidated or unliquidated; determined or undetermined; direct or
indirect; primary or secondary in nature or arising from a guaranty or surety; secured or unsecured; joint or several or joint and several; evidenced by a
negotiable or non-negotiable instrument or writing; originated by Lender or another or others; barred or unenforceable against Borrower for any reason
whatsoever; for any transactions that may be voidable for any reason (such as infancy, insanity, ultra vires or otherwise); and originated then reduced or
extinguished and then afterwards increased or reinstated.

 
If Lender presently holds one or more guaranties, or hereafter receives additional guaranties from Guarantor, Lender’s rights under all guaranties shall be
cumulative. This Guaranty shall not (unless specifically provided below to the contrary) affect or invalidate any such other guaranties. Guarantor’s liability
will be Guarantor’s aggregate liability under the terms of this Guaranty and any such other unterminated guaranties.

 
CONTINUING GUARANTY. THIS IS A “CONTINUING GUARANTY” UNDER WHICH GUARANTOR AGREES TO GUARANTEE THE FULL
AND PUNCTUAL PAYMENT, PERFORMANCE AND SATISFACTION OF THE INDEBTEDNESS OF BORROWER TO LENDER, NOW
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING OR ACQUIRED, ON AN OPEN AND CONTINUING BASIS. ACCORDINGLY, ANY PAYMENTS MADE ON
THE INDEBTEDNESS WILL NOT DISCHARGE OR DIMINISH GUARANTOR’S OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITY UNDER THIS GUARANTY
FOR ANY REMAINING AND SUCCEEDING INDEBTEDNESS EVEN WHEN ALL OR PART OF THE OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS MAY
BE A ZERO BALANCE FROM TIME TO TIME.

 
DURATION OF GUARANTY. This Guaranty will take effect when received by Lender without the necessity of any acceptance by Lender, or any notice to
Guarantor or to Borrower, and will continue in full force until all the Indebtedness incurred or contracted before receipt by Lender of any notice of revocation
shall have been fully and finally paid and satisfied and all of Guarantor’s other obligations under this Guaranty shall have been performed in full. If
Guarantor elects to revoke this Guaranty, Guarantor may only do so in writing. Guarantor’s written notice of revocation must be mailed to Lender, by certified
mail, at Lender’s address listed above or such other place as Lender may designate in writing. Written revocation of this Guaranty will apply only to new
Indebtedness created after actual receipt by Lender of Guarantor’s written revocation. For this purpose and without limitation, the term “new Indebtedness”
does not include the Indebtedness which at the time of notice of revocation is contingent, unliquidated, undetermined or not due and which later becomes
absolute, liquidated, determined or due. For this purpose and without limitation, “new Indebtedness” does not include all or part of the Indebtedness that is:
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incurred by Borrower prior to revocation; incurred under a commitment that became binding before revocation; any renewals, extensions, substitutions, and
modifications of the Indebtedness. This Guaranty shall bind Guarantor’s estate as to the Indebtedness created both before and after Guarantor’s death or
incapacity, regardless of Lender’s actual notice of Guarantor’s death. Subject to the foregoing, Guarantor’s executor or administrator or other legal
representative may terminate this Guaranty in the same manner in which Guarantor might have terminated it and with the same effect. Release of any other
guarantor or termination of any other guaranty of the Indebtedness shall not affect the liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty. A revocation Lender receives
from any one or more Guarantors shall not affect the liability of any remaining Guarantors under this Guaranty. Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty
shall be in addition to any of Guarantor’s obligations, or any of them, under any other guaranties of the Indebtedness or any other person heretofore or hereafter
given to Lender unless such other guaranties are modified or revoked in writing; and this Guarantor shall not, unless provided in this Guaranty, affect,
invalidate, or supersede any such other guaranty. It is anticipated that fluctuations may occur in the aggregate amount of the Indebtedness covered
by this Guaranty, and Guarantor specifically acknowledges and agrees that reductions in the amount of the Indebtedness, even to zero dollars
($0.00), shall not constitute a termination of this Guaranty. This Guaranty is binding upon Guarantor and Guarantor’s heirs, successors and
assigns so long as any of the Indebtedness remains unpaid and even though the Indebtedness may from time to time be zero dollars ($0.00).

 
GUARANTOR’S AUTHORIZATION TO LENDER.  Guarantor authorizes Lender, either before or after any revocation hereof, without notice or
demand and without lessening Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty, from time to time:  (A) prior to revocation as set forth above, to make one
or more additional secured or unsecured loans to Borrower, to lease equipment or other goods to Borrower, or otherwise to extend additional credit to Borrower;
(B) to alter, compromise, renew, extend, accelerate, or otherwise change one or more times the time for payment or other terms of the Indebtedness or any part
of the Indebtedness, including increases and decreases of the rate of interest on the Indebtedness; extensions may be repeated and may be for longer than the
original loan term; (C) to take and hold security for the payment of this Guaranty or the Indebtedness, and exchange, enforce, waive, subordinate, fail or
decide not to perfect, and release any such security, with or without the substitution of new collateral; (D) to release, substitute, agree not to sue, or deal with
any one or more of Borrower’s sureties, endorsers, or other guarantors on any terms or in any manner Lender may choose; (E) to determine how, when and
what application of payments and credits shall be made on the Indebtedness; (F) to apply such security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof,
including without limitation, any nonjudicial sale permitted by the terms of the controlling security agreement or deed of trust, as Lender in its discretion may
determine; (G) to sell, transfer, assign or grant participations in all or any part of the Indebtedness; and (H) to assign or transfer this Guaranty in whole or in
part.
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GUARANTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Guarantor represents and warrants to Lender that (A) no representations or agreements
of any kind have been made to Guarantor which would limit or qualify in any way the terms of this Guaranty; (B) this Guaranty is executed at Borrower’s
request and not at the request of Lender; (C) Guarantor has full power, right and authority to enter into this Guaranty; (D) the provisions of this Guaranty do
not conflict with or result in a default under any agreement or other instrument binding upon Guarantor and do not result in a violation of any law, regulation,
court decree or order applicable to Guarantor; (E) Guarantor has not and will not, without the prior written consent of Lender, sell, lease, assign, encumber,
hypothecate, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of Guarantor’s assets, or any interest therein; (F) upon Lender’s request, Guarantor will
provide to Lender financial and credit information in form acceptable to Lender, and all such financial information which currently has been, and all future
financial information which will be provided to Lender is and will be true and correct in all material respects and fairly present Guarantor’s financial condition
as of the dates the financial information is provided; (G) no material adverse change has occurred in Guarantor’s financial condition since the date of the most
recent financial statements provided to Lender and no event has occurred which may materially adversely affect Guarantor’s financial condition; (H) no
litigation, claim, investigation, administrative proceeding or similar action (including those for unpaid taxes) against Guarantor is pending or threatened; (I)
Lender has made no representation to Guarantor as to the creditworthiness of Borrower; and (J) Guarantor has established adequate means of obtaining from
Borrower on a continuing basis information regarding Borrower’s financial condition. Guarantor agrees to keep adequately informed from such means of any
facts, events, or circumstances which might in any way affect Guarantor’s risks under this Guaranty, and Guarantor further agrees that, absent a request for
information, Lender shall have no obligation to disclose to Guarantor any information or documents acquired by Lender in the course of its relationship with
Borrower.
 
GUARANTOR’S WAIVERS. Except as prohibited by applicable law, Guarantor waives any right to require Lender to (A) make any presentment, protest,
demand, or notice of any kind, including notice of change of any terms of repayment of the Indebtedness, default by Borrower or any other guarantor or
surety, any action or nonaction taken by Borrower, Lender, or any other guarantor or surety of Borrower, or the creation of new or additional Indebtedness;
(B) proceed against any person, including Borrower, before proceeding against Guarantor; (C) proceed against any collateral for the Indebtedness, including
Borrower’s collateral, before proceeding against Guarantor; (D) apply any payments or proceeds received against the Indebtedness in any order; (E) give notice
of the terms, time, and place of any sale of the collateral pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code or any other law governing such sale; (F) disclose any
information about the Indebtedness, the Borrower, the collateral, or any other guarantor or surety, or about any action or nonaction of Lender; or (G) pursue
any remedy or course of action in Lender’s power whatsoever.
 
Guarantor also waives any and all rights or defenses arising by reason of (H) any disability or other defense of Borrower, any other guarantor or surety or any
other person; (I) the cessation from any cause whatsoever, other than payment in full, of the Indebtedness; (J) the application of proceeds of the Indebtedness
by Borrower for purposes other than the purposes understood and intended by Guarantor and Lender; (K) any act of omission or commission by Lender
which directly or indirectly results in or contributes to the discharge of Borrower or any other guarantor or surety, or the Indebtedness, or the loss or release of
any collateral by operation of law or otherwise; (L) any statute of limitations in any action under this Guaranty or on the Indebtedness; or (M) any
modification or change in terms of the Indebtedness, whatsoever, including without limitation, the renewal, extension, acceleration, or other change in the time
payment of the Indebtedness is due and any change in the interest rate, and including any such modification or change in terms after revocation of this
Guaranty on the Indebtedness incurred prior to such revocation.
 
Guarantor waives all rights of subrogation, reimbursement, indemnification, and contribution and any other rights and defenses that are or may become
available to Guarantor by reason of California Civil Code Sections 2787 to 2855, inclusive.
 
Guarantor waives all rights and any defenses arising out of an election of remedies by Lender even though that the election of remedies, such as a non-judicial
foreclosure with respect to security for a guaranteed obligation, has destroyed Guarantor’s rights of subrogation and reimbursement against Borrower by
operation of Section 580d of the California Code of Civil Procedure or otherwise.
 
Guarantor waives all rights and defenses that Guarantor may have because Borrower’s obligation is secured by real property. This means among other things:
(N) Lender may collect from Guarantor without first foreclosing on any real or personal property collateral pledged by Borrower. (O) If Lender forecloses on
any real property collateral pledged by Borrower: (1) the amount of Borrower’s obligation may be reduced only by the price for which the collateral is sold at
the foreclosure sale, even if the collateral is worth more than the sale price. (2) Lender may collect from Guarantor even if Lender, by foreclosing on the real
property collateral, has destroyed any right Guarantor may have to collect from Borrower. This is an unconditional and irrevocable waiver of any rights and
defenses Guarantor may have because Borrower’s obligation is secured by real property. These rights and defenses include, but are not limited to, any rights
and defenses based upon Section 580a, 580b, 580d, or 726 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
 
Guarantor understands and agrees that the foregoing waivers are unconditional and irrevocable waivers of substantive rights and defenses to which Guarantor
might otherwise be entitled under state and federal law. The rights and defenses waived include, without limitation, those provided by California laws of
suretyship and guaranty, anti-deficiency laws, and the Uniform Commercial Code. Guarantor acknowledges that Guarantor has provided these waivers of
rights and defenses with the intention that they be fully relied upon by Lender. Guarantor further understands and agrees that this Guaranty is a separate and
independent contract between Guarantor and Lender, given for full and ample consideration, and is enforceable on its own terms. Until all of the Indebtedness
is paid in full, Guarantor waives any right to enforce any remedy Guarantor may have against the Borrower or any other guarantor, surety, or other person,
and further, Guarantor waives any right to participate in any collateral for the Indebtedness now or hereafter held by Lender.
 
Guarantor’s Understanding With Respect To Waivers. Guarantor warrants and agrees that each of the waivers set forth above is made with Guarantor’s
full knowledge of its significance and consequences and that, under the circumstances, the waivers are reasonable and not contrary to public policy or law. If
any such waiver is determined to be contrary to any applicable law or public policy, such waiver shall be effective only to the extent permitted by law or public
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policy.
 
Subordination of Borrower’s Debts to Guarantor. Guarantor agrees that the Indebtedness, whether now existing or hereafter created, shall be superior to
any claim that Guarantor may now have or hereafter acquire against Borrower, whether or not Borrower becomes insolvent. Guarantor hereby expressly
subordinates any claim Guarantor may have against Borrower, upon any account whatsoever, to any claim that Lender may now or hereafter have against
Borrower. In the event of insolvency and consequent liquidation of the assets of Borrower, through bankruptcy, by an assignment for the benefit of creditors,
by voluntary liquidation, or otherwise, the assets of Borrower applicable to the payment of the claims of both Lender and Guarantor shall be paid to Lender
and shall be first applied by Lender to the Indebtedness. Guarantor does hereby assign to Lender all claims which it may have or acquire against Borrower or
against any assignee or trustee in bankruptcy of Borrower; provided however, that such assignment shall be effective only for the purpose of assuring to
Lender full payment in legal tender of the Indebtedness. If Lender so requests, any notes or credit agreements now or hereafter evidencing any debts or
obligations of Borrower to Guarantor shall be marked with a legend that the same are subject to this Guaranty and shall be delivered to Lender. Guarantor
agrees, and Lender is hereby authorized, in the name of Guarantor, from time to time to file financing statements and continuation statements and to execute
documents and to take such other actions as Lender deems necessary or appropriate to perfect, preserve and enforce its rights under this Guaranty.
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Miscellaneous Provisions. The following miscellaneous provisions are a part of this Guaranty:
 
AMENDMENTS. This Guaranty, together with any Related Documents, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters
set forth in this Guaranty. No alteration of or amendment to this Guaranty shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party or parties sought to
be charged or bound by the alteration or amendment.
 
ARBITRATION. Borrower and Guarantor and Lender agree that all disputes, claims and controversies between them whether individual, joint, or class in
nature, arising from this Guaranty or otherwise, including without limitation contract and tort disputes, shall be arbitrated pursuant to the financial services
rules of J.A.M.S. or its successor in effect at the time the claim is filed, upon request of either party. No act to take or dispose of any Collateral shall constitute
a waiver of this arbitration agreement or be prohibited by this arbitration agreement. This includes, without limitation, obtaining injunctive relief or a
temporary restraining order; invoking a power of sale under any deed of trust or mortgage; obtaining a writ of attachment or imposition of a receiver; or
exercising any rights relating to personal property, including taking or disposing of such property with or without judicial process pursuant to Article 9 of the
Uniform Commercial Code. Any disputes, claims, or controversies concerning the lawfulness or reasonableness of any act, or exercise of any right,
concerning any Collateral, including any claim to rescind, reform, or otherwise modify any agreement relating to the Collateral, shall also be arbitrated,
provided however that no arbitrator shall have the right or the power to enjoin or restrain any act of any party. Borrower and Guarantor and Lender agree that
in the event of an action for judicial foreclosure pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 726, or any similar provision in any other state, the
commencement of such an action will not constitute a waiver of the right to arbitrate and the court shall refer to arbitration as much of such action, including
counterclaims, as lawfully may be referred to arbitration. Judgment upon any award rendered by any arbitrator may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction. Nothing in this Guaranty shall preclude any party from seeking equitable relief from a court of competent jurisdiction. The statute of limitations,
estoppel, waiver, laches, and similar doctrines which would otherwise be applicable in an action brought by a party shall be applicable in any arbitration
proceeding, and the commencement of an arbitration proceeding shall be deemed the commencement of an action for these purposes. The Federal Arbitration
Act shall apply to the construction, interpretation, and enforcement of this arbitration provision.
 
ATTORNEYS’ FEES; EXPENSES. Guarantor agrees to pay upon demand all of Lender’s costs and expenses, including Lender’s attorneys’ fees and
Lender’s legal expenses, incurred in connection with the enforcement of this Guaranty. Lender may hire or pay someone else to help enforce this Guaranty, and
Guarantor shall pay the costs and expenses of such enforcement. Costs and expenses include Lender’s attorneys’ fees and legal expenses whether or not there is
a lawsuit, including attorneys’ fees and legal expenses for bankruptcy proceedings (including efforts to modify or vacate any automatic stay or injunction),
appeals, and any anticipated post-judgment collection services. Guarantor also shall pay all court costs and such additional fees as may be directed by the
court.
 
CAPTION HEADINGS. Caption headings in this Guaranty are for convenience purposes only and are not to be used to interpret or define the provisions of
this Guaranty.
 
GOVERNING LAW. This Guaranty will be governed by federal law applicable to Lender and, to the extent not preempted by federal law, the
laws of the State of California without regard to its conflicts of law provisions.
 
INTEGRATION. Guarantor further agrees that Guarantor has read and fully understands the terms of this Guaranty; Guarantor has had the opportunity to
be advised by Guarantor’s attorney with respect to this Guaranty; the Guaranty fully reflects Guarantor’s intentions and parol evidence is not required to
interpret the terms of this Guaranty. Guarantor hereby indemnifies and holds Lender harmless from all losses, claims, damages, and costs (including
Lender’s attorneys’ fees) suffered or incurred by Lender as a result of any breach by Guarantor of the warranties, representations and agreements of this
paragraph.
 
INTERPRETATION. In all cases where there is more than one Borrower or Guarantor, then all words used in this Guaranty in the singular shall be deemed
to have been used in the plural where the context and construction so require; and where there is more than one Borrower named in this Guaranty or when this
Guaranty is executed by more than one Guarantor, the words “Borrower” and “Guarantor” respectively shall mean all and any one or more of them. The
words “Guarantor,” “Borrower,” and “Lender” include the heirs, successors, assigns, and transferees of each of them. If a court finds that any provision of
this Guaranty is not valid or should not be enforced, that fact by itself will not mean that the rest of this Guaranty will not be valid or enforced. Therefore, a
court will enforce the rest of the provisions of this Guaranty even if a provision of this Guaranty may be found to be invalid or unenforceable. If any one or
more of Borrower or Guarantor are corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, or similar entities, it is not necessary for Lender to inquire into the
powers of Borrower or Guarantor or of the officers, directors, partners, managers, or other agents acting or purporting to act on their behalf, and any
indebtedness made or created in reliance upon the professed exercise of such powers shall be guaranteed under this Guaranty.
 
NOTICES. Any notice required to be given under this Guaranty shall be given in writing, and, except for revocation notices by Guarantor, shall be effective
when actually delivered, when actually received by telefacsimile (unless otherwise required by law), when deposited with a nationally recognized overnight
courier, or, if mailed, when deposited in the United States mail, as first class, certified or registered mail postage prepaid, directed to the addresses shown near
the beginning of this Guaranty. All revocation notices by Guarantor shall be in writing and shall be effective upon delivery to Lender as provided in the section
of this Guaranty entitled “DURATION OF GUARANTY.” Any party may change its address for notices under this Guaranty by giving formal written notice
to the other parties, specifying that the purpose of the notice is to change the party’s address. For notice purposes. Guarantor agrees to keep Lender informed at
all times of Guarantor’s current address. Unless otherwise provided or required by law, if there is more than one Guarantor, any notice given by Lender to any
Guarantor is deemed to be notice given to all Guarantors.
 

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



NO WAIVER BY LENDER. Lender shall not be deemed to have waived any rights under this Guaranty unless such waiver is given in writing and signed
by Lender. No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. A waiver by Lender of
a provision of this Guaranty shall not prejudice or constitute a waiver of Lender’s right otherwise to demand strict compliance with that provision or any other
provision of this Guaranty. No prior waiver by Lender, nor any course of dealing between Lender and Guarantor, shall constitute a waiver of any of Lender’s
rights or of any of Guarantor’s obligations as to any future transactions. Whenever the consent of Lender is required under this Guaranty, the granting of such
consent by Lender in any instance shall not constitute continuing consent to subsequent instances where such consent is required and in all cases such
consent may be granted or withheld in the sole discretion of Lender.
 

 

Source: EACO CORP, 10-K, November 29, 2013 Powered by Morningstar® Document Research℠
The information contained herein may not be copied, adapted or distributed and is not warranted to be accurate, complete or timely. The user assumes all risks for any damages or losses arising from any use of this information,
except to the extent such damages or losses cannot be limited or excluded by applicable law. Past financial performance is no guarantee of future results.



 

 
COMMERCIAL GUARANTY  

Loan No: 75101054 (Continued) Page 4
   

   
SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. Subject to any limitations stated in this Guaranty on transfer of Guarantor’s interest, this Guaranty shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the parties, their successors and assigns.
 
WAIVE JURY. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Lender and Guarantor hereby waive the right to any jury trial in any action,
proceeding, or counterclaim brought by either Lender or Guarantor against the other.
 
NATURE OF GUARANTY. Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall be open and continuous for so long as this Guaranty remains in force.
Guarantor intends to guarantee at all times the performance and prompt payment when due, whether at maturity or earlier by reason of acceleration or
otherwise, of all indebtedness. Accordingly, no payments made upon the indebtedness will discharge or diminish the continuing liability of Guarantor in
connection with any remaining portions of the indebtedness or any of the indebtedness which subsequently arises or is thereafter incurred or contracted.
 
PRIOR COMMERCIAL GUARANTY.  This Commercial Guaranty hereby supersedes and replaces that certain prior Commercial Guaranty dated
November 9, 2007, along with all modification(s) and amendment(s) thereto.
 
Definitions. The following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings when used in this Guaranty. Unless specifically stated to the
contrary, all references to dollar amounts shall mean amounts in lawful money of the United States of America. Words and terms used in the singular shall
include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, as the context may require. Words and terms not otherwise defined in this Guaranty shall have the
meanings attributed to such terms in the Uniform Commercial Code:
 
BORROWER. The word “Borrower” means EACO CORPORATION and includes all co-signers and co-makers signing the Note and all their successors
and assigns.
 
GUARANTOR. The word “Guarantor” means everyone signing this Guaranty, including without limitation GLEN F. CEILEY AND BARBARA A.
CEILEY REVOCABLE TRUST, and in each case, any signer’s successors and assigns.
 
GUARANTY. The word “Guaranty” means this guaranty from Guarantor to Lender.
 
INDEBTEDNESS. The word “Indebtedness” means Borrower’s indebtedness to Lender as more particularly described in this Guaranty.
 
LENDER. The word “Lender” means COMMUNITY BANK, its successors and assigns.
 
NOTE. The word “Note” means and includes without limitation all of Borrower’s promissory notes and/or credit agreements evidencing Borrower’s loan
obligations in favor of Lender, together with all renewals of, extensions of, modifications of, refinancings of, consolidations of and substitutions for
promissory notes or credit agreements.
 
RELATED DOCUMENTS. The words “Related Documents” mean all promissory notes, credit agreements, loan agreements, environmental agreements,
guaranties, security agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, security deeds, collateral mortgages, and all other instruments, agreements and documents, whether
now or hereafter existing, executed in connection with the Indebtedness.
 
EACH UNDERSIGNED GUARANTOR ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS GUARANTY AND
AGREES TO ITS TERMS. IN ADDITION, EACH GUARANTOR UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS GUARANTY IS EFFECTIVE UPON
GUARANTOR’S EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS GUARANTY TO LENDER AND THAT THE GUARANTY WILL CONTINUE
UNTIL TERMINATED IN THE MANNER SET FORTH IN THE SECTION TITLED “DURATION OF GUARANTY”. NO FORMAL
ACCEPTANCE BY LENDER IS NECESSARY TO MAKE THIS GUARANTY EFFECTIVE. THIS GUARANTY IS DATED NOVEMBER
12, 2013.
 
GUARANTOR:  
    
GLEN F. CEILEY AND BARBARA A. CEILEY REVOCABLE
TRUST, dated May 9, 2007

 

    
 

By: /s/ GLEN F. CEILEY  By: /s/ BARBARA A. CEILEY
 GLEN F. CEILEY, Trustee of GLEN F. CEILEY  BARBARA A. CEILEY, Trustee of GLEN F. CEILEY
 AND BARBARA A. CEILEY REVOCABLE TRUST   AND BARBARA A. CEILEY REVOCABLE TRUST
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CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT
 

STATE OF California     )  
      ) ss  
COUNTY OF   Orange     )  
  
On      November 12                      ,  2013 before me,                          Courtney Cresap, Notary Public                                 ,
 (here insert name and title of the officer)
 
personally appeared GLEN F. CEILEY and BARBARA A. CEILEY, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose
name(s) are subscribed to the within instrument and acknowledged to me that they executed the same in their authorized capacity(ies), and that by their
signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.
 

 
  

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.   
   
Signature /s/ Courtney Cresap                                              (Seal)
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COMMERCIAL GUARANTY

 
Principal Loan Date Maturity Loan No Call / Coll Account Officer Initials

    CLS 52 / 810  230  
References in the boxes above are for Lender’s use only and do not limit the applicability of this document to any particular loan or item.

Any item above containing “***” has been omitted due to text length limitations.
 

Borrower: EACO CORPORATION  Lender: COMMUNITY BANK
 1500 N. LAKEVIEW AVENUE   REAL ESTATE GROUP
 ANAHEIM, CA 92807   790 EAST COLORADO BOULEVARD
   PASADENA, CA 91101
    (800) 788-9999
    
Guarantor: BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC.    
 1500 NORTH LAKEVIEW AVENUE    
 ANAHEIM, CA 92807    
     

 
CONTINUING GUARANTEE OF PAYMENT AND PERFORMANCE. For good and valuable consideration, Guarantor absolutely and
unconditionally guarantees full and punctual payment and satisfaction of the Indebtedness of Borrower to Lender, and the performance and discharge of all
Borrower’s obligations under the Note and the Related Documents. This is a guaranty of payment and performance and not of collection, so Lender can
enforce this Guaranty against Guarantor even when Lender has not exhausted Lender’s remedies against anyone else obligated to pay the Indebtedness or
against any collateral securing the Indebtedness, this Guaranty or any other guaranty of the Indebtedness. Guarantor will make any payments to Lender or its
order, on demand, in legal tender of the United States of America, in same-day funds, without set-off or deduction or counterclaim, and will otherwise perform
Borrower’s obligations under the Note and Related Documents. Under this Guaranty, Guarantor’s liability is unlimited and Guarantor’s obligations are
continuing.

 
INDEBTEDNESS. The word “Indebtedness” as used in this Guaranty means all of the principal amount outstanding from time to time and at any one or
more times, accrued unpaid interest thereon and all collection costs and legal expenses related thereto permitted by law, attorneys’ fees, arising from any and all
debts, liabilities and obligations of every nature or form, now existing or hereafter arising or acquired, that Borrower individually or collectively or
interchangeably with others, owes or will owe Lender, “Indebtedness” includes, without limitation, loans, advances, debts, overdraft indebtedness, credit card
indebtedness, lease obligations, liabilities and obligations under any interest rate protection agreements or foreign currency exchange agreements or commodity
price protection agreements, other obligations, and liabilities of Borrower, and any present or future judgments against Borrower, future advances, loans or
transactions that renew, extend, modify, refinance, consolidate or substitute these debts, liabilities and obligations whether: voluntarily or involuntarily
incurred; due or to become due by their terms or acceleration; absolute or contingent; liquidated or unliquidated; determined or undetermined; direct or
indirect; primary or secondary in nature or arising from a guaranty or surety; secured or unsecured; joint or several or joint and several; evidenced by a
negotiable or non-negotiable instrument or writing; originated by Lender or another or others; barred or unenforceable against Borrower for any reason
whatsoever; for any transactions that may be voidable for any reason (such as infancy, insanity, ultra vires or otherwise); and originated then reduced or
extinguished and then afterwards increased or reinstated.

 
If Lender presently holds one or more guaranties, or hereafter receives additional guaranties from Guarantor, Lender’s rights under all guaranties shall be
cumulative. This Guaranty shall not (unless specifically provided below to the contrary) affect or invalidate any such other guaranties. Guarantor’s liability
will be Guarantor’s aggregate liability under the terms of this Guaranty and any such other unterminated guaranties.

 
CONTINUING GUARANTY. THIS IS A “CONTINUING GUARANTY” UNDER WHICH GUARANTOR AGREES TO GUARANTEE THE FULL
AND PUNCTUAL PAYMENT, PERFORMANCE AND SATISFACTION OF THE INDEBTEDNESS OF BORROWER TO LENDER, NOW
EXISTING OR HEREAFTER ARISING OR ACQUIRED, ON AN OPEN AND CONTINUING BASIS. ACCORDINGLY, ANY PAYMENTS MADE ON
THE INDEBTEDNESS WILL NOT DISCHARGE OR DIMINISH GUARANTOR’S OBLIGATIONS AND LIABILITY UNDER THIS GUARANTY
FOR ANY REMAINING AND SUCCEEDING INDEBTEDNESS EVEN WHEN ALL OR PART OF THE OUTSTANDING INDEBTEDNESS MAY
BE A ZERO BALANCE FROM TIME TO TIME.

 
DURATION OF GUARANTY. This Guaranty will take effect when received by Lender without the necessity of any acceptance by Lender, or any notice to
Guarantor or to Borrower, and will continue in full force until all the Indebtedness incurred or contracted before receipt by Lender of any notice of revocation
shall have been fully and finally paid and satisfied and all of Guarantor’s other obligations under this Guaranty shall have been performed in full. If
Guarantor elects to revoke this Guaranty, Guarantor may only do so in writing. Guarantor’s written notice of revocation must be mailed to Lender, by certified
mail, at Lender’s address listed above or such other place as Lender may designate in writing. Written revocation of this Guaranty will apply only to new
Indebtedness created after actual receipt by Lender of Guarantor’s written revocation. For this purpose and without limitation, the term “new Indebtedness”
does not include the Indebtedness which at the time of notice of revocation is contingent, unliquidated, undetermined or not due and which later becomes
absolute, liquidated, determined or due. For this purpose and without limitation, “new Indebtedness” does not include all or part of the Indebtedness that is:
incurred by Borrower prior to revocation; incurred under a commitment that became binding before revocation; any renewals, extensions, substitutions, and
modifications of the Indebtedness. This Guaranty shall bind Guarantor’s estate as to the Indebtedness created both before and after Guarantor’s death or
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incapacity, regardless of Lender’s actual notice of Guarantor’s death. Subject to the foregoing, Guarantor’s executor or administrator or other legal
representative may terminate this Guaranty in the same manner in which Guarantor might have terminated it and with the same effect. Release of any other
guarantor or termination of any other guaranty of the Indebtedness shall not affect the liability of Guarantor under this Guaranty. A revocation Lender receives
from any one or more Guarantors shall not affect the liability of any remaining Guarantors under this Guaranty. Guarantor’s obligations under this Guaranty
shall be in addition to any of Guarantor’s obligations, or any of them, under any other guaranties of the Indebtedness or any other person heretofore or hereafter
given to Lender unless such other guaranties are modified or revoked in writing; and this Guarantor shall not, unless provided in this Guaranty, affect,
invalidate, or supersede any such other guaranty. It is anticipated that fluctuations may occur in the aggregate amount of the Indebtedness covered
by this Guaranty, and Guarantor specifically acknowledges and agrees that reductions in the amount of the Indebtedness, even to zero dollars
($0.00), shall not constitute a termination of this Guaranty. This Guaranty is binding upon Guarantor and Guarantor’s heirs, successors and
assigns so long as any of the Indebtedness remains unpaid and even though the Indebtedness may from time to time be zero dollars ($0.00).

 
GUARANTOR’S AUTHORIZATION TO LENDER.  Guarantor authorizes Lender, either before or after any revocation hereof, without notice or
demand and without lessening Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty, from time to time:  (A) prior to revocation as set forth above, to make one
or more additional secured or unsecured loans to Borrower, to lease equipment or other goods to Borrower, or otherwise to extend additional credit to Borrower;
(B) to alter, compromise, renew, extend, accelerate, or otherwise change one or more times the time for payment or other terms of the Indebtedness or any part
of the Indebtedness, including increases and decreases of the rate of interest on the Indebtedness; extensions may be repeated and may be for longer than the
original loan term; (C) to take and hold security for the payment of this Guaranty or the Indebtedness, and exchange, enforce, waive, subordinate, fail or
decide not to perfect, and release any such security, with or without the substitution of new collateral; (D) to release, substitute, agree not to sue, or deal with
any one or more of Borrower’s sureties, endorsers, or other guarantors on any terms or in any manner Lender may choose; (E) to determine how, when and
what application of payments and credits shall be made on the Indebtedness; (F) to apply such security and direct the order or manner of sale thereof,
including without limitation, any nonjudicial sale permitted by the terms of the controlling security agreement or deed of trust, as Lender in its discretion may
determine; (G) to sell, transfer, assign or grant participations in all or any part of the Indebtedness; and (H) to assign or transfer this Guaranty in whole or in
part.
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GUARANTOR’S REPRESENTATIONS AND WARRANTIES. Guarantor represents and warrants to Lender that (A) no representations or agreements
of any kind have been made to Guarantor which would limit or qualify in any way the terms of this Guaranty; (B) this Guaranty is executed at Borrower’s
request and not at the request of Lender; (C) Guarantor has full power, right and authority to enter into this Guaranty; (D) the provisions of this Guaranty do
not conflict with or result in a default under any agreement or other instrument binding upon Guarantor and do not result in a violation of any law, regulation,
court decree or order applicable to Guarantor; (E) Guarantor has not and will not, without the prior written consent of Lender, sell, lease, assign, encumber,
hypothecate, transfer, or otherwise dispose of all or substantially all of Guarantor’s assets, or any interest therein; (F) upon Lender’s request, Guarantor will
provide to Lender financial and credit information in form acceptable to Lender, and all such financial information which currently has been, and all future
financial information which will be provided to Lender is and will be true and correct in all material respects and fairly present Guarantor’s financial condition
as of the dates the financial information is provided; (G) no material adverse change has occurred in Guarantor’s financial condition since the date of the most
recent financial statements provided to Lender and no event has occurred which may materially adversely affect Guarantor’s financial condition; (H) no
litigation, claim, investigation, administrative proceeding or similar action (including those for unpaid taxes) against Guarantor is pending or threatened; (I)
Lender has made no representation to Guarantor as to the creditworthiness of Borrower; and (J) Guarantor has established adequate means of obtaining from
Borrower on a continuing basis information regarding Borrower’s financial condition. Guarantor agrees to keep adequately informed from such means of any
facts, events, or circumstances which might in any way affect Guarantor’s risks under this Guaranty, and Guarantor further agrees that, absent a request for
information, Lender shall have no obligation to disclose to Guarantor any information or documents acquired by Lender in the course of its relationship with
Borrower.
 
GUARANTOR’S WAIVERS. Except as prohibited by applicable law, Guarantor waives any right to require Lender to (A) make any presentment, protest,
demand, or notice of any kind, including notice of change of any terms of repayment of the Indebtedness, default by Borrower or any other guarantor or
surety, any action or nonaction taken by Borrower, Lender, or any other guarantor or surety of Borrower, or the creation of new or additional Indebtedness;
(B) proceed against any person, including Borrower, before proceeding against Guarantor; (C) proceed against any collateral for the Indebtedness, including
Borrower’s collateral, before proceeding against Guarantor; (D) apply any payments or proceeds received against the Indebtedness in any order; (E) give notice
of the terms, time, and place of any sale of the collateral pursuant to the Uniform Commercial Code or any other law governing such sale; (F) disclose any
information about the Indebtedness, the Borrower, the collateral, or any other guarantor or surety, or about any action or nonaction of Lender; or (G) pursue
any remedy or course of action in Lender’s power whatsoever.
 
Guarantor also waives any and all rights or defenses arising by reason of (H) any disability or other defense of Borrower, any other guarantor or surety or any
other person; (I) the cessation from any cause whatsoever, other than payment in full, of the Indebtedness; (J) the application of proceeds of the Indebtedness
by Borrower for purposes other than the purposes understood and intended by Guarantor and Lender; (K) any act of omission or commission by Lender
which directly or indirectly results in or contributes to the discharge of Borrower or any other guarantor or surety, or the Indebtedness, or the loss or release of
any collateral by operation of law or otherwise; (L) any statute of limitations in any action under this Guaranty or on the Indebtedness; or (M) any
modification or change in terms of the Indebtedness, whatsoever, including without limitation, the renewal, extension, acceleration, or other change in the time
payment of the Indebtedness is due and any change in the interest rate, and including any such modification or change in terms after revocation of this
Guaranty on the Indebtedness incurred prior to such revocation.
 
Guarantor waives all rights of subrogation, reimbursement, indemnification, and contribution and any other rights and defenses that are or may become
available to Guarantor by reason of California Civil Code Sections 2787 to 2855, inclusive.
 
Guarantor waives all rights and any defenses arising out of an election of remedies by Lender even though that the election of remedies, such as a non-judicial
foreclosure with respect to security for a guaranteed obligation, has destroyed Guarantor’s rights of subrogation and reimbursement against Borrower by
operation of Section 580d of the California Code of Civil Procedure or otherwise.
 
Guarantor waives all rights and defenses that Guarantor may have because Borrower’s obligation is secured by real property. This means among other things:
(N) Lender may collect from Guarantor without first foreclosing on any real or personal property collateral pledged by Borrower. (O) If Lender forecloses on
any real property collateral pledged by Borrower: (1) the amount of Borrower’s obligation may be reduced only by the price for which the collateral is sold at
the foreclosure sale, even if the collateral is worth more than the sale price. (2) Lender may collect from Guarantor even if Lender, by foreclosing on the real
property collateral, has destroyed any right Guarantor may have to collect from Borrower. This is an unconditional and irrevocable waiver of any rights and
defenses Guarantor may have because Borrower’s obligation is secured by real property. These rights and defenses include, but are not limited to, any rights
and defenses based upon Section 580a, 580b, 580d, or 726 of the Code of Civil Procedure.
 
Guarantor understands and agrees that the foregoing waivers are unconditional and irrevocable waivers of substantive rights and defenses to which Guarantor
might otherwise be entitled under state and federal law. The rights and defenses waived include, without limitation, those provided by California laws of
suretyship and guaranty, anti-deficiency laws, and the Uniform Commercial Code. Guarantor acknowledges that Guarantor has provided these waivers of
rights and defenses with the intention that they be fully relied upon by Lender. Guarantor further understands and agrees that this Guaranty is a separate and
independent contract between Guarantor and Lender, given for full and ample consideration, and is enforceable on its own terms. Until all of the Indebtedness
is paid in full, Guarantor waives any right to enforce any remedy Guarantor may have against the Borrower or any other guarantor, surety, or other person,
and further, Guarantor waives any right to participate in any collateral for the Indebtedness now or hereafter held by Lender.
 
Guarantor’s Understanding With Respect To Waivers. Guarantor warrants and agrees that each of the waivers set forth above is made with Guarantor’s
full knowledge of its significance and consequences and that, under the circumstances, the waivers are reasonable and not contrary to public policy or law. If
any such waiver is determined to be contrary to any applicable law or public policy, such waiver shall be effective only to the extent permitted by law or public
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policy.
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Subordination of Borrower’s Debts to Guarantor. Guarantor agrees that the Indebtedness, whether now existing or hereafter created, shall be superior to
any claim that Guarantor may now have or hereafter acquire against Borrower, whether or not Borrower becomes insolvent. Guarantor hereby expressly
subordinates any claim Guarantor may have against Borrower, upon any account whatsoever, to any claim that Lender may now or hereafter have against
Borrower. In the event of insolvency and consequent liquidation of the assets of Borrower, through bankruptcy, by an assignment for the benefit of creditors,
by voluntary liquidation, or otherwise, the assets of Borrower applicable to the payment of the claims of both Lender and Guarantor shall be paid to Lender
and shall be first applied by Lender to the Indebtedness. Guarantor does hereby assign to Lender all claims which it may have or acquire against Borrower or
against any assignee or trustee in bankruptcy of Borrower; provided however, that such assignment shall be effective only for the purpose of assuring to
Lender full payment in legal tender of the Indebtedness. If Lender so requests, any notes or credit agreements now or hereafter evidencing any debts or
obligations of Borrower to Guarantor shall be marked with a legend that the same are subject to this Guaranty and shall be delivered to Lender. Guarantor
agrees, and Lender is hereby authorized, in the name of Guarantor, from time to time to file financing statements and continuation statements and to execute
documents and to take such other actions as Lender deems necessary or appropriate to perfect, preserve and enforce its rights under this Guaranty.
 
Miscellaneous Provisions. The following miscellaneous provisions are a part of this Guaranty:
 
AMENDMENTS. This Guaranty, together with any Related Documents, constitutes the entire understanding and agreement of the parties as to the matters
set forth in this Guaranty. No alteration of or amendment to this Guaranty shall be effective unless given in writing and signed by the party or parties sought to
be charged or bound by the alteration or amendment.
 
ARBITRATION. Guarantor and Lender agree that all disputes, claims and controversies between them whether individual, joint, or class in
nature, arising from this Guaranty or otherwise, including without limitation contract and tort disputes, shall be arbitrated pursuant to the
financial services rules of J.A.M.S or its successor in effect at the time the claim is filed, upon request of either party. No act to take or dispose of
any Collateral shall constitute a waiver of this arbitration agreement or be prohibited by this arbitration agreement. This includes, without
limitation, obtaining injunctive relief or a temporary restraining order; invoking a power of sale under any deed of trust or mortgage; obtaining a
writ of attachment or imposition of a receiver; or exercising any rights relating to personal property, including taking or disposing of such property
with or without judicial process pursuant Article 9 of the Uniform Commercial Code. Any disputes, claims, or controversies concerning the
lawfulness or reasonableness of any act, or exercise of any right, concerning any Collateral, including any claim to rescind, reform, or otherwise
modify any agreement relating to the Collateral, shall also be arbitrated, provided however that no arbitrator shall have the right or the power
to enjoin or restrain any act of any party. Borrower and Guarantor and Lender agree that in the event of an action for judicial foreclosure
pursuant to California Code of Civil Procedure Section 726, or any similar provision in any other state, the commencement of such an action will
not constitute a waiver of the right to arbitrate and the court shall refer to arbitration as much of such action, including counterclaims, as
lawfully may be referred to arbitration. Judgment upon any award rendered by any arbitrator may be entered in any court having
jurisdiction. Nothing in this Guaranty shall preclude any party from seeking equitable relief from a court of competent jurisdiction. The statute
of limitations, estoppel, waiver, laches, and similar doctrines which would otherwise be applicable in an action brought by a party shall be
applicable in any arbitration proceeding, and the commencement of an arbitration proceeding shall be deemed the commencement of an action for
these purposes. The Federal Arbitration Act shall apply to the construction, interpretation, and enforcement of this arbitration provision.
 
ATTORNEYS’ FEES; EXPENSES. Guarantor agrees to pay upon demand all of Lender’s costs and expenses, including Lender’s attorneys’ fees and
Lender’s legal expenses, incurred in connection with the enforcement of this Guaranty. Lender may hire or pay someone else to help enforce this Guaranty, and
Guarantor shall pay the costs and expenses of such enforcement. Costs and expenses include Lender’s attorneys’ fees and legal expenses whether or not there is
a lawsuit, including attorneys’ fees and legal expenses for bankruptcy proceedings (including efforts to modify or vacate any automatic stay or injunction),
appeals, and any anticipated post-judgment collection services. Guarantor also shall pay all court costs and such additional fees as may be directed by the
court.
 
CAPTION HEADINGS. Caption headings in this Guaranty are for convenience purposes only and are not to be used to interpret or define the provisions of
this Guaranty.
 
GOVERNING LAW. This Guaranty will be governed by federal law applicable to Lender and, to the extent not preempted by federal law, the
laws of the State of California without regard to its conflicts of law provisions.
 
INTEGRATION. Guarantor further agrees that Guarantor has read and fully understands the terms of this Guaranty; Guarantor has had the opportunity to
be advised by Guarantor’s attorney with respect to this Guaranty; the Guaranty fully reflects Guarantor’s intentions and parol evidence is not required to
interpret the terms of this Guaranty. Guarantor hereby indemnifies and holds Lender harmless from all losses, claims, damages, and costs (including
Lender’s attorneys’ fees) suffered or incurred by Lender as a result of any breach by Guarantor of the warranties, representations and agreements of this
paragraph.
 
INTERPRETATION. In all cases where there is more than one Borrower or Guarantor, then all words used in this Guaranty in the singular shall be deemed
to have been used in the plural where the context and construction so require; and where there is more than one Borrower named in this Guaranty or when this
Guaranty is executed by more than one Guarantor, the words “Borrower” and “Guarantor” respectively shall mean all and any one or more of them. The
words “Guarantor,” “Borrower,” and “Lender” include the heirs, successors, assigns, and transferees of each of them. If a court finds that any provision of
this Guaranty is not valid or should not be enforced, that fact by itself will not mean that the rest of this Guaranty will not be valid or enforced. Therefore, a
court will enforce the rest of the provisions of this Guaranty even if a provision of this Guaranty may be found to be invalid or unenforceable. If any one or
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more of Borrower or Guarantor are corporations, partnerships, limited liability companies, or similar entities, it is not necessary for Lender to inquire into the
powers of Borrower or Guarantor or of the officers, directors, partners, managers, or other agents acting or purporting to act on their behalf, and any
indebtedness made or created in reliance upon the professed exercise of such powers shall be guaranteed under this Guaranty.
 
NOTICES. Any notice required to be given under this Guaranty shall be given in writing, and, except for revocation notices by Guarantor, shall be effective
when actually delivered, when actually received by telefacsimile (unless otherwise required by law), when deposited with a nationally recognized overnight
courier, or, if mailed, when deposited in the United States mail, as first class, certified or registered mail postage prepaid, directed to the addresses shown near
the beginning of this Guaranty. All revocation notices by Guarantor shall be in writing and shall be effective upon delivery to Lender as provided in the section
of this Guaranty entitled “DURATION OF GUARANTY.” Any party may change its address for notices under this Guaranty by giving formal written notice
to the other parties, specifying that the purpose of the notice is to change the party’s address. For notice purposes. Guarantor agrees to keep Lender informed at
all times of Guarantor’s current address. Unless otherwise provided or required by law, if there is more than one Guarantor, any notice given by Lender to any
Guarantor is deemed to be notice given to all Guarantors.
 
NO WAIVER BY LENDER. Lender shall not be deemed to have waived any rights under this Guaranty unless such waiver is given in writing and signed
by Lender. No delay or omission on the part of Lender in exercising any right shall operate as a waiver of such right or any other right. A waiver by Lender of
a provision of this Guaranty shall not prejudice or constitute a waiver of Lender’s right otherwise to demand strict compliance with that provision or any other
provision of this Guaranty. No prior waiver by Lender, nor any course of dealing between Lender and Guarantor, shall constitute a waiver of any of Lender’s
rights or of any of Guarantor’s obligations as to any future transactions. Whenever the consent of Lender is required under this Guaranty, the granting of such
consent by Lender in any instance shall not constitute continuing consent to subsequent instances where such consent is required and in all cases such
consent may be granted or withheld in the sole discretion of Lender.
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SUCCESSORS AND ASSIGNS. Subject to any limitations stated in this Guaranty on transfer of Guarantor’s interest, this Guaranty shall be binding upon and inure to
the benefit of the parties, their successors and assigns.
 
WAIVE JURY. To the extent permitted by applicable law, Lender and Guarantor hereby waive the right to any jury trial in any action,
proceeding, or counterclaim brought by either Lender or Guarantor against the other.
 
NATURE OF GUARANTY. Guarantor’s liability under this Guaranty shall be open and continuous for so long as this Guaranty remains in force.
Guarantor intends to guarantee at all times performance and prompt payment when due, whether at maturity or earlier by reason of acceleration or otherwise, of
all indebtedness. Accordingly, no payments made upon the indebtedness will discharge or diminish the continuing liability or Guarantor in connection with
any remaining portions of the indebtedness or any of the indebtedness which subsequently arises or is thereafter incurred or contracted.

 
PRIOR COMMERCIAL GUARANTY.  This Commercial Guaranty hereby supersedes and replaces that certain prior Commercial Guaranty dated
November 9, 2007, along with all modification(s) and amendment(s) thereto.
 
Definitions. The following capitalized words and terms shall have the following meanings when used in this Guaranty. Unless specifically stated to the
contrary, all references to dollar amounts shall mean amounts in lawful money of the United States of America. Words and terms used in the singular shall
include the plural, and the plural shall include the singular, as the context may require. Words and terms not otherwise defined in this Guaranty shall have the
meanings attributed to such terms in the Uniform Commercial Code:
 
BORROWER. The word “Borrower” means EACO CORPORATION and includes all co-signers and co-makers signing the Note and all their successors
and assigns.
 
GUARANTOR. The word “Guarantor” means everyone signing this Guaranty, including without limitation BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC., and in each case,
any signer’s successors and assigns.
 
GUARANTY. The word “Guaranty” means this guaranty from Guarantor to Lender.
 
INDEBTEDNESS. The word “Indebtedness” means Borrower’s indebtedness to Lender as more particularly described in this Guaranty.
 
LENDER. The word “Lender” means COMMUNITY BANK, its successors and assigns.
 
NOTE. The word “Note” means and includes without limitation all of Borrower’s promissory notes and/or credit agreements evidencing Borrower’s loan
obligations in favor of Lender, together with all renewals of, extensions of, modifications of, refinancings of, consolidations of and substitutions for
promissory notes or credit agreements.
 
RELATED DOCUMENTS. The words “Related Documents” mean all promissory notes, credit agreements, loan agreements, environmental agreements,
guaranties, security agreements, mortgages, deeds of trust, security deeds, collateral mortgages, and all other instruments, agreements and documents, whether
now or hereafter existing, executed in connection with the Indebtedness.
 
EACH UNDERSIGNED GUARANTOR ACKNOWLEDGES HAVING READ ALL THE PROVISIONS OF THIS GUARANTY AND
AGREES TO ITS TERMS. IN ADDITION, EACH GUARANTOR UNDERSTANDS THAT THIS GUARANTY IS EFFECTIVE UPON
GUARANTOR’S EXECUTION AND DELIVERY OF THIS GUARANTY TO LENDER AND THAT THE GUARANTY WILL CONTINUE
UNTIL TERMINATED IN THE MANNER SET FORTH IN THE SECTION TITLED “DURATION OF GUARANTY”. NO FORMAL
ACCEPTANCE BY LENDER IS NECESSARY TO MAKE THIS GUARANTY EFFECTIVE. THIS GUARANTY IS DATED NOVEMBER
12, 2013.
 
GUARANTOR:  
  
BISCO INDUSTRIES, INC.  
  

 
By: /s/ GLEN F. CEILEY  
 GLEN F. CEILEY, CHAIRMAN/CEO/SECY of BISCO  
 INDUSTRIES, INC.  
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CERTIFICATE OF ACKNOWLEDGMENT

 
STATE OF California     )  
      ) ss  
COUNTY OF  Orange     )  
    
    
  
On     November 12          ,  2013   before me,       Courtney Cresap, Notary Public       ,
 (here insert name and title of the officer)
 
personally appeared GLEN F. CEILEY, who proved to me on the basis of satisfactory evidence to be the person(s) whose name(s) is subscribed to the within
instrument and acknowledged to me that he executed the same in his authorized capacity(ies), and that by his signature(s) on the instrument the person(s), or
the entity upon behalf of which the person(s) acted, executed the instrument.
 
I certify under PENALTY OF PERJURY under the laws of the State of California that the foregoing paragraph is true and correct.
 

 
  

 
WITNESS my hand and official seal.   
   
Signature /s/ Courtney Cresap                                              (Seal)
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EXHIBIT 31.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO EXCHANGE ACT
RULE 13a-14(a)/15d-14(a), AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

 
I, Glen Ceiley, certify that:
 

1.   I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of EACO Corporation;
 
2.   Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state

a material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

 
3.   Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly

present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of,
and for, the periods presented in this report;
 

4.    I am responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over financial reporting (as defined in Exchange
Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

 
(a)   Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures

to be designed under my supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to me by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which
this report is being prepared;

 
(b)    Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial

reporting to be designed under my supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

 
(c)   Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this

report my conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period
covered by this report based on such evaluation; and
 

(d)   Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting that
occurred during the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control
over financial reporting; and
 

5.   I have disclosed, based on my most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to the
registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s Board of Directors (or persons performing the
equivalent functions):
 

(a)   All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process,
summarize and report financial information; and
 

(b)   Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant
role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

 
Date: November 29, 2013  
 /S/ GLEN CEILEY
 Glen Ceiley, Chief Executive Officer
 (principal executive officer and principal financial officer)
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EXHIBIT 32.1
 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO 18 U.S.C. §1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO

SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002
 
                In connection with the annual report of EACO Corporation (the “Company”) on Form 10-K for the fiscal year
ended August 31, 2013, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof (the “Report”), I,
Glen Ceiley, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §1350, as adopted pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, that:
 

1.          The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended; and

 
2.           The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial

condition and results of operations of the Company.
 

Date: November 29 , 2013  
 /S/ GLEN CEILEY
 Glen Ceiley, Chief Executive Officer
 (principal executive officer and
 principal financial officer)
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